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FEDERAL GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 14, 1995

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Governmental Affairs,

Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:50 a.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Ted Stevens, Chair-

man of the Committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Stevens, Brown and Glenn.

OPEMNG STATEMENT OF SENATOR STEVENS

Chairman Stevens. I apologize for the delay this morning. Our
hearing covers the status of Federal financial management issues.

My judgment is that the American public is frustrated with Gov-
ernment, resulting from a variety of factors. The public questions
whether Government costs too much for the level of service it deliv-

ers. They want less financial waste and better program perform-
ance.

This Committee has addressed these concerns under previous
chairmen, such as my friend Senator Glenn, who is here, and Sen-
ator Roth.

In past years. Congress passed three major bills to improve fi-

nancial systems and program accountability—the Chief Financial
Officer Act of 1990, the Government Performance and Results Act
of 1993, and the Government Management Reform Act of 1994.
These measures provide a solid statutory framework for improving
Federal accountability and performance.
How far along are we on the path to satisfactory financial ac-

countability? How much further do we have to go, and when can
we expect to get there?
We are going to examine two new legislative proposals this

morning. One is a package of amendments proposed by Senator
Glenn to the Single Audit Act, and the other is an effort by Senator
Brown to ensure that Federal accounting standards are imple-
mented throughout the Government.

I might say that right after the first of the year, I shall ask the
Committee to establish a new subcommittee to deal with the broad
subject of general financial management because I believe that
these acts and those we are proposing today should have very con-
tinuing oversight.

Senator Glenn?

(1)



OPENING STATEMENT BY SENATOR GLENN
Senator GLENN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think our Committee is a unique committee in that part of our

written mandate is not only to oversee the organizational aspects
of Government, but also the efficiencies of Government. That is a
big order, and we are the only Committee that has across-the-board
jurisdiction in these areas, across all the panoply of Government.
And we have taken that seriously. Five years ago, the Chief Finan-
cial Officer Act of 1990 was signed into law—actually, it was 5

years to the day, on November 15th, when we had originally sched-
uled this hearing and had to cancel it—but I believe the CFO Act
was one of the most important laws we have passed in the last 50
years. I know the Comptroller General testified at a hearing sev-

eral years ago, when we had just put that in, I believe, that he felt

it was the most important tool of financial management in Govern-
ment in the last 40 years—5 years later now, I guess we can say
45 years instead of 40.

But prior to 1990, it is hard to believe that the biggest organiza-
tion, the biggest financial operation in the whole world, the United
States Government, had no requirement to do an audit of its agen-
cies and departments every year. How did things go? We would
just wait to see how much we spent last year, and we will put in

a little more, and we will ask Senator Stevens on Appropriations
to appropriate a little more next year and add a little bit because
we know it's going to get cut back a little at 0MB, and that is sort

of the way we did our business. And that is a ridiculous way to run
the biggest business in the world.
So prior to 1990, there was no requirement for a bottom line

audit at the end of every year. So we are very interested today in

seeing how this whole thing worked. We worked for about 2-1/2

years on the CFO Act with Dick Darman, who was over at 0MB
at that time, and with Mr. Bowsher here; we had many, many
meetings, and staff meetings, and we finally put that thing to-

gether.

Just to point out some of the problems, GAO told us back then
that the Federal Government had over 500 different accounting
systems spread across the agencies, with hundreds in the Depart-
ment of Defense alone. Later, they qualified that a little to make
it that the Federal Government has at least 200 major different ac-

counting systems. But they could identify 500 different accounting
systems and 200 major different accounting systems. The Pentagon
has 162 different systems, as I recall, and the Army alone has 43.

So we are looking at a huge problem here, and we were literally

in the Dark Ages of accounting. Some agencies were not even doing
double-entry bookkeeping, something which was invented by an
Italian monk over 500 years ago, as I understand it—I was not
around at that time, but I understand he is the one who started
double-entry bookkeeping.
Chairman Stevens. Strom Thurmond audited it. [Laughter.]

Senator Glenn. An3^way, 5 years later, we have a very different

picture because, strengthened by the 1994 GMRA, the Government
Management Reform Act, the CFO Act requires annual audited fi-

nancial statements of 23 major Federal departments and agencies.

We are not clear across Government yet as far as our audit re-



quirements are concerned, and that is one of the items I would hke
to bring up a Uttle later and get your opinion on, Mr. Bowsher, as

to how we go about spreading this more.

But I think we are driving real, honest-to-goodness reforms in

Government. Systems are being upgraded. Agency CFOs are taking

part in top agency management decisions. Government-wide ac-

counting standards are being developed, and 0MB and GAG over-

sight is spotlighting problem areas that need serious attention.

Now, ever3d:hing is not fixed. DOD contractor overpayments and
the IRS mess in accounts receivable are just two examples that

show how far we still have to go. I trust our witnesses today will

talk about those particular problems.

I hope we can also discuss legislation that may be needed. GAO,
for example, has been working with my staff to draft revisions to

the Single Audit Act that the Chairman just mentioned, and also.

Senator Brown has a proposal to strengthen the accounting stand-

ards process. So I hope our hearing can build a record for any need-

ed legislation, and that we can continue to move forward and im-

prove Federal financial management.
We all talk about revenues and expenditures around here—it is

a big deal, revenues and expenditures—but we too often leave out

the middle part of that, which is how the money gets spent, and
are we making the best use of every dollar. That is what we are

talking about here, the efficiencies of Government, which should re-

ceive every bit as much attention as is given to revenues and ex-

penditures.

One of our problems here is that this is not high-priority. When
you talk about financial management, it is like MIGO—my eyes

glaze over. You see what a huge crowd we have at each press table

on both sides of the room here today and all the cameras that we
have focusing on financial management here today. It is a MIGO
item. But yet I think it is one of the most important items we have
for the future of really restoring the confidence in Government that

Senator Stevens mentioned a few minutes ago. How are we going

to cut out waste, fat, fraud and abuse, which we roll off as just one
term—waste, fat, fraud and abuse, it is automatic. Yet we do
blessed little to try to cut out waste, fat, fraud and abuse.

We have taken a position on this in the past, and I commend
Senator Stevens for holding the hearing. We look forward to hear-

ing from Mr. Bowsher, Mr. DeSeve, and other witnesses this morn-
ing and look forward to your advice and your comments.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman STEVENS. We have three panels this morning. The

first panel is the Hon. Charles Bowsher, the Comptroller General,
and he is accompanied by Gene Dodaro, the Assistant Comptroller
General, and Jeffrey Steinhoff, the Director of Planning and Re-
porting.

Mr. Bowsher?



TESTIMONY OF HON. CHARLES A. BOWSHER,i COMPTROLLER
GENERAL, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE, ACCOM-
PANIED BY GENE DODARO, ASSISTANT COMPTROLLER GEN-
ERAL, ACCOUNTING AND INFORMATION MANAGEMENT DIVI-
SION, AND JEFFREY STEINHOFF, DIRECTOR OF PLANNING
AND REPORTING, ACCOUNTING AND INFORMATION MAN-
AGEMENT DIVISION

Mr. BOWSHER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, Senator
Glenn. I know you have a very busy schedule these days, so I am
going to try to summarize my statement.

First, I commend this Committee. As you pointed out, Mr. Chair-
man, this is the Committee that has passed the key legislation, be-

ginning in 1990 with the CFO Act, followed by the Government
Performance and Results Act in 1993, and then the Government
Management Reform Act of 1994.
We now really have the legislative base to move forward and get

the Federal Government into a modern accounting and auditing po-

sition, which is long overdue.
At the same time, I believe that we can report that real progress

is being made. In other words, as we have done our financial audits
in the last 3 or 4 years and through our work with the administra-
tion and the executive branch, we have seen, I think, more finan-

cial management improvement progress in the last 5 years than we
have seen for several decades.

First, let me just say how pleased I am that 0MB is playing such
an important financial management leadership role in the execu-
tive branch. For many years, there did not seem to be that kind
of financial management leadership from 0MB, but there certainly

is today.
Second, a cadre of qualified of CFOs is in place at agencies and,

with few exceptions, they are actively seeking to make the needed
improvements.

Third, the inspectors general are embracing their new financial

audit responsibilities. Fourth, the much-needed new, comprehen-
sive accounting standards, including cost accounting standards, are
nearing completion, and efforts are underway to further strengthen
the quality of federal financial reporting.

One of the big areas that the executive branch has yet to do is

to put emphasis on modernizing financial systems. In other words,
a lot of systems work is needed. But I am very pleased that the
Congress put a financial statement audit requirement in law, be-

cause that will lead to improved systems.
One thing that we are concerned about is that we have enough

resources to do the job as the inspectors general and we move for-

ward with plans to do the audits, which are now required for all

24 of the major agencies starting with fiscal 1996. Also, starting

with fiscal 1997, there will be annual consolidated reports to the
American taxpayers, which GAO will audit.

At that point, if you think about it, we really begin to have the
Federal Government on the same basis as Congress required the
private sector after the stock market crash of 1929 with the Securi-

ties Act of 1933 and 1934. What the Congress really said was that

iThe prepared statement of Mr. Bowsher appears on page 51.



if you sell securities to the public, you have to have an annual
audit of your financial reports and some standard accounting prin-

ciples on how you put those reports together.

Congress did the same for State and local governments after the
New York City fiscal crisis in 1975. States or large cities did not
routinely have comprehensive financial audits prior to that crisis,

and then the Single Audit Act was passed in 1984, and that re-

quired it.

So what we are really trying to do is get the Federal Govern-
ment, the last big part of our economy, to be able to properly ac-

count for its financial assets and its operations and to be able to

provide reliable and relevant financial reports to the taxpayers.
And Mr. Chairman, I could not be more pleased to hear you an-

nounce that you are going to have a special subcommittee in this

area, because I think it is really a very crucial area to regain the
support of the American people for our Government. The Federal
Government has got to be able to account for its funds as they
come in, and all the assets that it has. As I said, the legislative

base is there. Now the big thing is to carry it out. And I would
hope that we could have the resources in the executive branch and
at GAG to make sure that the government achieves the require-

ments of the various legislative mandates in the next couple of

years.

One of the main things that must be achieved is more modern
systems. We have testified before this Committee regarding the De-
fense Department, the IRS, and some of the other major agencies
that have weak systems. They have acknowledged serious weak-
nesses in those systems and are working on them, and we hope
they can make real progress in improving the systems in the next
few years. I think that the personnel issue and the systems issue
are really the most important that must be overcome.
The last thing I would like to cover is the Single Audit Act and

the amendments now being considered. The Act is over 10 years
old. Important experience has been gained in that decade, and very
great progress has been made. The State auditors and the State
governments today issue annual reports that can withstand the
scrutiny of an annual audit. The amendments to the act being con-
sidered at this time would require summary reports, raise the
threshold so some of the smaller governments would not have to

be audited, and get the reports more timely.
So if the Committee can report out that legislation, I think it

would certainly be a big plus.

I would like to close with that and would be happy to take any
questions that the Committee would like to ask us.

Chairman Stevens. Thank you, Mr. Bowsher.
We have not heard Senator Brown's statement yet. Do you have

a statement. Senator Brown?

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR BROWN
Senator Brown. I do, Mr. Chairman, and I will try to make it

very brief, with your indulgence.
I think what we are dealing with today is a terribly important

point. It is natural that agencies would be concerned about their
own flexibility—they would not be human if they did not. It is ap-



propriate that the General Accounting Office be concerned about
this, and it is appropriate that 0MB be concerned about this. But
the bottom hne that I think concerns us is that we do not have gen-
erally-accepted accounting principles spread throughout the Fed-
eral Government. We literally keep our books in a different way,
and it is the Tower of Babel when it comes to understanding our
finances.

I do not know of a major enterprise anywhere in the world that
does not have a standardized accounting system, either directly or

indirectly. As I think everyone here knows, the one international
language other than English—and English, as Senator Glenn
knows from aviation, seems to be a pretty standardized language,
at least in some areas—is our generally-accepted accounting prin-

ciples that get modified somewhat in international areas but do
provide an international language for communicating. So we are
the only one that does not have that. It is terribly important if we
are going to communicate effectively and administer effectively

that we have it.

I think the tough problem that is before us as a Committee is

figuring out how we can do this in a way so that the understand-
able concerns of any administration through 0MB, the executive
budget office, and their natural and understandable desire to con-

trol the way the books are kept for their administration, is some-
how compatible with GAO, which in the past, we have charged
with responsibility in this area, obviously, in the 1921 Act, in the
1950 Act, and in the modifications since then.
What I think is important, ultimately, is not that we crown

someone, either GAO or 0MB, to do this for us, but that we have
some general standard. This bill has been dramatically rewritten
to meet the objections of the administration, and really, their objec-

tions—there were a number of them, but the principal one was that
there were sanctions in the bill if they did not comply. As you
know, we have had general guidelines for accounting procedures in

the past; the only problem is that people ignored them. So it is not
that it is a new concept.
We have pretty well eliminated those sanctions in the hopes that

we could bring the administration on board. But I personally be-
lieve this may be one of the most important concepts that we exam-
ine this year, and I want to thank you, Mr. Chairman, very much
for having this hearing and for bringing it up and being willing to

consider the concept.
Thank you.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you.
Mr. Bowsher, when I was sitting down where Senator Brown is

now sitting, I suggested a Department of Administration, and as I

have moved up these chairs I have suggested a Department of Ad-
ministration. Now I am sitting in this chair, and I want to ask you:
What do you think about a Department of Administration?

Mr. Bowsher. Well, I think it has some merit, Mr. Chairman. I

do not know specifically what your plan would be.

Chairman Stevens. My plan would be that we would consolidate
the administrative functions of the Federal Government in one de-
partment, and all other departments would feed off of that. We
would have one system of accounts, one system of reporting, we



would have one system of collecting debts, and we would have one
system of administration.
As you know, my State pioneered that when it came into the

Union. It has one Department of Administration, and it works very
well. We do not have separate accounts, we do not have problems
with standardization. We have one system of accounts. What is

wrong with that?

Mr. BOWSHER. In principle, there is nothing wrong with it, and
it makes sense. I think for a State like Alaska, it probably makes
a lot of sense. The one question I

Chairman STEVENS. It works for the microcosm, but it will not

work for the world; is that it?

Mr. BowsHER. No. I am saying that what we could achieve here
in the Federal Government is a lot of consolidation where you
would get down to one, or where you would have, say, the Depart-
ment of Defense as one, along with one or two others. I have often

thought the Federal Government could get to about three account-

ing centers, you might say, but then consolidate financial informa-
tion in one department. So if you had a Department of Administra-
tion, you would make it responsible for the central consolidation,

like the corporate headquarters of a very large organization, and
then bring in the information from two or three accounting centers.

Today, there is a finance center in New Orleans that has done
a lot of consolidating, and GAO's accounting is now done down in

New Orleans; it is run by the Department of Agriculture. If there

are two or three of those kinds of centers working in the Federal
Government, I would think that you could achieve what you are

really driving for; that is, greater standardized, centralized admin-
istration. Whether you could get it all into one organization for a
government as large and as diverse as our Federal Government, I

have never been quite sure about that; but certainly a lot more
could be done than is being done today.
Chairman Stevens. Well, we do hope to have a reorganization

plan up and pass it next year, and I think that is going to be my
goal, to try to include in that a concept that the commission must
consider that proposal. I hope that Congress will agree.

Now, you are looking at a number of reports that 0MB is re-

quired to give to us, and the real problem is whether these consoli-

dated reports are going to meet our needs here in Congress. I have
some question about that in terms of where we are going, but do
you see that those consolidated reports will have to be broken down
again for us to deal with, let us say, appropriations or the various
functions that we review?
Mr. Bowsher. Well, you would probably have to have some

backup information coming to the various committees, like the Ap-
propriations Committee, but I do believe that pulling it together in

one consolidated report does make some sense. We do it ourselves
at GAO. I issue my annual report to the Congress, and it is no big-

ger than the average corporation report. We include in there a
summary of our Financial Integrity Act control review, our annual
financial statements audited by one of the big six accounting firms,
a good description of our performance during the year compared to
previous years, and so on.
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So I think you can pull it together in a good summary form, and
I think it would be very useful for the Congress to have annual
oversight hearings of these major departments, just to see how
they are doing in total.

At the same time, I think that some of the backup for some of

the specific committees, like the authorizing committees and the
appropriating committees, you would probably have to have some
additional information flowing to you. But I think a consolidated
report does make some sense.

Chairman STEVENS. Well, let me ask you about my two friends

here. Senator Glenn has a package of amendments, including one
on the Single Audit Act. And as I understand it—and Senator, you
can correct me—that would require a single audit of a state's use
of Federal money in a series of functions. Is that going to put a
burden on states to look at it altogether at one time?
Mr. BOWSHER. No. The Single Audit Act of 1984 required a single

audit and eliminated a lot of duplicate auditing. Prior to the pas-

sage of that Act, there was too much auditing of certain parts of

the State governments—the Feds would come in with their audi-

tors, the states would do it, the program people would do it, and
so on. So this really streamlined the auditing of the States and
local governments. But what is needed now are some amendments
to that legislation, because for one thing, the thresholds which de-

termine who has to have a single audit were fairly low when the

law was enacted, and with inflation and so on now, they need to

be raised. Also, some of the reports have come in on what I think
is less than a timely basis. So the amendments would move the re-

porting requirements up by 4 months; and require a summary re-

port, which would be more useful to the program people who are
running these large programs.
So what we have here are some amendments that will make the

Single Audit Act better. The States and the cities have proven that

they can do this single audit. I think it is one of the real success

stories that we have achieved in the last 10 years.

We have worked very closely with the State auditors and the

State financial people in putting together these amendments, and
0MB has, too. So I think we have a package here that is really

quite good, and I would recommend that the Congress move for-

ward with it.

Chairman Stevens. Did 0MB submit these, indicating that
Senator Glenn. We had asked GAO to look at these issues and

see what might be done to improve the Single Audit Act, basically,

and then you worked with 0MB and came back
Mr. BowsHER. That is correct.

Senator Glenn [continuing]. And then we met with you, and that

is how
Mr. BowsHER. Yes. There has been a lot of coordination on these

amendments.
Senator Glenn. The Single Audit Act—I think everybody is in

agreement that that has been a good move. The states like it, and
we will have testimony on that later today.

Mr. BowsHER. Yes. I might point out, too, Mr. Chairman, that
we have what is known as an "Intergovernmental Audit Forum"
which was started by my predecessor, and that is where all the dif-



ferent auditing groups meet together. So I think in the last 20

years, we have brought together a much better auditing approach

to the State and local governments, with the different levels of gov-

ernment, and that has been one of the successes.

Chairman STEVENS. Senator Brown has some amendments, and
I understand 0MB is going to take the position that the sugges-

tions have merit, but that legislation is not needed.

You have taken a position in favor of these amendments?
Mr. BOWSHER. We have. I think the big issue is that we now

have a good working memorandum of understanding between
0MB, Treasury and GAO. The concept in the 1950 Act, which Sen-

ator Brown mentioned, was that the three units would work to-

gether and improve financial management. Over the years, it really

did not happen, and I tried to get it to happen when I came into

this office, but I did not get cooperation from 0MB under Mr.
Stockman. So it took us quite a while, but as Senator Glenn point-

ed out, under the Bush administration we finally got this memo-
randum of understanding worked out, and the three of us are

working together. We have an independent board that is setting

the new standards, and I think that within the next few months,
we are going to be publishing the best set of standards that any
government has in the whole world.

So it is working well. What the legislation would do is put a leg-

islative base under what we have proven is working well here in

the last 5 years.

Now, one of the logical questions is why do you need that legisla-

tion if it is working so well now, and I just think it is the old issue

of putting some permanence into the system.
Chairman Stevens. You currently operate similarly under a

memorandum of agreement?
Mr. BowsHER. Yes, that is right.

Chairman Stevens. And this would confirm that so that it could

not be changed without approval of Congress?
Mr. BowSHER. That is correct.

Senator Brown. Mr. Chairman, it is a little like asking that the

parents of a child be married. We think a ceremony would be most
helpful.

Chairman STEVENS. I want to confirm that mine worked despite

some comments to the contrary. [Laughter.]

I wonder, do we have the reservoir of people in Government to

do these additional financial tasks—and I am not saying it in any
derogatory way—but we are piling on every year new financial re-

quirements, and it may be soon that you accountants will out-

number lawyers in the Government.
Mr. BowSHER. I do not think so.

Chairman Stevens. Well, it sounds to me like there are more
tasks for accountants now than for lawyers.
Mr. Bowsher. Yes. Well, it is a very good question, Mr. Chair-

man. The two things that worry me the most in accomplishing ev-

erything we are trying to do are: Can we modernize the systems,
and can we get enough qualified, technically trained, up-to-date
personnel in the Government and keep them there? In other words,
it is one thing to get them here, but it is sometimes a little trickier

to keep people at these salaries in the Government.
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Gene Dodaro has been working with Ed DeSeve over at 0MB,
meeting with the 24 agencies that have to have audited financial
reports, and I think maybe Gene can give you a httle more detail

on where we stand on it, because I think the question you have
raised is very pertinent.

Chairman STEVENS. Yes, sir.

Mr. Dodaro. The real essence of this is not more people or even
more money for financial systems, but it is making better use of
the resources that are there. The people issue has consistently been
found in financial audits—not following procedures that are pre-
scribed in the agencies. The audits that have been done in DOD
and the ones we have done in IRS have shown that the financial
management personnel structure is badly out-of-date.

What we are dealing with is an organizational structure that has
had years of neglect and a low priority. And as you pointed out,

first-rate financial requirements have been placed on them now,
and they have a big gap. They are beginning to close that gap by
having qualified CFOs in place, and what they need to get now is

the supporting structure. And what they really need to focus on

—

and this is something 0MB and the CFO Council are tr3dng to do

—

is to get the right mix and the right people in there.

So I do not think it is a question of adding numbers; it is a ques-
tion of getting the right staff in there, with more up-to-date skills

both in the systems area and in financial analysis capabilities.

This scenario, we are really concerned about; because of the cur-

rent downsizing, it has to be done right. I think there are ample
resources that exist there if they are used properly.

Chairman Stevens. I do not know if you have read "Soldier of
the Last War." There is a scene where the Italians, in running
their army, had an enormous roomful of auditors who reviewed
every request for deployment of troops, purchasing of equipment,
and so on. And that is where the war was lost.

What I am asking you is when you are looking at all these
things, are you following technology through? I mean, Wal-Mart
used to have a whole series of financial offices all over the country,
and they have one now.

It sounds to me like we are going the other way—we are having
more and more financial managers built into every part of our sys-
tem, and they are not connected together. That is why I would like

to see a Department of Administration. So why is it that we have
to have so many more additional financial management tools in

each department? Why aren't we centralizing? Why aren't we say-
ing just one—take the "management" out of Office of Management
and Budget and make it work.
Mr. Dodaro. The goal has been to try to get at least one unified

system for each of the major departments and agencies, and agen-
cies are tr3ring to move in that direction. You are right, technology
is important, and technology has not been used effectively in the
financial management area 1), to simplify the process and reduce
the number of people, and 2), to have uniform systems that can
interact with one another.

Part of this problem is beginning to be addressed by the CFO
structures. Previously, each component and each agency had its

own ability to create information systems and accounting systems;
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and now the CFOs need to bring that into a sort of unity and use
technology.

You are exactly right, Senator. Technology is the key here in

order to get more uniformity and reduce the number of people that

you have. But we have seen, not only in financial management, but
in other areas, where the Federal Government has not used tech-

nology effectively yet to streamline its operations.

Chairman STEVENS. Well, it would seem if you can agree on an
interagency process, you could agree on an interagency procedure
in terms of use of the same program and the same type of system
and have all that information flow through to a central source

without being crunched in each administrative office of each de-

partment, then crunched in the 0MB, then crunched in GAO, and
then crunched in every committee up here.

Mr. DODARO. You are exactly right. In fact, we often find there
are still manual processes or manual manipulations that are re-

quired. And financial management organizations now in most agen-
cies are armies of clerks at low levels that move paper around.
What we are tr3ring to do—and we are working with each of the
agencies—is to eliminate that and go to single data entry and one
source that can be drawn upon and used effectively.

So that is the intention, to move toward streamlining and sim-
plification.

Chairman Stevens. "Soldier of the Last War" should be manda-
tory reading for your people, Mr. Bowsher.
Mr. Bowsher. All right.

Chairman Stevens. I have got to stop here—but again, that is

just what I am saying—we still have manual people out there. If

one person decides that that person wants to change the world, all

he has to do is change some of the numbers, and it will take you
forever to find him.
Mr. Bowsher. Mr. Chairman, if I could just add one thing which

goes along with your thinking—take Australia. Some years ago,

they did go to one accounting system and one budgeting system,
and today, with PCs and so on, the Members of Parliament can
look and see where things stand; the Treasury, which is kind of

like the budget bureau, can look at it; the auditors can work off

that one system; they can pay a bill here in Washington at their

embassy and have it updated within 48 hours or something like

that.

We could have that in the Government. We could have one sys-

tem. My only concern is that the Federal Government is so large
that you might have to have two or three processing centers. If you
could get the Department of Defense down to one processing center,

you would accomplish a great deal. And I was hoping that that was
where they were heading, but then they started several centers.

Chairman Stevens. My colleagues do not know it, but you know
it—I suggested that you be the arbiter between 0MB and CBO,
and when I went into that meeting with the leaders, the answer
was that that means there will be three computers rather than
two. [Laughter.]

Senator Glenn?
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Senator Glenn. We need a cost-benefit analysis of how many
Government lawyers we ought to switch for accountants; maybe
that would not be a bad idea.

Alice Rivlin has written to our Committee with a proposal to test

streamlining management reports, as called for in the Government
Management Reform Act of 1994. Do you think that should be ap-
proved? The obvious pitfall might be that in streamlining reports,
we would cut out information that might be useful up here. Do you
think we ought to try that?
Mr. BOWSHER. I think we should try it, and what they are calling

for is a pilot, so I think it is well worth doing the pilot.

As I said, we have tried to get our report down to that one con-
solidated report, and I think if you look at the GSA report and the
Social Security Administration report, they are very close to that,

and it makes it much easier for the Congress and the senior ad-
ministration people to read.
At the same time, your concern and Senator Stevens' concern

must be recognized, that something does not drop through the
cracks that is vital information. One thing I would be very con-
cerned about is the controls. In other words, when you are review-
ing the controls in the system, you have got to have a good sum-
mary of any weaknesses in that consolidated report.

I would think also, on the financial report, that you would not
want the auditors certifying to a set of financial statements and
then having just a few highlights listed in the consolidated report.

So there are a couple of concerns which I think the 0MB people
are taking our advice and other people's advice about, and I think
doing this pilot makes a lot of sense.
Senator Glenn. In your statement, you mention the problem of

accountability that follows any devolution of Federal responsibil-
ities to the states. During the debates on the welfare and job train-

ing bills, for example, some IGs indicated that the block grant pro-

posals might actually limit their investigation and audit authority,
as well as reduce their resources.
What should we do to ensure that a proper audit trail will exist

with block grants? And the background, to my way of thinking, is

that it is not necessarily in a state's interest to find problems with
how they administer a block grant if you are going to get some cut
off. And I do not think most of us would look at State IGs as per-
haps having the same reliability we would like to base future block
grants on.

What can we do to ensure that a proper audit trail will exist

with block grants and that there will be accountability there?
Mr. Bowsher. I think basically, the states can probably do the

financial audits and review the systems. The state auditors are
really quite good; we have been working with them, as I mentioned
earlier, over the years, through the Intergovernmental Audit Fo-
rums. So I have a lot of confidence in the State auditors.
At the same time, I think it is the program information that you

have to be concerned about as to whether there is enough of an
audit trail or requirements as criteria for the success of the block
grant. So I would think that as the Congress passes that kind of
legislation, it ought to think about requiring some basic informa-
tion as to what would be viewed as the criteria or standards for the



13

program's success. With such criteria, it would then be incumbent
upon either the Federal program audit people or the state people

to check to see if that is being carried out and whether that infor-

mation is available. And then the third thing would be to actually

evaluate the program to see how well it is being administered.

I think if you put those building blocks in there, you can achieve

it.

Senator Glenn. Are we going to have to put those additional re-

quirements in there, though, because right now the proposal is to

send block grants back to the States? Is the system adequate so

that we can keep up with auditing those funds right now, or are

we going to have to have additional bureaucracy put in to monitor
it?

Mr. BOWSHER. I would think that the resources to monitor and
to audit it are probably there. I think the big thing will be whether
the information is there.

Senator Glenn. Yes. In your testimony, you touched on the rela-

tionship between the CFOs and the IGs. There is a just-released

survey by Coopers & Lybrand—and I think we will hear about that

shortly—that perhaps there is some degree of tension between
these two shops over their respective roles. For example, a high
percentage of CFOs would just as soon contract out the financial

statement audit function to a private sector accounting firm.

Is implementation of the Act affected by tensions between the

CFOs and the IGs?
Mr. Bowsher. I do not think so. I think we have seen a lot of

progress. There was a lot more tension a few years ago, and I also

think that the executive branch did not have the quahfied CFOs
that they have gained in the last year or two. And I think the IGs
are starting to do a better job on their financial audit responsibil-

ities.

I think the Congress wrote the CFO Act much as it did the Sin-

gle Audit Act. In the Single Audit Act, it gave the responsibility to

the States, and some States like Maryland, went out and hired
CPA auditors to do the audit. In other States, like California, the
State auditor did it, but he hired some of the CPA firms to do some
of the major components, like the State university system. I think
that that is what is happening here at the Federal level. In other
words, it gives you flexibility. Many of the IGs now are hiring out-

side auditors to assist them.
So I think what we ought to do is go for 2 or 3 years here, see

how the audits are done in 1996 and 1997. I think you are always
going to have some tension between the CFO and the IG, but I do
not think it will inhibit the Act being carried out, and I think we
have actually seen progress made there in working together.

Senator Glenn. Your audit team has been doing an evaluation
of OMB's recent reorganization, called "0MB 2000." I was inter-

ested to hear that prior to 0MB 2000, OMB's Office of Federal Fi-

nancial Management, OFFM, had 41 State positions, and now it

has only 20—a reduction of 51 percent.
When they reorganized, they farmed these management people

out, in effect, to be in OMB's budget offices. I was a little skeptical
of that whole process, I must admit. What is your assessment of
how that is working out? I know they farmed these positions out.

21-793 0-96-2
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but can OFFM do its statutory job—statutory job, now—with half
the people it had before?

Mr. BOWSHER. Well, if they have the right people, I think they
can do the statutory job. I have always been concerned about the
level of staffing at 0MB; even when they were at 40 positions, that
is not a lot of positions to be trying to monitor the whole Federal
Government, a $1.6 trillion operation.

I will say that I think the current team over there is the best
team that I have seen at 0MB in my nearly 30 years here in

Washington, so I think they are doing an excellent job with the
staffing they have. I think your concern, Senator, about whether
they have enough staff, is a very valid one, and if you were to lose

any of the key people at any time, or not replace them with staff

of that capability, I think we could be in trouble. But right now,
it is working very well. They have some fine people at 0MB, and
I think they are doing an excellent job.

Senator Glenn. Well, if these people they farmed out to the dif-

ferent places still operate as if they were still back in their original

spot there, and report in, and do it with the same kind of analjdical

work that they were doing before, then I think the whole thing will

work. But I was afraid that once they got out and got into all of

these different branches that there would be a tendency for them
to be sort of preempted by where they were as much as by what
their job was supposed to be. Do you have any opinion on that at

all?

Mr. BowsHER. No, I do not have an opinion on that, and it might
be good for you to ask Mr. DeSeve about that.

Senator Glenn. Yes. DOD keeps coming up as our financial

management problem all the time. The CFO Act requires agencies
to report on their financial operations. Despite this fact, the De-
partment of Defense still cannot perform that basic task. I am sure
this is one reason why GAO has designated defense financial man-
agement as "a Government-wide management high-risk area."

In fact, I understand that in our "high-risk lists," as we call

them, in which you make an annual assessment on and which
0MB does, too, that DOD is still in the very highest risk as far as
financial management is concerned. Is that correct?

Mr. BowSHER. It is correct, yes. It is one of the agencies that we
worry the most about in the next couple of years. As I have testi-

fied before, we are very pleased that Secretary Perry and the Con-
troller, John Hamre, have readily admitted the problems and that
they have a plan to do something about them. But going back to

an earlier question, do they have enough qualified personnel to

really achieve it—that is one of the big questions, and so I do worry
about the Defense Department.
Chairman Stevens. If I could interject

Senator Glenn. Yes.
Chairman STEVENS [continuing]. But that is just my point. Why

are we hiring more people? Why don't we go to the other point of

consolidating functions so we need less people?
Mr. BowsHER. Well, I would agree with consolidating those func-

tions at the Department of Defense, but you have got to redesign
the system when you do the consolidation, and you need technically
qualified people to do it. I am not saying hire more people. What
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I am really saying is that you need staff today that understand
modern computers and modern communications systems, and I am
not sure John Hamre has that many there to be able to achieve it.

So that as you consolidate, you have to have talent to know how
to do that consolidation. I think they have gotten into some trouble

with the DFAS system because they tried some consolidation and
lost control.

Mr. Steinhoff. Let me add a thought to that. Chairman Ste-

vens.
Chairman Stevens. Yes.
Mr. Steinhoff. About 40 percent of the Federal accounting sys-

tems are over 10 years old, and in DOD, their systems are in real

bad shape. They have an estimated 80,000 accountants and finan-

cial managers. That is a lot of people. But they are working with
a blizzard of paper and very old systems. If you get the systems
into better shape and, as you said, consolidate the operations
Senator Glenn. Is that the major problem?
Mr. Steinhoff. They have bad systems, and they have a clerk-

driven type of financial process.

Senator Glenn. Well, I have been out to the DFAS center, and
I could not agree with you more. You have different DFAS cen-

ters—some have retirement accounts and so on that are just the
epitome of excellence; they really are. I was almost shocked. A call

comes in, it is answered, all the stuff comes up on the screen, the
guys are there, and they have an answer for people just within a
minute or so, on a lot of this stuff.

Then you go down to the other center, where we are pajdng out
all the big money accounts, and these people are running little

carts down through a warehouse to pick up manila folders off of

metal racks. I took some out and laid them out just to look at

them, and that is how people are paying our bills. And as a result

of that system, a couple of years ago, we had contractors who re-

turned over $700 million. They sent it back, saying, hey, we never
sent you a bill for this.

Mr. BowsHER. That is right.

Senator Glenn. And so we looked into some of those accounts,
and we found another $750 million or so, so that was over $1.4 bil-

lion. And part of the problem may be the Prompt Payment Act, per-

haps, which says you must pay within 30 days, so if somebody
thinks a bill is coming up, they are going to pay it because they
do not want interest to be charged on their watch as a result of
the Prompt Payment Act. So we have a real morass here, either a
problem with a law or with outdated practices, and it seems to me
we ought to be able to straighten it out.

Computerizing accounts should help. I understand they are mak-
ing progress in it, but it is slow, and it is like pulling teeth.

Mr. BowSHER. Yes.
Chairman Stevens. Yes, but you modernize by computerizing

from the very first input, not from how to handle those manila en-
velopes faster. That is the problem, and we cannot seem to get any-
one to understand that if you have a system and teach everybody
the new system, it is a heck of a lot better than molding the old
systems and folding them in until we finally get a new one.
Senator Glenn. That is right.
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Mr. BOWSHER. I agree with that, yes.

Chairman Stevens. Well, Mr. Bowsher, I respectfully think it is

your responsibility to see that it comes about.
Mr. Bowsher. Yes. Well, we certainly are trying to work with

the Department of Defense. I think if you could ever get out to Co-
lumbus, Ohio—which Senator Glenn suggested I do, and I did do
it, and John Hamre had a lot of industry people there that same
day
Chairman Stevens. My family migrated from there in 1890, and

I have not seen any reason to go back. [Laughter.]

Mr. Bowsher. Well
Senator Glenn. There must be an answer to that, but I cannot

think of it at the moment. [Laughter.]

Chairman Stevens. What was your point—sorry.

Mr. Bowsher. Well, my point is that what you would see in Ohio
is the current system, and you will see how it has to be modern-
ized, as you are saying, with modernized computers and so on. You
will also see that when they moved it and consolidated it, or tried

to consolidate the old systems, they lost control. That is what you
do not want to happen.
So I think a trip to Columbus gives you as good a snapshot of

what the problems of financial management are in the Department
of Defense as any place you could go.

Senator Glenn. They are making a lot of progress; I do not want
to imply that things are all bleak. But it is slow, and I do not know
how you put new accounts in under a new computerized system,
and let the old ones sort of fizzle out as things go on; that is a
major problem. They are just trying to keep their heads above
water out there with the resources they have, and they are doing
a pretty good job with the resources they have.
Do you think we need more resources? Do they have money

enough to devise and operate a good system?
Mr. Bowsher. Yes, I think they have enough money. I think they

spend billions on new systems, and they are not successful, so that

as Gene mentioned earlier, I think it is not a matter of getting

more people or more dollars; I think it is a case of having the right

people who really know how to do it, how to bring the modern sys-

tems into the Government.
Senator Glenn. And your summarized statement this morning

indicates the magnitude of this thing. You say on page 5 of your
short statement, "For example, as of August 1995, DOD reported

$28 billion of problem disbursements, of which $16 billion had re-

mained unresolved for over 180 days. Also, each year, hundreds of

millions of dollars of overpayments are voluntarily returned by
DOD contractors."

This is not a small problem. We fuss like crazy over a billion

here and a billion there around here, and here, we have $28 billion.

Let us go to IRS. How are they coming? That is one of our favor-

ite topics here. For instance—this is quoting out of your state-

ment—"We found that IRS had $65 billion in delinquent taxes, not

the $110 billion shown on its financial statements, and of the $65
billion, we estimated only $19 billion to be collectible." Now, that
is down, because a couple of years ago, it was up to $32 billion.
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But $19 billion out there that is collectable, and we do not have
either the system or the people or the agents—that is collectible.

These are not the bankruptcies, individual or corporate. These are

collectibles, they estimate, that we just do not go out and get. How
we would love to have $19 billion spare money around here right

now, with the balanced budget problems we have.

Every year, we used to have a hearing on TSM here. We would
have the IRS in, and every year—well, we think it is going to take

5 or 6 years to fix the problems. Then we would go on to the next

year, and they would testify again—5 or 6 years to fix the prob-

lems. And we would go on to the next year, and we would hear 5

or 6 years to fix the problem. It was a rolling target, and we did

not seem to be making any progress.

Are they making progress now, and what is your opinion on IRS?
Mr. BOWSHER. They are making progress, but they have not

made enough that we can give them a clean opinion on the audit.

On the TSM, I will have Gene give you a few words on that, be-

cause that is where we do have some concerns that they are not

making as much progress as their plan intended, and I think the

Congress has taken some action to try to improve it.

Mr. DODARO. On the tax system modernization effort, we issued

a report last July that was very critical of IRS' technical and mana-
gerial capability to carry that out. We made about 20 or so rec-

ommendations to really build their capabilities in this area until

they have a good strategic plan in place.

We found, for example, that their ability to develop the software

themselves for the new systems was at the lowest level possible

and that they did not really have the processes in place to be able

to do that. Their processes were kind of ad hoc, chaotic, and not

repeatable.

So we made a number of recommendations. We are waiting for

them to respond to our recommendations now, and we are going to

continue to evaluate what kind of progress they are making.
We were pleased that they accepted the recommendations and

promised to implement them. The Commissioner made a commit-
ment to do that; whether or not they actually follow through and
put the recommendations in place I think really remains to be

seen.

Senator Glenn. Do they have the resources, once again, to do it?

Mr. DoDARO. The resources are there. It is just a question of get-

ting the right people. For example, their tax system modernization
executive left. They have replaced that person. They are looking for

a chief information officer. And it is really an issue of bringing in

the right people; it is not a question of additional people.

Also, IRS needs a CFO. Their last chief financial officer left, and
they have not yet replaced that person. We have urged IRS for

years to go outside the Federal Government to bring in a qualified

chief financial officer and a chief information officer who have in-

stalled large-scale systems in the private sector of the type that the

chairman was talking about and you have talked about. Senator
Glenn, because part of the problem is that in installing these new
systems, you have to go outside the financial management bound-
aries. This occurs in Defense, for example. The contract payment
process starts with the contracting process at DOD in the first
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place, and that whole process needs to be streamlined and modi-
fied, and you need people who can understand that and have done
that successfully.

So it is just a question of the right people. It is not more people,

and it is not more money. It is people who have done this success-

fully.

Chairman Stevens. I have gone way over my time.

Senator Brown?
Senator Brown. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I wanted to take you back a little bit to get some of your observa-

tions. If I understand our current system correctly, we basically

have a system where accounting and reporting standards are laid

out by the GAO, budgetary standards are laid out by 0MB, and
monthly and annual cash-type reporting duties fall under the prov-

ince of the Treasury. And our 300-some departments and agencies
each of the ability to set up their own accounting systems. Over
this, we have laid the FASAB board, which will provide some
guidelines.

But in reality, no one person is responsible when there is a
breakdown in any of these areas. At least that is my impression.
I wonder if you all would comment on that or correct me if I have
misstated it.

Mr. BOWSHER. That has basically been the system in the Govern-
ment. What the CFO Act, which you have already passed, and the

new standards would say is: here is one set of accounting stand-

ards that everybody has to apply. Through this legislation, you are
now really going to be holding 24 chief financial officers respon-

sible, which represent 95 percent of government expenditures, so

you have got the bulk of the government in those 24 agencies.

Then, if you could do some consolidation with the systems—as I

said earlier, you do not need 24 separate systems out there; I think
you could do some consolidation. It seems to me that you would
then know who is responsible for the financial reporting. Also, you
are going to get financial audits at the end, just like you do in the
private sector and in the State and local governments.
So in the next few years here, you are going to be transferring

from the situation which you just described very accurately—that
is literally the way the government has limped along since World
War II—to something that has accountability and hopefully has
some modern processing systems.
Senator Brown. Mr. Chairman, my impression is that any bright

person—and our Government is filled with bright people, and we
have been blessed with very intelligent people—the first thing they
think about is not putting together a report that emphasizes their

deficiencies. They tend to think in other terms. And what we are

doing is leaving in people's hands the ability to report on them-
selves, and it should not surprise us that it does not always work,
and it should not surprise us that it is not always unbiased.
So at least I think the step forward is to get clear uniform stand-

ards and some pinpointing of responsibility, and at least my view
is that this is our best path out of the quagmire that we have got-

ten into in terms of accounting standards.
Mr. BowsHER. I think we have a good plan here, and now the

question is whether the Government can achieve it.
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Chairman STEVENS. Well, I would add to that some requirement
that somebody—and I would hope it would be you—is constantly

inventorying the development of technology to see how the system
can be improved. That is what Wal-Mart had that we do not have,

and I think someone has to—I was going to ask you if you have
a section of technology implementation, and bring it in so it is ap-

plicable to Government procedures. Someone out to be there, reach-

ing into this new digital information and saying, "This will work
better," and trying to see how we can do it.

It is true that we cannot buy every generation of new technology,

but we can start adapting every generation of new technology, and
we are not doing that. I would hope that we know where we are

going.

I was at the other meeting this morning, on telecommunications.
Computers will soon be talking to computers by radio and not by
electronic—by direct connections with cable—and I think we are

going to find a whole new system with the digital system, which
we will not be using, but the rest of the Nation's economy will be

using. I think he is right that we must get standardization, and we
must get someone at the point to say we are about ready to change
gears, and this is where we are going.

Mr. BowSHER. That is right.

Chairman Stevens. But everybody is changing independently,

and that is why his law is necessary, in my opinion, because it

holds us to some standards and says to everybody. You keep it this

way until you change it, Mr. Bowsher—until you change this sys-

tem, it is going to stay the same.
Mr. Bowsher. You are absolutely right. I have a small group,

not nearly as large as I would like, in the technology and systems
area. We have issued some guidelines and reports on how to go

about it, and we have been working quite a bit with Senator
Cohen. The fact is that Government has not gotten the payoff from
its investment in systems because it has ended up with too many
different systems, which is the point that you are concerned about.

We worked with the Army on the medical supplies, to show them
how it is being done in the private sector. At first, the Army was
skeptical; but they have now instituted private sector practices.

They did it by hiring a retired Navy captain who went to work for

Wal-Mart and found out how Wal-Mart systems work. He has now
literally put it in the Army. Walter Reed does not have any more
inventory tied up in, say—the one we compared it to was
Vanderbilt's medical center—whereas a few years ago, they had
four times as much money tied up there.

So you are absolutely right, these systems have to be modern-
ized. Technology is moving very fast, so you have to, as Gene point-

ed out, bring in the expertise of the private sector and utilize it.

Chairman Stevens. Sorry, Senator Brown. Please go ahead.
Senator Brown. I am finished.

Chairman Stevens. I will only make one comment and then go
to Senator Glenn. At one time, I found up in Pennsylvania a ware-
house full of the bars that you put over the tops of sedans to make
them into police cars. You just put this thing in, plug it into the
cigar lighter, and you've got the flashing lights up there. You can
press a little button, and you can get all red going, or you can get
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the green going. There was a warehouse full of them, and someone
had run across a great deal of them and bought literally a 10-year
supply for the Government, but failed to tell the Department of De-
fense that they were there.

Now, in my judgment, that could not happen to Wal-Mart. They
are not going to have some place in Alaska that has a 10-year sup-
ply of anything, because the system is totally centralized.

Now, we have got to get there, and I do not see how we are going
to get there unless your people take the lead.

Senator you have some questions.
Senator Glenn. Yes, the bar light thing is another one. We fol-

lowed through on that one, too; we had testimony here once about
bar lights in a warehouse that will last us out to the year 2012 or

something like that. Every year, they were getting in another so
many hundred, but they did not have space for them in the ware-
house, so they had to put them under a tarp out back. They did
not have a place to put them, and they just kept getting more, just
because nobody had plugged all this into the system.

Is the Prompt Payment Act part of our problem?
Mr. BOWSHER. I do not think so. The problem basically is the an-

tiquated systems in Columbus. The Prompt Pa3anent Act basically

says you should pay the vendors within 30 days, and if you cannot,
you should pay them some interest. I think that is very fair.

Senator Glenn. Yes, but the employees are there, pushing the
checks out, so that they are not criticized for an account getting be-

hind that they have to pay interest on.

Mr. BowsHER. Yes.
Senator Glenn. So they are erring on the side of sending the

money out instead of bringing it back in. I have forgotten the
amount of money that goes out of there, but it is something
like

Mr. DODARO. It is about $1 billion a day.
Senator Glenn. Yes. It is $35 million per hour.
Mr. BowSHER. Yes.
Senator Glenn. It comes out to something like that.

Mr. BowSHER. But you see, they should have good systems that
can do that within 30 days.
Senator Glenn. This puts you on the spot, and maybe you can-

not answer this, but you had a long personal employment in a
major accounting firm for this country.
Mr. BowsHER. Right.
Senator Glenn. As a result of that, you became Comptroller of

the Navy, and now, here you are. You have been in the position

for—what— 11 years, 12?
Mr. BowsHER. Fourteen and a half.

Senator Glenn. Fourteen and a half, all right. When you are
having fun
Mr. BowSHER. When you are having fun, time goes by quickly.

Senator Glenn. Right. Now, I could not find anybody who could
possibly have more experience in this area, but maybe this ques-
tion is unfair. Using your level of expertise in advising us in the
Congress, which you do, and that is your purpose, how long do you
think it should take DOD to get their accounts in order so they can
be auditable, and IRS as well? Those have been the two most vex-
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ing things, the two that we first looked into that you were charged

with analyzing, and they have been an absolute unmitigated mess.

Mr. BowSHER. Yes.

Senator Glenn. One is the biggest account in the world that any-

body spends, that is, DOD; and the other account, IRS, is the con-

tact point for every American once a year. And when they find out

that IRS has their accounts all screwed up, and yet they expect the

individual to be Simon pure in every, single bit of his or her own
accounting, it does not sit well.

How long do you think, in your level of expertise, it should take

if they went to work on this? Should it be by the year 2000, by
1998—for DOD and IRS?
Mr. BowSHER. I think if you really had the right talent working

on it, that you could get most organizations into good shape in 3

years. We got New York City in shape in 18 months—I always re-

member that—so that they could be audited. If you can get New
York City in shape in 18 months, I think you can do the same for

a lot of organizations—because New York City could not even rec-

oncile its cash.

Senator Glenn. Well, you qualified that, though. You said if they

have the right personnel.

Mr. BOWSHER. Yes, you have to have the right personnel.

Senator Glenn. Well, do they have the right personnel?

Mr. BOWSHER. No. As we have said here
Senator Glenn. Well, then, under existing conditions-

Mr. BowSHER. You are not going to get there in some of the

areas. Now, I think you will at IRS. I would hope that IRS could

get a clean audit opinion next year—if not next year, certainly the

following year. I think they have made that much progress. But
they will not have their total TSM system in.

But I think many of these Government systems, where they plan

for 5, 10, 15 years, makes no sense at all. I think what you really

ought to be doing is looking at 3 years, 5 years on the outside, of

real change and real modernization. That is what they do in the

private sector.

Senator Glenn. Well, I know that progress is being made—I do

not want to be so gloomy—but we have been at this for many
years. I have probably done a dozen hearings just on DOD financial

management, and we go on year after year after year after year.

And there is progress being made—we went to DBOF which has
its own set of problems, and I think that is working out—I hope
it is. But progress has been agonizingly slow, and I am glad to hear
your estimate of 3 years. Maybe we can use that as a standard
when they come over and testify and see what the plan is and how
much progress they are making. Maybe we can set milestones to

accomplish it within 3 years.

Mr. BowsHER. I think Congress should start to set that kind of

tight deadline for progress, because that is the only thing that is

really going to accomplish it. You have to guard against accepting

long timeframes. I remember going to meetings in the early seven-

ties on IRS modernization. They always had a 10-year plan, which
just does not make any sense. And generally, when you have a 10-

year plan, you have a current, short-term thing that is not getting

there.
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Senator Glenn. And the target dates have always been rolUng
targets, too; that is the problem.
Mr. BOWSHER. Right. That is a very good point.

Senator Glenn. You know, you start to mentally make a note

that by nineteen-something-or-other, you are going to have that

thing fixed, and the next year it has slipped a year, and it just con-

tinues to be a rolling target out there.

Mr. BowSHER. Yes.

Senator Glenn. We will submit any other questions. We have
gone on a long time, and I appreciate it.

Senator Brown. Mr. Chairman.
Chairman STEVENS. Yes, sir.

Senator BROWN. I would like to make just a brief observation if

I could with regard to Senator Glenn's line of questioning, because
I think he hit the nail on the head, and perhaps Mr. Bowsher
would agree or disagree—I do not know.
But my limited experience indicates that the problem here is not

just one of the accountants getting things in proper shape. At least

in business, the biggest problem that we had was that it was dif-

ficult to get management to take the time to sit down and lay out
what kinds of reports they need to do a good job of managing. Until

you really get management engaged, the process does not get com-
plete. So at least my sense is that it involves more than just the

accountants getting their act together; it involves management
thinking it through.

I will give you an example that I think is helpful. I remember
a few years ago, talking to someone from the Nixon administration

about how President Nixon had ordered people to spend all the

money they could just before his reelection to beef up the economy.
At least that was the way he described it, and I personally believe

that was the intent of the orders that went out. And my under-
standing is that the Defense Department went out during that pe-

riod and bought up a 3-year supply of toilet paper. The comment
was: You have no idea how much a 3-year supply of toilet paper
for the Army is. And they had filled almost every warehouse in the

country—but it did goose up the economy for the election.

The point is not the creativity of the Nixon administration in get-

ting reelected—obviously, they seemed to accomplish that—the

point is that we did not have an accounting system that showed we
had a 3-year inventory of toilet paper. The people who were doing
the books and doing the reports were also the ones—well, the peo-

ple who were giving guidance to the Defense Department to buy a
3-year supply of toilet paper also had control of the accounting sys-

tem, which never reported to the public you had a 3-year supply
of toilet paper.
Maybe we will never have another Richard Nixon as President

—

and I will not say that is good or bad—maybe we will never have
anyone who gets carried away again—but I think the danger we
have in the system also leaves it open to management abuse and
gives management the ability, through its control of the standards,
to not only abuse the system at times, but then to hide the abuse.
At least my sense is that that is part of the problem that we

have right now.
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Mr. BOWSHER. Yes, and I think it is important to get manage-
ment involved in this. In other words, it is not just the account-

ants. What you must do is get the Cabinet officers and the heads
of the agencies directly involved. That is why I have always
thought it would be very useful if Congress held an annual over-

sight hearing of these 24 largest agencies starting with the audits

for fiscal year 1996; ask them where they really stand, what
progress they are making. Have not only the CFO and accountants

there, but just as you would in the private sector, you would have
the chairman of the board and the Cabinet officer at the same
hearing.
Senator Brown. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you very much, Mr. Comptroller Gen-

eral. We have taken a long time, and I hope the other witnesses

understand the reason. You are sort of our focal point in this whole
endeavor, and we want everyone to realize that. We look forward
to working with you. Thank you very much.
Mr. BowSHER. We do, too, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman Stevens. Our next witness is Ed DeSeve, Controller

of 0MB. Ed, do you have someone with you?
Mr. DeSeve. No, sir; I am alone.

Chairman Stevens. Gentlemen, let us put a little constraint on
ourselves now, and limit ourselves to 10 minutes. We have another
panel to hear from this morning, and I do want to be courteous and
get to their testimony also this morning.
Mr. Controller, we are pleased to have your testimony. You may

proceed as you wish, and we will put your full statement in the

record, as we did with the Comptroller General.

TESTIMONY OF G. EDWARD DESEVE,i CONTROLLER, OFFICE
OF FEDERAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, OFFICE OF MAN-
AGEMENT AND BUDGET
Mr. DeSeve. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and I will try

to summarize my statement quickly.

I am pleased to be here today to provide an overview of the state

of financial management in the Federal Government. In my written
testimony, I have drawn heavily from the July 1995 report entitled,

"The Federal Financial Management Status Report and 5-Year
Plan." This report, required by the Chief Financial Officers Act, re-

flects an overview of the status of Federal management and plans
for improvement. The report was jointly prepared by the Chief Fi-

nancial Officers Council and the Office of Management and Budget.
I have extra copies if the Committee would like them.

I want to thank the Committee again for the work that it has
done and the work that GAO has done in supervising the CFO Act,

in restoring the public's confidence and trust in Government. The
CFO Act is one of only several pieces of legislation that this Com-
mittee has sponsored, all of which build a sound foundation for bet-

ter management of Federal resources.
The CFO Act and its subsequent modification by the GMRA and

the GPRA of 1993, as well as earlier legislation such as the Federal

^The prepared statement of Mr. DeSeve appears on page 67.
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Managers Financial Integrity Act and the Inspector Generals Act
together establish a framework for improved accountability and
better information for decisionmaking by Congress and the Presi-

dent.

I would also like to call special attention to the work of the Chief
Financial Officers Council. The CFO Council is composed of all the
CFOs and the deputy CFOS, and now, 24 agencies subject to the
CFO Act.

Since May of 1994, this Council has taken a leadership role in

setting Government-wide priorities for financial management. The
three top priorities set by the Council this year are improving fi-

nancial systems, implementing the Government Performance and
Results Act, and issuing accounting standards and financial state-

ments.
The Chairman has asked that I address the status of the CFO

Act, GMRA/GPRA implementation, and the role of Congress in as-

sisting in the implementation of these statutes, as well as OMB's
plan for the consolidating of certain financial reports into an ac-

countability report, proposals regarding the Single Audit Act, and
Senator Brown's proposed Accounting Standardization Act. My
written testimony covers these matters and other priorities of 0MB
and the Chief Financial Officers Council.
As important as these issues are separately, it is even more im-

portant to view them as an integrated whole. This perspective was
expressed by Senator Roth, when he was Chairman of this Com-
mittee, and Senator Glenn, in a December 8, 1994 letter to Comp-
troller General Bowsher, in which they stated that a practical man-
agement framework is needed to coordinate the management re-

forms that have been enacted.
At 0MB and in the CFO Council, we are seeking to create this

integrated framework that will allow the administration and Con-
gress to connect resources to results in the context of agency strate-

gic plans.

As Mr. Bowsher has already testified, I would like to pause a mo-
ment and, as he did, thank GAO very much. This working relation-

ship that we have with GAO and with our friends in the Treasury
has been extremely important in carrying out this Act. As Mr.
Bowsher indicated, we are making good progress. There are well-

qualified individuals holding CFO and deputy CFO positions in all

24 agencies. Agencies are working toward the goal of integrated fi-

nancial information systems of the kind the Chairman spoke of ear-

lier. This is the CFO Council's number one priority.

Over the past 2 years, the number of separate agency financial

management systems has actually decreased by 7 percent. 0MB in

the past 3 months has met with all 24 CFO Act agencies to discuss
their progress and plans for improving financial management sys-

tems. These meetings provided information about the status of

agency systems as well as a look to the future.

Mr. Chairman, I will digress for just a moment and say that the
CFO Council has taken very seriously your comments today about
technology and are in the midst of working with their counterparts
in private industry and with some of their counterparts in State
and local government. They will have a report in the spring of the
year, which I will make sure the Committee gets a copy of, to look
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at the next 3 to 5 years of technology and see how Federal agencies

can move forward to implement that technology. I think it is going

to be a very important report, and we want to send that up to you

as quickly as we can.

In terms of audited financial statements, another critical require-

ment of the CFO Act is that agencies prepare and audit statements

for pilot organizations and all commercial, trust, and revolving

funds. We have seen a marked improvement in agencies' accept-

ance of the rigors of financial statement preparation since the pas-

sage of the CFO Act. By mid 1995, almost 60 percent of the 100

entities preparing audited financial statements had received un-

qualified opinions.

In terms of the Government Management Reform Act, this Act

expanded the requirement from audited financial statements to all

of the activities, not just the trust and revolving funds, but all of

the activities of the 24 CFO Act agencies, thus making the state-

ments organization-wide.
GMRA also required that a Government-wide financial statement

be prepared and audited for fiscal year 1997. 0MB, GAO and
Treasury are working with agencies to assure that both of these re-

quirements are met.
In terms of accounting standards, underlying both the CFO Act

and GMRA is the need for a comprehensive set of Federal account-

ing standards and principles. To have an audited financial state-

ment without accounting standards is like plajdng tennis without

a net—you really cannot do it.

Before 1990, the Government did not have a set of accounting

standards. The Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board,

FASAB, was estabhshed on October 10, 1990 by the principals of

the three agencies. It includes both representatives from Federal

agencies as well as outside experts in accounting standards. I be-

lieve the board has been highly effective in taking into account a

broad range of views and providing extensive comment periods to

assure that implementation will begin as soon as the standards are

issued.

What we have seen in fact in FASAB is very rapid progress, es-

pecially compared to FASB and GASB, the Government Accounting
Standards Board that supervises state and local standards, as well

as the Financial Accounting Standards Board, which supervises

private sector standards.
Turning around in a very few years a set of, as the Comptroller

General said, very good standards I think is something that they
should be applauded for. By early spring, FASAB will have rec-

ommended a comprehensive framework for Federal reporting and
the basic standards necessary to carry it out.

Once issued by 0MB, these standards become generally-accepted

accounting principles for executive branch agencies.

The Government Performance and Results Act is intended to

bring about a fundamental transformation in the way Government
programs and operations are managed and administered. GPRA re-

quires that the Federal Government prepare strategic plans and
annual performance plans, and submit annual reports which com-
pare actual performance with goals. GPRA's implementation, legis-

latively mandated to take full effect in 1997, is well underway. In
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its statutory role as coordinator, 0MB has issued two important
documents on the preparation and submission of strategic plans in
September of 1995. The first was a memorandum from Director
Rivlin entitled, "Strategic Plans, Budget Formulation and Execu-
tion." The second was a revision to Circular A-11 on the prepara-
tion of annual budget submissions.
When I talk about integration, one of the most important aspects

of integration is to integrate budgetary information and perform-
ance information in a unified way. To have performance informa-
tion by itself, without knowing what it costs, is virtually unusable
to Congress. In order to know what it costs, we have to have ac-

counting standards, we have to have accounting systems which can
accurately report the information. Knowing the purpose of the
agency, we need to have strategic plans. To do that, the Chief Fi-

nancial Officers Council has recommended—and we would like to

spend a good deal of time talking with this Committee and then
move on and talk to the appropriators—two annual reports in

cycle, the first being a planning report that includes the strategic

plan of the agency—that is, its objectives as well as its resources
plan—that that plan be annually made available to Congress, es-

sentially at the same time the President's budget is presented to

the Congress; and an accountability report which wraps together
all of the information currently in audited financial statements, in

Federal management financial integrity reports, CFO Act reports,

GMRA reports, CFO reports, and so on.

And if I may digress for a moment—and I realize this is a bit

of a prop—I asked the Veterans Administration if they would give

me the reports that they currently use for those purposes. I did not
ask them to screen them in any particular way; I just said, if you
would send them over, I will bring them up when I go up to see
the folks on the Hill.

These are the fundamental reports, both the budgetary reports
and the accountability reports, that come forward each year from
the Veterans Administration now. And I did not say, "Give me the
biggest stack you have"; I said simply, "Send over what you have."
They have begun the process, as have others, of prototyping what

an accountability report might look like, a report that would allow
the public, that would allow the press, that would allow the Con-
gress to look at how are we doing, for example, in the speed with
which we pay veterans' claims.

I have another report that just came in—and this report replaces
about half of this stack; it does not replace all of it, but it replaces
about half of this stack—I have another one that just came in from
Social Security, and Senator Brown earlier made a very good point
about people not liking to report on themselves.

I think you will find, as you go through this—and I will be happy
to make this available to the Committee—this is for fiscal year 95,
the fiscal year that just ended in September, so we think it is very
timely information. But Social Security reports in the first real

page of the report that only 48 percent of the people in this Nation
have confidence in the Social Security system. Their first goal is to

try to restore confidence in the system. They then spend a signifi-

cant amount of time talking about how long it takes them to pay
a disability claim.



27

When my mother went to get her own disabiHty insurance bene-
fits some years ago, I was appalled at the amount of time it took
in that process. Honestly, Social Security says it has not gotten

that much better. They have a standard to measure it against.

So I think this report, which combines the audited financial

statement with a clean opinion—they have a clean opinion on their

financial statement, and have had for some years—with perform-
ance information, both efficiency information as well as broader im-
pact information—they talk very clearly about when the actuaries

think that SSI is likely to come out of money, and there is a graph
in here that demonstrates that. It is not a proximate problem, but
if you can see the graph, it is a fairly dramatic representation of

what happens some time in the future.

Senator Glenn. Could I ask a question here?
Chairman Stevens. Sure.
Senator Glenn. It is fine to have a summary like this. The

Chairman here is also one of the very senior members on the Ap-
propriations Committee. When he is over there, trying to put an
appropriations bill together and supervise all the Subcommittees,
they cannot operate on a summarized view of things. They have to

have specific, line item, dollar figures, dollars and cents, to put in

the appropriations. They cannot do it just on generalized figures.

If this summarizes those other things in enough detail, and they
can do that, then this is a big step forward. If not—if this is a sum-
mary that is not useful to him—then it does not seem to me like

it does much.
Mr. DeSeve. You are absolutely correct.

Senator Glenn. What is the status?
Mr. DeSeve. This, as I indicated, replaces about half of the re-

ports. This is, if you will, the audited financial statement and the
summary of performance of results. What we need to do is spend
time with this Committee, with 0MB, and then with the appropri-
ators to find out how to create a similar document on the front end
of the appropriations process.

One of the things that I am particularly uncomfortable with is

the idea that the administration requires departments to submit to

the President budget information. They then have to resubmit dif-

ferent information to the Congress. Well, if it is good enough for

the Congress, it ought to be good enough for the President. We
would love to find a way to have a seamless transmission, working
with the appropriators, of detailed performance information and fi-

nancial information that meets their needs, and we need to spend
some time working with them to find out how to do that. This is

only the back end.
Chairman Stevens. Well, respectfully, that is not enough, in my

opinion. I think we ought to have what the Comptroller General
said Australia has. We ought not have to have your come up. We
ought to have the ability to look at the reports you have and ana-
lyze them before you come up, and we ought to be dealing with the
same numbers.
Mr. DeSeve. I agree with you. Senator.
Chairman Stevens. We ought to have the same printout avail-

able to us, or the same computerization that is available to you,
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and we ought not to have this constant bickering about what the
numbers are. We need just one set of numbers.
Mr. DeSeve. Mr. Chairman, I agree with you completely.
Chairman Stevens. Why don't you put out a contract and ask for

a proposal for some of these major concerns of the country, to de-
sign a system for the Federal Government, period, for the whole
Federal Government, and put it into effect?

Mr. DeSeve. Mr. Chairman, we would like to do that. The design
of the system, as you know, is a four-step process—analysis, re-

quirements determination, design and implementation.
Chairman Stevens. Well, just put out the contract. I can write

that contract and get you a bid very quickly. It might take a year,

but why don't we do that?
Mr. DeSeve. The first step in writing such a contract—to write

a contract, we would like to get the appropriators to show us the
kind of information they would like to have, so that as we design
the
Chairman STEVENS. No, no. I want you to get the kind of infor-

mation you need to run the Government, and then we will use the
same information to see how much more money you need every
year. I do not need to have one designed for me. I need one de-

signed for you. And I do not know why we do not put it out and
get it.

Wal-Mart, again—and I do not have any stock in Wal-Mart; I

wish I had—but I have got to tell you that they just went to an
accounting firm and said, "Design us a system, and put it into

place," and they passed up every company in the country.
Why can't we do that?
Mr. DeSeve. Like Mr. Bowsher, I would love to see that hap-

pen
Chairman Stevens. I will get you the money next year.

Mr. DeSeve. OK.
Senator Glenn. He will do it, too.

Mr. DeSeve. Yes, sir, I believe that.

Senator Brown. Mr. Chairman, could I be argumentative for a
moment?
Chairman Stevens. Senator.
Senator Brown. You have put your finger on exactly the prob-

lem, and I do not know if you have a response, but the problem
you have is that I really think he is right—to do a good job for you,
he needs—and I am being personal, but I think it comes down to

every Cabinet Secretary and every chairman of an appropriations
committee—he really needs guidance as to what it is you want,
what concerns you, what you want to have highlighted, and he can
put together a system that will do that. But what happens so often,

at least in the private sector, and I suspect—although maybe I am
wrong—I suspect here, is that you probably get very few Cabinet
Secretaries who sit down with him and say, "Here is what I want
your reports to highlight, and here is what would be a good guide
for me to see if we are functioning properly." And I will bet there
are very few Appropriations Committee chairmen who sit down
with him and say, "Here is what I want to see," whether or not the
agency or department is functioning.
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I interrupt with that because I do not think any of this works
without the management, the appropriations Subcommittee chair-

men, or the Secretary getting personally involved.

Mr. DeSeve. It is our fault, too. It is our fault for not having

asked. It is our fault for not having spent more time trying to de-

velop the single system that the Chairman refers to.

I would like to comment for just a moment on the Wal-Mart
model. When you look at corporate America, there are really two
different models. The Wal-Mart model is a single, integrated firm

which does essentially the same kinds of things within the firm.

The other model for firms is what I will call the General Electric

model, the holding company model, where the large steam turbine

generator division, where General Electric Credit Corporation,

where—they own one of the TV stations, and I have forgotten

which one—NBC—actually are very different kinds of enterprises

and require very different kinds of information coming up to a con-

solidated reporting framework at the management level.

What we have decided to do within the Federal Government is

begin the process by designing for each of those enterprises, each

of those entities, as GE does, an accounting system that meets
management's needs. That is the process that is undergoing now
that Mr. Bowsher referred to in the 24 CFO Act agencies.

Our challenge is the next step—this was my point about looking

forward to the next 3 years—it is to integrate all of that informa-

tion at the top so that it is useful across Government and then
have the ability to use that system without destroying the operabil-

ity of each of the agency or entity systems that are being created.

That is the strategy we have chosen rather than a one-size-fits-all,

to allow 24 entities to design one that fits for them, and then to

find the commonalities because there are commonalities in those

and, hopefully, as the Defense Department is doing, migrate, for

example, to a single pay system. DOD has a very effective strategy.

They have looked across the military systems and they have said,

"We are going to take the best system and migrate to that system."

And we believe that that is an appropriate step, but it is a process

that has three or four steps to it. Unfortunately, we think moving
to a single system would blur some of the utility for particular

agencies.

Chairman Stevens. I would like to move on to our next panel
in about 5 minutes, but let me just make one statement and ask
you a question.

The difference between GE and Wal-Mart is that Wal-Mart is a
horizontally integrated company
Mr. DeSeve. Correct.

Chairman Stevens [continuing]. And you are looking at GE,
which is a series of companies that are vertically integrated to a
management system up here, and you have to decide which vision
you have for the Federal Government.
My vision is the Wal-Mart vision because I do not think we ought

to have a system in here so that one series of Government becomes
more important than another, and that is what happens as you go
up the vertical system. And you can make a choice, but my ques-
tion is why did you pick the GE model?

21-793 0-96-3
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Mr. DeSeve. I think the GE model was picked because of the
great differences among the agencies and their roles and missions.
Again, even setting aside the Defense Department, which is very
large, the mission of the Department of Housing and Urban Devel-
opment is very different from the mission of the Environmental
Protection Agency. One serves the public directly by providing
housing and other services through State and local governments;
the other is a regulatory entity that regulates and monitors and es-

tablishes liabilities over time. So they are very different. And then,
when you throw the State Department into the mix, which is a di-

rect service agency, there really are—and I do not mean to belabor
this—different accounting issues.

One of EPA's big problem is how do we value Superfund sites

and the liability for those sites. HUD's big problem is how do we
monitor income eligibility, and a system that does not monitor in-

come eligibility does not help HUD; one that does does not help
EPA.
So that is really the reason why we started with that strategy.

Chairman Stevens. Well, I will show my prejudice by telling you
that my eyes are an appropriator's eyes, and I see all of those enti-

ties out there doing two things—either spending taxpayers' money
or bringing in taxpayers' money—and I think there is a horizontal
thing.

Senator Glenn, go ahead.
Senator Glenn. Thank you.
What are your comments on the pilot program that Alice Rivlin

has asked for, the streamlining initiative?

Mr. DeSeve. We feel very strongly that, again, on the account-
ability side—not in terms of what an appropriator might need

—

that we would like to show the Congress in this pilot program the
benefit of moving toward that consolidation so that it is easier for

the public to get information, so the press can go through these re-

ports on a timely basis, and that the Congress can, in one place,

have one-stop shopping.
Senator Glenn. OK. I think that is a laudatory goal. I am con-

cerned that we not streamline to the point where we do not get all

the information we need; obviously, that is my concern.
Mr. DeSeve. Yes, certainly.

Senator Glenn. On the Single Audit Act, does 0MB agree that
the amendments—I assume you have had a chance to look at those
amendments—do you agree those are needed?
Mr. DeSeve. We have not looked at all of the amendments. We

understand the principles that are behind them. We do agree that
they are needed. We think that raising the threshold—right now,
if you get $25,000 from the Federal Government, you get audited.

We think that $300,000 is enough, and we think you ought to

evaluate that every couple of years to see if it should be moved up.

Senator Glenn. And we give you some flexibility in doing that

—

you would have some judgment that you could raise it above the
$300,000.
Mr. DeSeve. Yes, we do, and what we would do is we would in-

terpret that to allow State and local governments to substitute

things that they thought were better for the single audit.
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Senator GLENN. OK. In 0MB 2000, your reorganization resulted

in a shrinking of the statutory office you had, OFFM, from a staff

of 41 down to 20. I know they are supposedly working in other

places and so on, but do they report back to you, or how do you

do that? I guess the basic question is are you still able to do your

job with only 20 people?

Mr. DeSeve. Well, we do not like to talk about this because what
we have done is we have created a Trojan horse

Senator Glenn. Well, I think this is a good place to talk about

it, right here.

Mr. DeSeve [continuing]. We have created a Trojan horse here,

in each of the resource management operations. One of the criti-

cisms of the management side of 0MB is that it never talked to

the budget side. So we sent our agents out into the budget side;

we have them burrowed into the budget side, and whether it is

cash management, or whether it is debt collection, or whether it is

getting the budget people for the first time to look at an audited

financial statement, understand and interpret it—GAO just did a

draft report that Mr. Bowsher
Senator Glenn. Question: Aren't these people being paid by

where they are and not out of your budget?
Mr. DeSeve. By where they are; yes, sir.

Senator Glenn. OK. And their loyalty is still to you?

Mr. DeSeve. Well, sir, we do not like to ask them that question.

Senator Glenn. Yes. Well, when they first proposed this thing

and first briefed us on it, that was my question. I did not see how
you are going to put people out without having them preempted out

there, wherever they are. You have to have absolute trust that

these people are feeding you back all the information you need or

the system does not work right, it seems to me. Is it working? That
is the question?
Mr. DeSeve. I think it is. Yesterday, we had a need, very quick-

ly, within a couple of hours, to prepare some answers to some legis-

lative questions. I called on the people who had formerly been in

our organization, for example, and asked them questions about

IRS. They used to be in our place. I asked, "How are they doing?"

Within 10 minutes, I got a response back from that individual, giv-

ing me chapter and verse of what was going on there. And we had
other situations that were very similar to that yesterday.

Senator Glenn. Since these people are supposedly reporting to

you, but they are being paid out there, have you had any cases so

far where their boss, the guy who is paying them, has said, "Hey,

I'd just as soon you did not tell old DeSeve this stuff up there, be-

cause this will hurt things a little bit here; I do not think he should

know this." Have there been any cases like that that you know
about?
Mr. DeSeve. None that I know of In fact, it has actually been

the reverse. We believe our folks have infected the budget side of

the house with the need for better financial management, giving us
a lot of leverage. Instead of losing 20, we think we have probably
gained 200.

Senator Glenn. Do you think you can continue to do the OFFM
job with just 20 people the way you are organized now?



32

Mr. DeSeve. Yes, sir, and they are very good people; we thank
the Comptroller for his comments.

Senator Glenn. All right. More responsibilities are going down
to the states the way Congress is moving and the way things are

going right now. I am concerned about accountability. Do you think
that the IGs can follow this money down the pipeline? Do they
have authority to go down and monitor these things, since they are

Federal dollars, that are going back to the states for the states'

use? The definition of how the money is to be used is pretty vague
in some of these programs, as I understand it, even to the point

in some of them where, if the state does not use the money for its

intended purpose, it can go back into the state treasury. That is

pretty loose. Can the IGs still track this money down and get ac-

countability? How does that stand?
Mr. DeSeve. We have concern as you do about how this monitor-

ing is going to occur. We currently have a thing called the Medicaid
Fraud Unit, which is audit that works with State governments,
and there has been a very good relationship between HHS's IG and
the State governments, because we jointly share—because v/e joint-

ly fund, we jointly share that responsibility—although Medicaid is

not proposed for a block grant by the administration, I use that as

an example. If we were to have no responsibility, we would be very
concerned about the states' ability to track fraudulent cases and
use those funds properly.

So we share your concern. It varies program by program. And
again, I only used Medicaid as an example. But we share your con-

cern, whether it is AFDC, or JTPA, that that needs to be very
clear, that the Federal IG must have oversight and must have re-

sponsibility for those Federal funds as they go to State govern-

ments, especially in the area of fraud.

Senator Glenn. We have had Federal funds going to State gov-

ernments for a long time, but not to the magnitude that is being
proposed here, as I understand some of the proposals. And if you
see cases where legislation is needed to enable the IGs or somebody
to follow these funds down and make sure there is accountability,

why, let us know as soon as possible because this Committee would
be the one that would probably have to take action on that.

Mr. DeSeve. What I would like to do if I may is to put this on
the next agenda of the President's Council on Integrity and Effi-

ciency, which is the IGs, and ask them to put together a very quick
response for you that we will send up as soon as they have it done.

In this case, it may take us 30 or 45 days from the time of the next
meeting, but I would like to really spotlight that for you if I can.

Senator Glenn. Good. We would appreciate that.

Do you think Mr. Bowsher's estimate that DOD and IRS can
have auditable accounts within 3 years is realistic?

Mr. DeSeve. Yes, sir. I think our friends in DOD will have ac-

counts that can be audited, that are auditable, in compliance with
GMRA for 1996, for fiscal year 1996. I think we will see the first

comprehensive DOD audit in 1997. It will not have a clean opinion.

I think it will take another 2 to 3 years from now to have a clean

opinion in DOD, and there are many issues that have to be dealt

with.

Senator Glenn. Is that a priority?
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Mr. DeSe\te. Yes, sir, I think it is. And again, when we talk

about DOD, we have to give great credit to some of the services.

I think the Army and the Air Force have done an exceptional job
of anticipating GMRA and complying with it. I think some of the
retirement funds have done an exceptional job. Our friends in the
Navy, we do not know yet; we need to find out where they are.

Senator GLENN. Yes, there has been a lot of progress made. We
are all doom and gloom over here sometimes, but I think there has
been a lot of progress made. But I am interested in when we can
get the whole problem really under control, and he thought it could
be done within 3 years.

Mr. DeSeve. I would defer to him.
Senator Glenn. I want to talk to him about that and see what

they think and set a goal, because I am now interested in setting

some milestones and saying that you accomplish this by a certain

time or else.

Mr. DeSeve. He is the auditor. Mr. Stevens, if I may embroider
on one of your comments earlier, the Duke of Wellington before the
battle of Waterloo is reported to have written a letter back to the
Chancellor of the Exchequer, giving him a choice. He said, "Sir, I

may either fill out the forms of your auditors and accountants, or

fight a war, but not do both." Wellington obviously chose Waterloo,
a particular course of action.

Senator Glenn. That is all. We can submit any additional ques-
tions for the record.

Chairman Stevens. Senator Brown?
Senator Brown. Two quick questions. You mentioned the effort

to develop recognition of the commonalities in developing this sys-

tem, and you also mentioned that you hope to have some progress
this spring as you put things forward. Where are we with regard
to the concept of standardized accounts, that is, an "account" mean-
ing the same thing in the Department of Energy as it means in the
Department of Commerce, and having some basic accounts which
are fairly descriptive across-the-board?
Mr. DeSeve. I think the implementation of the standard general

ledger has been—and I always use as a "cheat sheet" my report
here—the implementation of the standard general ledger has been
our benchmark so far for that, and we are at about—and I am
doing this from memory—at about 60 percent across agencies in

systems which implement the standard general ledger. And that is

the first step, as you indicate, to having a code of 503.5 meaning
the same here as it does there. All of the agencies are moving in

that direction, and every new system that is being built imple-
ments the standard general ledger. It is a question of migration
and how quickly we migrate toward that.

But that standard is very clear, and agencies are moving toward
that standard general ledger very quickly.
Senator Brown. Just so that I understand it, you have sent out

to those agencies a list of accounts that they should work toward
and a description of what those standardized accounts should
cover?
Mr. DeSeve. Actually, we did it slightly differently, and this is

something that is very important to being able to get our work
done. We convened a group—and I am going to say about 3 years



34

ago; I was not involved in the beginnings of it—from all of the
agencies across Government, including Treasury, 0MB and GAO.
And every month, they meet and agree—because every once in a
while, you will get a change in definition—they agreed, they put in

place what they believed the standard general ledger categories
were, so that when implementation came around, every agency had
a representative who had been on the Committee and could help
them install and interpret what that SGL was. So it is really more
the work of a group rather than 0MB slapping on the table, "You
will do it this way."

Senator BROWN. What I was concerned about is, as we go
through this process of trying to find areas to control expenditures,
where I would run into it was the fact that in a number of expendi-
ture areas, we did not have a standard account that would reveal,

for example, how much a department had spent on travel, or how
much had been spent on printing, or how much had been spent on
rent, and so on.

Is there a way that your office could forward to us a breakout
of what might be thought of as the overhead accounts and their de-

scriptions?

Mr. DeSeve. We will do our best to try to get that to you, yes,

sir.

Senator Brown. I would appreciate that very much. It is one of

the intriguing things because, at least in business, the kinds of

things you might look at first, I found—and you might correct me,
if you would, on the record—but I found the kinds of things I would
have looked at first in business to cut, we did not even have a way
of ascertaining how much was spent on them. If you think that is

a fair or an unfair comment
Mr. DeSeve. I think it is a very fair concern. It is easier on a

department-by-department basis, but it is harder across depart-
ments.
Senator Brown. Yes. Well, I think that is why your work is so

vital, and I look forward to anything you might send me.
One thing I might just mention, Mr. Chairman, is that it strikes

me the Congress has put you all in somewhat of an awkward posi-

tion, which is not the first or the last time it will happen, with re-

gard to, at least thus far, the decision not to pass a debt increase.

As I understand, one of the things that the Secretary of the Treas-
ury is trying to do to keep things afloat is to coordinate the man-
agement of funds out of the trust funds. And I do not want to use
the wrong term, because I think he is in a tough spot, but I guess
my question is: Is there an accounting standard that FASAB or you
have put forth that deals with trust funds and the debt limit?

Mr. DeSeve. I do not believe the debt limit has been specifically

addressed. It would come in two or three different standards. Let
me look at that and get back to you on it. I do not believe the debt
limit itself has been explicitly addressed. It is a very good question.
Senator Brown. Well, I raise it because it strikes me that with

a statute that puts a limit on how much we can borrow and then
interpreting that, obviously, it becomes critical to the Secretary of

the Treasury as he tries to keep funds available for operation. And
the interpretation of that, it strikes me, comes down to in this cir-

cumstance how you classify the use of trust fund money. And that.
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I would assume, would be an accounting standard or would be
dealt with through an accounting standard. Am I on track there?
Mr. DeSeve. I do not know, and I would like to give you a glib

answer. I do not believe that we have a parallel, either in—in the
private sector, we do not have a parallel. In State governments, the
standard of compliance with laws and regulations which you are fa-

miliar with, which we do have in FASAB, suggests that you look

to the law, that you look to the regulation and interpret the debt
limit which is in statute, appropriately, interpret the trust fund
mandates appropriately.

I do not know that the standard—I know that in government ac-

counting for state and local, it does not go beyond that; it does not
specify that you shall have a debt limit of X or Y, because it recog-

nizes the limit that exists in each state. So I suspect that the
standard in this case will point to the law and—it is a bit circulate,

I admit—will say you must
Senator Brown. It would not necessarily involve an accounting

standard?
Mr. DeSeve. I do not believe that it would, but I would like to

research that and check with our friends at FASAB. I honestly
have not been faced with that question before.

Senator Brown. It is an intriguing question.
Mr. DeSeve. It is a very intriguing question, and I am glad that

you do not have the answer to it, because I do not have the answer
to it, either, without doing some research.
Senator Brown. Thank you.
Chairman STEVENS. Thank you very much. I am sorry to cut you

off, Mr. DeSeve, but I do want to get on to these gentlemen who
have been waiting, also. We appreciate your courtesy, and we get
your point from those reports, all right.

Mr. DeSeve. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you.
Chairman STEVENS. Our next panel includes William R. Phillips,

a principal of Coopers & Lybrand; Kurt Sjoberg, California State
Auditor; and Ted Sheridan, Chairman of the Committee on Govern-
ment Liaison for the Financial Executives Institute.

Gentlemen, what we will do now if it meets your approval is to

ask each of you to testify, and then we will ask questions to the
extent that there is time remaining. I do not want to really limit
you, but I would hope that you could keep your statements to
somewhere around 10 minutes, so that we can all get out of here
sometime after 12.

But you have been very patient, and it is a very serious subject
for us, and we appreciate your willingness to come and share your
views with us.

Mr. PhilHps?

TESTIMONY OF WILLIAM R. PHILLIPS,i PRINCIPAL, COOPERS
& LYBRAND

Mr. Phillips. Mr. Chairman, Senator Glenn, Senator Brown,
thank you for the opportunity to represent Coopers & Lybrand here
today. I am William Phillips, a principal in the firms' Government

^The prepared statement of Mr. Phillips appears on page 74.
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consulting practice located here in Northern Virginia. We are a

group of 600 management, finance, and information technology
consultants, focusing much of our effort on helping Federal agen-

cies deal with the issues around the Chief Financial Officers Act,

GPRA, and GMRA.
In my testimony today, I would like to share with you some of

the results of a survey of Federal agencies, addressing the issue of

implementation of the CFO Act. The results have shown strong

support for and progress in implementing the Act. The Committee
and Congress should be proud of having helped to make this legis-

lation a force for fiscal and program progress.

However, the survey also reveals some issues that Congress
needs to address in order to ensure continued support and
progress.
This past summer. Coopers & Lybrand and the Association of

Government Accountants surveyed nearly 100 Federal agencies to

assess the status of their implementation of the CFO Act and relat-

ed legislation. We surveyed 124 senior financial managers, CFOs,
and deputy CFOs, 26 of the inspectors general, and 150 program
managers—the customers, in many respects—collectively rep-

resenting about 70 percent of the agencies covered by the Act. I

would like to summarize the key findings in three areas—leader-

ship, benefits and progress—a number of things we have already

talked about here this morning.
As relates to leadership, there does appear to be broad support

across the Federal Government for implementing the CFO Act.

Seventy-five percent of the senior financial managers, 81 percent of

the inspectors general, and 66 percent of the program managers

—

and that is what was, I think, striking—noted broad leadership

support for implementing the Act. We defined "leadership" in the

survey as the Secretary, the Deputy Secretary and the assistant

secretaries. Very few of them felt that leadership was a problem.

As to the benefits, several of them are clear, and again, some of

them have already been highlighted here this morning. All three

groups agreed that the benefits of the annual financial statements
justified the initial costs and efforts toward that end.

The inspectors general overwhelmingly agreed that the CFO Act
has contributed to improved financial operations. Specifically, 88
percent of them reported improved financial systems, 96 noted
some improvement in financial data, and most significantly, 100
percent of them recognized that as a result of the Act and related

legislation that internal control procedures were improving. Both
the financial managers and the inspectors general agreed that the

process of developing the statements is more valuable than the ac-

tual statements themselves. The process contributes to a better un-
derstanding of what Government costs are and what drives those

costs.

To gauge each agency's progress along the path of implementa-
tion, we reviewed the responses of the most senior financial man-
agers—again, the CFOs and deputy CFOs—of the 71 agencies that
participated in our survey and from the 26 offices of the inspector

general. Nearly 80 percent of the financial managers reported that
they are now preparing most of the documents and reports re-

quired by the CFO Act and GPRA. Although much work does re-
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main in the area of performance measures, 86 percent reported at

least partial progress. Progress was reported also in terms of inte-

grating financial statement information into the budget process by
about half of the respondents. Unfortunately, the flip side of that

is about one-third said they had not begun to do that.

The bottom line is that 70 percent of the financial managers and
62 percent of the IGs believe that their organizations will have
auditable financial statements by the March 1, 1997 deadline.

Chairman STEVENS. Say that again, please.

Mr. Phillips. Seventy percent of the CFO organizations and 62
percent of the IGs believe that they will have auditable fiscal year
96 financial statements.
Chairman Stevens. Where will the balance work in 1997?
Mr. Phillips. Excuse me?
Chairman STEVENS. Where do you think the balance are going to

work in 1997?
Mr. Phillips. I am—I

Chairman Stevens. Well, you are telling me, if I hear correctly,

that 76 percent are going to comply with the law.

Mr. Phillips. I think the balance are not sure that we are pre-

pared to do that, frankly. The key thing is auditable financial

statements. I think you will have agencies that will prepare finan-

cial statements, but whether a statement is auditable or not is a
very different thing.

Chairman STEVENS. It is my understanding that they must have
it for fiscal 1996—that is the law. I find that a very interesting

statement. Pardon me.
Mr. Phillips. And again, what we have done here is we have

asked them—we have not dug into what each of their respective

positions is, but just asked them what they thought would be the
situation.

Along those lines, there are some other significant challenges
that they both face. Both groups felt—again, the CFOs and the in-

spectors general—that the lack of integrated systems is the biggest
challenge they face. Second, insufficient funding was viewed as a
barrier that needs to be overcome. Additionally, the inspectors gen-
eral felt that the lack of supporting documentation, which gets to

the issue of auditable financial statements, is their greatest barrier
to accomplishing an effective audit of CFO Financial Act state-

ments.
These findings are consistent with the issue of lack of integrated

systems as being the greatest barrier. If the systems are not inte-

grated with the management systems, it is going to be difficult to

develop financial statements, and the auditors will be unable to

render an opinion due to lack of consistent data or, potentially, a
situation of incomplete data.
The financial managers and the IGs were clear that downsizing

and budget cuts are affecting their operations. Only one-third of
the financial managers reported that their offices received addi-
tional funding to implement CFO Act requirements. However,
nearly two-thirds of the financial managers and a majority of the
inspectors general noted that downsizing and the National Per-
formance Review's emphasis on streamlining administration are in
fact hampering their implementation of the Act.
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In conclusion, the survey shows that there has been substantial
progress by most agencies over the past 5 years. Moreover, there
appears to be a wide acceptance of the CFO Act within the finan-
cial and audit communities, as well as with the program managers.

In closing, I would like to offer two recommendations to facilitate

continued implementation of the CFO Act.

The first 5 years of the Act were characterized by Congress re-

questing financial and program information from agencies, sending
them scrambling to collect, analyze and report the data. That was
hard for them to do in many cases, but much good has come from
that effort, as witnessed by the survey respondents. But that is not
enough to sustain the effort.

This year and in years that follow, it is important that Congress
use the financial statements when deliberating that organization's

budget requests. This would visibly integrate the intent of the Act
into the budget process and address one of the questions that we
have heard a lot from them when their concern is that if the finan-

cial statements do not help us somehow, some way, in terms of

budget requests, it becomes difficult to put the full force and intent
of the efforts that you need to meet that Act in place.

Second, implementing the requirements of the CFO Act and re-

lated legislation requires organizational change and resource sup-
port. It is therefore important that Congress protect the offices of

the CFO and the offices of inspector general from excessive
downsizing cuts, while still holding them accountable for improved
financial management and reporting, customer service and cost-ef-

fective operations. These improvements are both necessary and im-
portant. Investing a few million now to implement the CFO Act can
yield billions of dollars of savings in the future.

Supporting the Act is smart business, and we applaud this com-
mittee's efforts toward that end.
Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to appear before

you today. I would be happy to provide you with copies of the sur-

vey; I believe your staff have copies of it. And I would be happy
to answer any questions you might have.
Chairman STEVENS. Thank you. We will have some questions

later.

Mr. Sjoberg?

TESTIMONY OF KURT R. SJOBERG,i CALIFORNIA STATE
AUDITOR

Mr. Sjoberg. Good morning. My name is Kurt Sjoberg, and I am
the State Auditor of California. It is a pleasure to be here this

morning to talk with you about Federal financial management, and
perhaps more specifically as it relates to the Single Audit Act.

I am going to wear two hats this morning. One is that I am chair
of a committee of our National State Auditors Association that
oversees the single audit, but I am also the single auditor, perform-
ing the independent audit of California, which is the largest single

audit in the nation. So we do have several points of view that are
from our own, and my colleagues, the other state auditors, as well
as that from the specific of California being the largest State.

'The prepared statement of Mr. Sjoberg appears on page 77.
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Chairman STEVENS. Do you work for the state or for the legisla-

ture?
Mr. Sjoberg. I am independent of the legislature and the Gov-

ernor both. We are under an independent commission. But I am
nominated by the legislature and appointed by the Governor.

First, my colleagues and I would like to share with you a couple

of key points about the process of looking at these amendments to

the Single Audit Act that are being considered today. I can tell you
that we are very pleased with the cooperation we have had from
the Office of Management and Budget, from GAG, and also from
committee staff. We think that at every occasion, we have had a

full opportunity to share our points of view and our perspective,

and we think that the amended version of the bill is an excellent

vehicle which, after 10 years, is an appropriate time, we think, for

change.
We think that the original Act was successful, and in fact, we

look at it as meeting its objectives; but things have changed in the

past decade, not the least of which has just been a change in the

way that local and State governments manage themselves, but as

well there have been changes even in the area of the amount of

funds that are received by these various entities.

If I might just share with you an anecdote or two from what it

was like prior to the 1984 Act, it must have been about 20 or 25
years ago, I recall an instance when I went to perform an audit at

a particular entity, and when I arrived, the auditee, as we call

them, or the subject of the audit, said, "We understand you have
the power to do an audit here, but we do not have any room for

you because we have three other Federal auditors and two other
state auditors here, as well as our independent CPA, and we phys-
ically do not have a place for you to sit."

I think that while that might be an extreme, it does characterize

to a certain degree what it was like when the audits that were
being done were uncoordinated and oftentimes, as I consider them,
ill-timed.

So the Single Audit Act came together, and further, I might just

add that although there may have been five or six different audi-

tors there, we were all looking at slightly different areas, although
we looked at the same sets of books, because obviously, the expend-
itures were being processed by this one entity through its central
system. So we were oftentimes basically competing for the same
records.

But we did not really share our work. We did not have access

—

actually, at the time of that experience, I was with the General Ac-
counting Office, so I did not have access to the records of the other
Federal agencies nor did the state auditors who were doing the
work.
So we did our work, and it was clearly duplicative of audit work

that was being done by these other entities. What the 1984 Act did
was bring together for the first time the concept of build-upon au-
dits. That is to say, each entity that received a certain level of Fed-
eral funds would have an audit, and in our case in California, that
is done by my office. And then, in the instance that a Federal agen-
cy or some other auditor needed more information than we were
providing at the level of auditing we were doing, they would be
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able to do that, but they would do it in such a way as to build upon
the work that we had already done. They would look at our work-
ing papers, they would determine and thus assure that they did
not unnecessarily duplicate the work that had already gone on. It

made a lot of sense, and it certainly received the audited entity
from seeing all of these different auditors.

It was for those reasons that we embraced the Act and brought
about the changes that were accomplished in 1984. There were
problems, however, in the initial implementation. The Federal in-

spectors general, I believe—some of them; I should qualify that

—

believed that all of a sudden, they now controlled 50 separate state
auditors and, likewise, local auditors and so forth, because the Act
did mandate certain things be done. And as the State of California,

we had early on decided to be one of the first states to assume the
state-wide audit. We saw and we did have some initial problems
dealing with the Federal sector, in terms of whether we were work-
ing with them or whether we were working for the state, and they
could build upon our work.
So we did have some initial problems with the implementation.

The Act was well enough drafted, however, that we could always
look back to it, and we could say there is nowhere in here that says
that we will do your beck and call. We are to do an audit meeting
certain standards, and we will assure that that audit is accom-
plished, but we are not there to look at new areas for you or to do
specific things at your direction.

So we worked that out, and in fact, over the ensuing years, as
other states have come on line, they have not repeated the prob-
lems we saw in early 1985.

So, as I said, after 10 years, we think the original Act has be-

come a success, and we think it is meeting its goals, but it is time
to make some improvements.
Just two of the reasons that I think we should consider amend-

ing the Act and doing it this year are the change in the threshold

—

by raising that threshold to $300,000, we are going to relieve ad-
ministrative burden and audit costs from literally hundreds, and
perhaps thousands even in our state, of smaller local entities that
will no longer have to meet these very rigorous and narrow stand-
ards that the Single Audit Act requires. Even in California's in-

stance, on the largest end, there are changes proposed there which
will relieve us of some of our administrative burden, and we do not
think that it will in any way be a reduction in the amount of audit
coverage that we are able to provide the Federal Government.
So that by changing the threshold even at the highest level, it

will give some relief to the larger entities as well. That, coupled
with an area that is called the risk-based audit approach, we think
those two areas, amongst all the other changes, are worthy of this

bill.

In that area, it is very simple—where can we get the most bang
for the buck with the audit dollar. We ought to have the flexibility

with the Federal Government to agree that some area has not been
audited in years, and we ought to focus some resources there. That
is our plan with the way we would use the concept of a risk-based
audit. I think it makes absolute sense. It is the best use of the rare
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audit dollars that exist at the state level and certainly at the Fed-

eral level.

I have paraphrased my presentation, but again I want to empha-
size that we are very pleased with 0MB, GAO, and the Committee
staffs continued acceptance of our concerns and approaches. The
National State Auditors Association embraces the concept of these
amendments. We have one or two small items that we want to

share that we think will clarify or perhaps make the bill even a

little better, but we are talking about just tweaking it at this point.

We think it is a very excellent piece of work.
Chairman Stevens. Good. We appreciate that, and we will look

forward to those statements. I have heard from the Alaska State

Auditor, also, and similar comments, and we are going to send him
the statements and the bills, and we will be happy to have your
written suggestions and consider them.
Mr. Sjoberg. Thank you.

Chairman Stevens. Mr. Sheridan?

TESTIMONY OF TED SHERIDAN,i CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE ON
GOVERNMENT LIAISON, FINANCIAL EXECUTIVES INSTITUTE

Mr. Sheridan. My name is Ted Sheridan. I am president of

Sheridan Management and chairman of the Financial Executives
Institute's Committee on Government Liaison.

As you may know, FEI is a professional association of some
14,000 senior financial people, and I have logged 15 years myself
as a CFO of major corporations.

I began my association with the CFO Act over a decade ago,

working on a Grace Commission recommendation in that area. I

testified before Senator Roth and before Senator Glenn during that
period of time. And I think that at the 5-year mark, maybe we
should do some midcourse corrections to take a look and see wheth-
er we are getting where the Act should be. And, rather than dwell
on my prepared text, I am going to try to deal with only those
things that have been brought up by the Senators this morning.

First of all, Chuck Bowsher mentioned the notion of an annual
report, and I think that is one of the best ideas out there. Further,
I think that this annual report should have the mission of the en-
tity, the mission of the association, very well spelled out and should
have all of those things that are necessary to understand what they
need to do the job. It should then be forwarded to the various over-
sight committees and the appropriations committees—Senator Ste-
vens on Defense, Senator Glenn, Senator Warner, John McCain;
these people should have this document before them, knowing
about the stewardship of these entities before they go forward in
the authorization and also going on to appropriations. That would
be our firm recommendation.
We would also hope that this would be the means by which—and

this will go right to Senator Stevens' point—that we can create doc-
uments where the financial reports that we see will trace over into
the budgetary process as we go forward so that they will have rel-

evance not only for those people who are performing, but those that

'The prepared statement of Mr. Sheridan appears on page 78.
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have to have the oversight and the appropriations responsibihties
up here.

I further go on to talk about the notion that these entities should
be able to do the job that Senator Glenn talked about inside of 5

years. I have been with John Hamre, and I have talked it over with
him. I think he could do that job in 3 years—5 years at the out-

side—but there are some problems, and this relates to what Bill

Phillips was talking about and what Senator Stevens asked about.
Some of the issues about getting a clean audit are clearly beyond

the capability of those people who simply manage those depart-
ments. There are issues here that relate to—we talk about the EPA
problems that our Air Force has. I have worked with Bob Hale, the
assistant secretary there, on trying to handle some of these prob-

lems. When you try to create a liability, the notion of what a liabil-

ity will be in the future, you are dealing with some very, very dif-

ficult concepts.

Now, FASAB has put down a ruling on this, but it is only about
so big, and if you look at 0MB, or if you look at GAO, the guidance
given to the field simply is not there, and the folks have never done
this before. So what we are saying is that we are going to have to

go into this, looking at the audits in the following fashion. Rather
than look at DOD as a huge entity that is so big, so complex, that
you can never get your around it, you would go down to the legal

entity basis—and FASAB provides for this—find those entities that

we can audit, that are auditable, do them first and have a program
of systematic audits. So there will be a scorecard that will say, OK,
there are some issues out here that are going to be so difficult to

deal with that we will put them into what, in the private sector,

you call the "good bank" and "bad bank." You take some issues that
you know are going to be difficult to work, and you put them off.

In the meantime, you go to those entities that are part of the cut-

ting-edge delivery of services and make sure that they are working.
I would far rather know that air combat command is doing its job

well, that it has its financial house in order, that try to account for

some bombs that have been out in the desert for 20 or 30 years.

In doing this, we also want to talk about some technology, and
Senator Stevens, you apparently shop at Wal-Mart quite a bit

Chairman Stevens. I have never been in one of their stores; I

read about them, though.
Mr. Sheridan. There are things that can be done here from the

point of view of technology, and I think that technology could be
the answer to the problem. A lot of the problems are data entry
problems. You have all of those clerks out in Columbus and Cleve-
land, shuffling pieces of paper. The technology exists now to use
image scanning to get it into the system, or require that your ven-
dors use electronic commerce, so that it is all in digital form. Then,
with this, you have the integrity of the data going in, you utilize

advanced telecommunications and relational databases to keep
track of it; then you can do exactly what you want, and would also

have the ability to have the unit level have the integrity of their

system, so you can go down and put hour hand on somebody's
shoulder and say, "You believe in these statements," but you could
still have them roll up, and they could come out the top with the
unified statement that you want.
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I have talked to Bob Hale about this. He said, "Ted, I sign these

CFO reports—I have to do it by law—but I cannot honestly account
for all of these steps because we have lost track of the accountabil-

ity." I think it would be important to bring that back.

Finally, in the area of trying to get the proper folks to work on
the problem, from a financial executives' point of view, what we
would propose is to offer a means by which we would help to bring

people from the financial sector in, senior financial officers, to act

as an advisory board for the 24 CFO Act companies and to be an
independent audit group; bring some of the experience that we
have had in downsizing and in rescheduling and in putting in new
systems, to be the right-hand man of the Secretary and the CFO.
And we are prepared to do that right now.

I am happy to answer any questions you have of me.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you very much.
I should say for the record that I have no interest in Wal-Mart,

and I believe there is not one near me, so I do not go there. But
a friend of mine told me about it and said if you want to under-
stand implementation of new technology, you have got to look at

Wal-Mart, so I have done a lot of reading about Wal-Mart.
But I do think that one of the problems we have here is that it

appears that we are getting to the point—if I understand what the

three of you have said—where we have mandated compliance in

the total accounting sense for the information that comes to us, we
have required accountability, and perhaps that is what Mr. Phillips

is saying, that there are some people who do not want to become
accountable for the systems that they have to report.

Is that what you are saying, Mr. Sheridan? Are you saying what
he is saying, that if the system does not work, it is because some
people cannot verify the reports that come to them?
Mr. Sheridan. Exactly. They are not in a position because the

accounting systems are so diverse, and many of them are coming
up, getting financial information from so-called feeder systems that
are not designed for financial reporting.

For instance, you will use a payroll system of a personnel system
and try to strip off the information, so you lose the integrity of it.

And I can see how somebody would say, "I just cannot attest to the
fact that that is a good number," and in good conscience, he would
like to be able to do that, but the system does not provide the op-
portunity to do that.

Chairman Stevens. Now, Mr. Phillips, if I may, I understood
your testimony to indicate that there are some people who did not
think they would comply.
Mr. Phillips. That is correct—not because they do not want to

comply, but because they do not think they can comply. And that
is a function of the things we have talked about here today—that
is, we are being asked to have auditable financial statements. If

the systems, if the business processes and procedures in place do
not allow that to happen, I can put together financial statements
for you, I can send a piece of paper forward, but whether those are
auditable or not is in question. It is not an issue of wanting to; it

is an issue of being able to.
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Chairman Stevens. Well, I do not want to belabor this, but how
do I find that guy? How do I find a person who is not getting to

the point where we can get a financially auditable statement?
I was just sajdng to staff, one of the things that compels Senators

to pay up their bills around here is that when I was chairman of

the Rules Committee, I said we are going to start posting your
names if you do not pay your bills. You would be surprised how
fast people pay their bills when they see their names on a wall.

Why wouldn't that work here? Why don't we find some way to

put the names of the people who are not doing their work in the
Congressional Record, so the world knows why we do not have an
auditable statement? What I am telling you is that there is no
sanction in this law. There is no sanction in the CFO law.

Mr. Phillips. You have the names of the people in the CFOs, in

the IGs, and in the secretaries of the agencies. Those are the peo-

ple

Chairman Stevens. They are the ones who will not certify it be-

cause someone down below them will not give them the informa-
tion; right?

Mr. Phillips. That is right, and they are the ones who have re-

sponsibility for implementing these requirements. The challenge
becomes sanctioning people who are trying to make something hap-
pen that cannot happen because the systems will not allow it to

happen.
Chairman STEVENS. Well, I wonder if it is not back to what Sen-

ator Glenn asked—there are some people there who just do not
want to put down the truth, who do not want to indicate that they
have some unsolvable problems that they have been unwilling to

attack.

Every once in a while, I find that someone in my office has an
drawerful of correspondence that they are just unwilling to answer.
We found one that was a couple of years old, as a matter of fact.

That person is no longer there, but how do I find a way to tell

other people who that person is so that they are not there? There
is something holding up the system, in my opinion, if we do not get
these reports the way the law requires.

Do you have any suggestions as to how we can get the informa-
tion as to who is not performing?
Mr. Phillips. Well, I think that you actually have a situation

today that you did not have, let us say, 2 years ago or 3 years ago,

just in terms of who the people are that are in those positions now.
In putting this survey together and working with the IGs and

the CFOs, they were pretty forthright about what they want to do
and what they are trying to accomplish. And I think that, probably
better than any other time in recent history, we have people in

place who want to make this happen. And I think that by working
with them and by talking with them and having them come and
talk to you, that those people are willing to be open about these
kinds of things.

Chairman Stevens. Mr. Sjoberg, I spent 4 years in the state leg-

islature, and I think it must be a happier place now. I remember
when the Federal auditors used to come into our legislative audit-
ing agency; we thought we were doing the auditing, and suddenly,
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they thought they had the right to take over. It sounds to me hke
we worked that out.

Mr. Sjoberg. We did, and we do hke the concept of doing the

base audit ourselves and then, as the need arises for additional

work to be done—we understand the Federal Government has a

right to trace their dollars wherever they are spent—but our agen-

cies then do not believe that they are being "over-audited" or that

they are unnecessarily being burdened by having to gather infor-

mation for more than one set of auditors in a given year.

Chairman Stevens. Mr. Sheridan, do you have a relationship

with Mr. Phillips company? What is your relationship to this com-
pany?
Mr. Sheridan. I have gotten to know his company through the

work that I have done in telecommunications and in Indonesia,

where I have done a lot of work. Their company asked me to make
some comments on the CFO Act survey, and I have done that, and
they were nice enough to put my picture in their magazine, as a

matter of fact.

Chairman Stevens. That is progress, I guess. But what I am try-

ing to find out is whether the Financial Executives Institute—is

that a corporate Financial Executives Institute?

Mr. Sheridan. The Financial Executives Institute is composed of

8,000 companies out there that have 14,000 people, mostly control-

lers and treasurers and chief financial officers. We are based on the

chapter level in cities all over the country. Then we have so-called

technical committees—a Committee on taxation, a Committee on
Government reporting; we have one which is the Committee on
Government liaison, where we are trying to get information from
this city out to our chapters so that they can anticipate changes in

various laws, tax regulations.

On the other hand, we also have offered our services to help as

a resource to this community when asked. We testify when it is re-

quested. We got to know Bob Hale because he found out about our
work, and he called us up and said, "We need some help from the
private sector." That is how I got to know him. I went over, and
we talked about contingent liabilities and measurement things.

So that basically, we are resource and information pool for our
members.
Chairman Stevens. Well, that is good. I am glad to know about

that resource. We might call on it when we get to reorganization.

Mr. Sheridan. We would be pleased to do that, sir.

Chairman Stevens. My last question is to Mr. Phillips. You did
this survey for whom?

Mr. Phillips. We did it in conjunction with the Association of

Government Accountants. We did it jointly because we felt there
were tremendous opportunities for sharing progress and ap-
proaches to implementing the Act across agencies that we did not
think was happening, and so we hoped that this would be a cata-
lyst for best practices in benchmarking across Federal agencies.
Chairman STEVENS. I am most interested in it. Who paid for it?

Mr. Phillips. Coopers & Lybrand paid for it.

Chairman Stevens. You are a foundation, then?
Mr. Phillips. No. We are a private partnership.
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Chairman STEVENS. I find it very interesting. There are very dis-

tinct statistics. I want to read it—you gave it to us, didn't you?
Mr. Phillips. Yes, sir. Your staff has a copy.

Chairman Stevens. Thank you.
John?
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I was glad to have a copy of that survey, too. Could you discuss

in a little more detail how the IGs and the CFOs differ, where their
views converge and diverge, because we have heard that early on
in this program, there was some problem with the CFOs and IGs
working closely together. Maybe you have some insights on how
that is working out now.
Mr. Phillips. I think there is some natural conflict, just by the

nature of the way they were designed. And in fact there is a third

party in here that we talk about in the survey, and that is the
GAO, because all three of them were asked a number of questions
about who should do the financial audits, and they all had slightly

different opinions on that.

I think that the issue with the groups boils down to the roles

that they have played traditionally. When we asked the IGs what
they saw as their role in auditing, they said that they felt that
Congress wanted them to play more the investigative audit role.

And that is important, and you need to have that, but in terms of

the financial auditing, in terms of the traditional approach that
firms take with financial auditing, it is much more of a partner-
ship, working with the organization and trying to help them
through their shortcomings.
That is a tough switch to make when the group that you are ask-

ing to do that has traditionally been the investigative arm.
Senator Glenn. Mr. Sheridan, Senator Brown has legislation to

codify FASAB's accounting standards, basically. Two questions.
One, how is the FASAB process working, in your view, and would
it help to put it into law, or is that something that we do not really

need?
Mr. Sheridan. Well, their process has been excellent. For the

first time, we now have the foundation on which to build. In the
private sector, we have something similar, the National Accounting
Standards Board, which is independently monitored, and the enti-

ties, the corporations, voluntarily agree to do this. However, beyond
that, the SEC has some codified aspects that are in law.

I think that to codify them as law would probably be a good idea
because then it becomes the law of the land, but I would say that
some of the issues in FASAB are judgmental, and it is awfully hard
to codify judgmental issues like environmental cleanups and some
of these contingent liabilities. But to the degree we can, I think
that would be a good idea.

Senator Glenn. Yes. Some of my hesitancy is along that line on
codifying these as Senator Brown would propose to do, in that it

becomes less flexible once it is locked into statutory law, and there
you are, and then you have to have a law to change it if you need
any changes; where I think it is a little bit more flexible now and
more adaptable—and maybe that is good, maybe it is bad; I do not
know.
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Mr. Sjoberg, your concerns on this are our concerns, too. The
changes you suggest, the threshold change, we have in the pro-

posal, and I think we give it perhaps even more flexibility than you
indicated in your statement, in that we even take that 300,000 and
say that that is even adjustable or, if they want to make a case for

it, that they could even change that threshold; on exceptional cases,

they could give a waiver there. So that makes it even a little more
flexible.

Mr. Sjoberg. Yes, it does.

Senator Glenn. And the other, on the risk-based audit approach,
I think we have that in there, also. So I think we are doing pretty

much what you talked about, so I think we are moving along the

same line here.

To all of you—in your observations about getting accountability

from Government, personal accountability, is civil service an im-
pediment to this?

[Pause.]

You know what I am thinking about. Mr. Sheridan, you would
be a good one to take this on because you represent some of the

private interests and how they manage their affairs, and if some-
one does not shape up, and they are not compl3dng with the finan-

cial accountability standards that you have in a certain corpora-

tion, they are out—that is it, they are gone.
Civil service is a little more difficult. It is a little more difficult

to fire people and get rid of them. Is that an impediment to more
efficiency in Government?
Mr. Sheridan. I think we are seeing progress moving from the

top down—the 24 CFOs we have who are political appointees, and
their deputies, who by and large are career. We have a good cadre
at that level, and I think it is moving down into the ranks.

Like in any corporation that restructures, there is going to be
some pain, and there are going to be some people who no longer
fit the bill. As we move into information technology, the people who
are specialized paper-shuffiers are going to, by attrition or other
means, just go out of the system. So I think it is going to work its

way over time, but I think the implementation of new and better,

modernized systems is going to bring a different kind of person into

financial management regimes.
Senator Glenn. Only very, very rarely in Government does

someone pay personally for not performing. As the chairman point-

ed out, we have certain requirements here, and they are not going
to be lived up to necessarily, and nobody will pay for that and prob-
ably nobody will get fired for that. In private industry, they well
might. That threat is always there. So they have a lot more impe-
tus or a lot more incentive to comply, perhaps.

I do not know whether this is a major factor in accountability in

Government or not. If it is, we ought to correct it; if it is not, there
is no need to beat a dead horse.
Mr. Sjoberg?
Mr. Sjoberg. Senator Glenn, 2V2 years ago, my office went

through a major reorganization, and we were essentially closed for

9 months. And when we reopened, we had to assume civil servant
requirements of our State Constitution. We had for over 35 years
been an exempt organization; that is to say, we could hire and fire
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at will. And since I manage under both systems, I might have a
little different view than I would have had a few years back.

I can say that our new organization—because we have taken full

advantage of all of the flexibility that is available through the civil

service, including failing people on probation or actually removing
people for cause—has assured that we maintain a certain level of
accountability, and we have also instituted a pay-for-performance
type of promotional system. All of those were within our constitu-
tional boundaries.
The problem I see is the infrastructure of—we are only 2y2 years

old, so if we started out right, I think we will be fine. What hap-
pens to that agency that has been operating in such a way for 30
or 50 years? Therein lies the problem, and I think that what hap-
pens is that after a certain point in time, some individuals become
entrenched, and by that entrenchment, they do feel as though they
basically have a property right for their jobs, irrespective of how
well they do it.

I think that at some point in civil service reform—and we have
addressed that even in California—has to address the complacency
that might occur in some civil servants after they have been there
for 10 or 15 years, and to assure they maintain a certain level of

competency. I think that with a change at that level, we will be
able to assure that civil servants are not an impediment.
Senator GLENN. We know that efficiency saves money—obvi-

ously, that is accepted going in. It is difficult to quantify savings,
where an organization is working more efficiently, but do you have
any estimates of that? We just know that doing a single audit like

you are talking about—you doing the threshold or basic audit, and
then building on that; that is more efficient and is bound to save
money. Have you been able to quantify any of that—I imagine it

would be difficult to do—but either savings for the Federal Govern-
ment in accomplishing their audit purposes and/or the State gov-
ernment doing theirs? Is there any way to put a dollar value to

that?
Mr. Sjoberg. Well, we have tracked dollar savings for probably

15 or 20 years now in our office, and we do see currently about a
$10 return for every dollar of audits
Senator Glenn. So, a 10 to one return.
Mr. Sjoberg. Ten to one. It was $6 up until our reorganization,

so something that we did streamlined it even more. So for the last

2V2 years, it has been 10 to one.

Senator Glenn. How do you—it is late now, so I do not want to

belabor this much further—but how do you come up with a 10 to

one ratio—dollars spent on what to what?
Mr. Sjoberg. Well, we actually look at the improvements that

have been made as a result of our recommendations; that is to say,

track the implementation of recommendations
Senator Glenn. Where a certain function is being performed,

and you have suggested certain things, and that same function is

being performed at lesser cost.

Mr. Sjoberg. Yes, so we have a before and after measure. And
we have never even annualized some of these. I know that some
of my audit colleagues have thought, well, if you make one change,
and that would have been a problem that recurred for years and
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years and years, shouldn't you multiple that times some future

date? Well, when we are using our 10 to one, we are using the one-

year dollar cost recovery.

And that does not address, however, the qualitative benefits that

come from audits, and that is just the improved services and things

of that kind. So what I always like to do—and certainly, we are

proud of a 10 to one return—but I use that in context and say that
we also make recommendations that improve Government, improve
accountability, which are not measurable in dollars and cents.

Senator Glenn. Well, I have been preaching for years that there
are three parts to the budgeting process. One is revenues, another
is expenditures, and the other is efficiency—and we never get

around to efficiency, and that is the reason for CFO and all the rest

of these things here. But it is awfully difficult to quantify.

If you have any studies like that that you have done, where you
got your 10 to one, if you have a report on that that you could give

to us, we would appreciate that for the Committee files, if you
could give us a little guidance in that area.

Mr. Sjoberg. Sure; we will do that when we get back.
Senator Glenn. Do you have any similar things, Mr. Sheridan?
Mr. Sheridan. Yes, sir. In that regard, if we were to cut back

through efficiency on either the outlays or the assets employed, 2.5

percent, you could balance the budget today. And to get a 2.5 per-

cent reduction in the output, the costs, seems to me as a former
CFO is a job that I could probably find a way to do that. And I

think that is what we have got to do is put the encouragement
there to the CFOs, actually, to put in measures of the efficiency of

the delivery of the services, and then do cost accounting to figure
out what it is costing to deliver that, and then we would know
whether we could cut those costs or not. It is possible.

Senator Glenn. Yes. Mr. Phillips, do you have any comment?
Mr. Phillips. Just to add to what Mr. Sheridan was sajdng, in

the application of things like activity-based costing, which tells you
what it costs to really do something as opposed to the way that we
traditionally manage in terms of payroll lines, travel lines, travel
lines, training lines, budget lines—those are the kinds of things
that we need to get to so that we know what we are paying for.

And the performance measures, focusing on our customers, will

allow us to determine and will allow you to determine if in fact the
agencies are doing what they are supposed to be doing.
Senator Glenn. Thank you, gentlemen. I appreciate it very

much. You have been very patient. It has been a long morning
here. I appreciate you being here.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Stevens. I will just close with this. Mr. Phillips, I

have been leafing through your summary, and I was very inter-
ested to see that the senior financial managers ranked their pro-
gram managers as the most important with regard to what they
are assimilating in terms of their office, and that organizational
leadership was second. The public was down, in terms of the top
two categories, to only 10 percent. The Congress was at 28 percent.
And I am not arguing with your figures, but where is the failure?
Did you analyze that? The information really was designed for the
public and for us who represent the public to try to determine the
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proficiency and efficiency and the necessity for the organization in-

volved.
Have we failed somehow or another to get across why these re-

ports are being prepared?
Mr. Phillips. Well, I think you need—and we did some focus

groups with them as part of this process—I think you need to real-

ly take a look at how those reports are used on an operational
basis, on a day-to-day basis. And the CFOs do in fact see that the
program managers, who need that financial information to make
hopefully sound business decisions in their day-to-day operations,
have that information.
Chairman Stevens. You are assessing their function rather than

the reports that we are talking about; right?
Mr. Phillips. What I am sa3ring is that in terms of a day-to-day

use of this kind of information, it is the program managers, who
have to execute major policies and major programs in the Govern-
ment, who need to have this from an operational perspective on a
day-to-day basis.

I do not think that if you asked the CFOs that they would say,

well, yes. Congress is sort of a tertiary customer or that the Amer-
ican public is not really that important, which is what those num-
bers might tell you if you look at them very quickly.

But what they are responding to is the fact that, on a day-to-day
basis, they are not interacting as a CFO with the American public;

they are interacting with program managers and trying to in fact

instill in them and with them fiscal responsibility.

So I think it is more of an emphasis on an operational basis as
opposed to

Chairman Stevens. Well, the financial management community,
which I would think would be 0MB and CBO and GAO, were even
lower than the other two. I am very interested in your report, and
I am going to have to study it. It does indicate to me that we may
need some greater emphasis in the targets. I think, in a period of
declining discretionary spending, that these people had better un-
derstand that the information they are sending to us is going to de-
termine whether they are at the high, middle, or low end of the
totem pole as far as money when the cuts come, and that is what
I thought they were for.

I do appreciate your long wait and your help, and I am delighted
to know, Mr. Sheridan, that you are there. We will be calling on
you next year, and maybe you, too, Mr. Phillips. Thank you very
much for coming in.

This is going to be the last meeting of this committee this year.
I will just announce that right now.
We stand adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 12:25 p.m., the Committee was adjourned.]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF CHARLES A. BOWSHER

Financial Management

continued momentum essential to achieve cfo act goals

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
I am very pleased to be here today to discuss the steady progress being made to

improve financial management in the federal government through implementation
of the Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act of 1990. This landmark legislation was en-

acted 5 years ago thanks to the hard work of this Committee and its House counter-

part. But, as I will outline today, a great deal more perseverance will be required

to sustain the current momentum and successfully overcome decades of serious ne-

glect in fundamental financial management operations and reporting methods.
To address these problems, the 1990 CFO Act spelled out an ambitious agenda

of long overdue reforms. The CFO Act established a CFO structure in 24 major
agencies and the Office of Management and Budget (0MB) to provide the necessary
leadership and focus. To help instill greater accountability and fix pervasive and
costly control breakdowns, financial statements were required to be prepared and
audited, beginning with those for fiscal year 1991, for revolving and trust funds and
commercial activities. For 10 agencies, audited financial statements were required

as part of a pilot program to test this concept for an agency's entire operations.

Moreover, the CFO Act set expectations for

—the deployment of modern systems to replace existing antiquated, often manual,
processes;

—the development of better performance and cost measures; and
—the design of results-oriented reports on the government's financial condition

and operating performance by integrating budget, accounting, and program in-

formation.

Important progress is being achieved to bring about these sweeping reforms and
rectify the devastating legacy from inattention to financial management. 0MB con-

tinues to play an important leadership role and a cadre of qualified CFOs are now
in place and are seeking to make needed improvements. Similarly, the Inspectors
General (IG) are embracing their new financial audit responsibilities. Additionally,
much needed comprehensive accounting standards are nearing completion, and ef-

forts are underway to further strengthen the quality of financial reporting. In short,

financial management is finally becoming a top priority of federal managers.
Moreover, the regular preparation of financial statements and independent audit

opinions required by the 1990 act are bringing greater clarity and understanding
to the scope and depth of problems and needed solutions. These annual public report
cards are also generating increased pressure to fix long-standing problems. The suc-

cess of these efforts formed the basis for congressional action last year to pass the
Government Management Reform Act of 1994, which expanded to all 24 CFO Act
agencies the requirement for the preparation and audit of financial statements for

their entire operations, beginning with those for fiscal year 1996. This essential ex-

pansion of the CFO Act's requirements provides a greater impetus for accelerated
governmentwide implementation of financial management reform.

Also the 1994 act requires the preparation and audit of consolidated executive
branch financial statements, beginning with those for fiscal year 1997. For the first

time, the American public will have an annual report card on the results of current
operations and the financial condition of its national government. This, in conjunc-
tion with the 24 CFO Act agencies' financial statements will set the foundation for

the federal government to have the same kind of financial reporting as had already

(51)
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been required (1) by the securities laws for the private sector, partly in response
to the stock market crash of 1929 and (2) by the Single Audit Act for state and local

governments, driven in part by financial crises such as experienced by New York
City in the early 1970s.

Making these reforms a reality in the federal government, however, remains a
challenge for us all. Today, I want to focus on the four main implementation chal-

lenges to build upon the progress to date and put lasting improvements in place.

They are:

—first, successfully implementing the expanded requirements for audited finan-

cial statements to improve the reliability of data for decision-making and
strengthen the efficiency of financial operations and controls;

—second, continuing to build stronger financial management organizations by up-
grading skill levels, enhancing training, and ensuring that CFOs possess all the
necessary authorities within their agencies to achieve change;

—third, devising and applying more effective solutions to address difficult prob-
lems plaguing agencies' underlying financial systems; and

—fourth, designing comprehensive accountability reports to permit more thorough
and objective assessments of agencies' performance and financial conditions, as
well as to enhance the budget preparation and deliberation process.

In addition to achieving improvements in financial management at the federal level,

this Committee has spearheaded greater oversight of hundreds of billions of dollars
in federal spending at the state and local levels through the passage of the Single
Audit Act in 1984. This act helps provide accountability for federal payments and
instill fundamental elements of good financial management in state and local gov-
ernments. The Committee in considering amendments to the act, which I will also

address, to improve the effectiveness of the single audit process.

I want to commend the Committee for holding this hearing; sustained congres-
sional attention to implementation of financial management legislation will be im-
portant in instilling greater accountability throughout the federal government and
helping better control the cost of its operations. Thanks in large part to the legisla-

tive impetus of the expanded CFO Act and the Government Performance and Re-
sults Act—efforts led by this Committee—decisionmakers will ultimately have avail-

able unprecedented, reliable information on both the financial condition of programs
and operations and the performance and costs of these activities.

Also, I will discuss the role this Committee could play in continuing to build on
the foundation established through these laws for establishing a strong financial

management organizational structure and revolutionizing the type and quality of fi-

nancial information for decisionmaking. I believe this Committee, with the support
of GAO, can work with the rest of the Congress to ensure that the wealth of new
information to be generated through these statutory requirements will be provided
to and used by appropriations, budget, and authorizing committees of the Congress
and to bring the CFO Act's goals to fruition.

Data Reliability and Financial Operations are Beginning to Improve

To date, CFO Act financial audits have resulted in greater data reliability and im-
proved financial operations. Under the expanded act, all 24 CFO Act agencies can
begin to gain the benefits demonstrated by those agencies that have already suc-
cessfully undergone full-scale financial audits. This is absolutely critical and will put
the federal government on a par with the private sector and state and local govern-
ments, which have already made the necessary investment in financial manage-
ment.
There is widespread consensus that the preparation and audit of financial state-

ments has been the primary catalyst to increase the reliability of financial data and
improve financial operations. During the past 5 years, due to the CFO Act's require-
ment, we have seen audit coverage substantially increase to almost half of the gov-
ernment's annual gross budget authority. Beginning with fiscal year 1996, due to

the expanded CFO Act, audit coverage will expand to cover the entire operations
of the 24 CFO Act agencies, which currently account for virtually all of the govern-
ment's outlays.

Also, agencies are progressing in receiving unqualified audit opinions. In four
cases, (the Social Security, General Services, and National Aeronautics and Space
Administrations and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission) unqualified opinions were
rendered on fiscal year 1994 financial statements covering agencies' entire oper-
ations. These agencies, which covered about 23 percent of the government's fiscal

year 1994 outlays, have demonstrated that preparing auditable financial statements
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is possible and, with priority and emphasis, can be achieved by the remaining 20
CFO Act agencies as well.

In addition, there has been significantly greater commitment by the administra-

tion and agencies to effectively implement the CFO Act's expanded financial state-

ment preparation and audit requirements. For example, 0MB made it clear from
the outset that it would not grant any waivers, although it has the authority to

waive the requirement for fiscal years 1996 and 1997; thus, helping to ensure great-

er adherence to the statutory timetable. Also, 0MB, Treasury, and GAO have been
meeting with agency CFOs and IGs to build consensus, and we have generally seen

a good commitment being given to preparing and auditing financial statements. For
instance, some agencies, such as the Departments of Interior and Education, are on
an accelerated schedule to having agencywide financial statements year before the

act requires. Several CFOs and IGs have caveated their optimism, however, by the

prospects that funding constraints could hold for dampening this momentum and
hampering plans for meeting the act's fiscal year 1996 requirement.

It is essential that this time frame be met. As we have discussed in prior testi-

monies before the Congress, audited financial statements have provided signifi-

cantly more accurate and useful information on the government's financial status

and its operations, i Further, CFO Act financial audits have provided a greater un-
derstanding of the extent and nature of the financial control and systems problems
facing the government, and a better appreciation for the limited extent to which the

Congress and program managers can rely on the information they receive. Effective

implementation of the CFO Act's expanded requirement for audited financial infor-

mation is essential for more informed decision-making and better accountability in

virtually every major aspect of the government's operations, as the following exam-
ples illustrate.

Improving Revenue Collection Operations Essential to Fund the Government

In fiscal year 1994, the federal government collected a reported over $1.3 trillion

in revenue, primarily from individual and corporate income taxes and import duties,

fines, and fees. Reliable financial data are necessary to ensure that the government
assesses and collects more of the revenue that is due from these sources. This, how-
ever, is not yet the case, as shown by our financial audits at the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) and the U.S. Customs Service.

The Internal Revenue Service

The process of preparing and auditing financial statements for the government's
primary revenue collection agency has surfaced significant problems affecting its op-

erations and credibility. For example, through these audits, it came to light during
our first audit of IRS's financial statements—those for fiscal year 1992—that IRS
could not

—^verify or reconcile its $1.3 trillion in reported revenues to its accounting records;

—substantiate amounts for various types of taxes reported, such as social secu-

rity, income, and excise taxes, although the amounts of these taxes are to be
separately maintained;

—reconcile its cash accounts with Treasury's;
—substantiate its billions of dollars of gross and net accounts receivables, and
—adequately account for its annual operating funds.

To its credit, IRS has made a commitment to institute changes. Through the
strong support of the Commissioner, the agency has made important strides to ad-
dress its far-reaching financial management problems. IRS successfully imple-
mented a new administrative accounting system in fiscal year 1993 that can better
account for its more than $7 billion in annual operating funds. It entered into an
agreement with the Department of Agriculture's National Finance Center and now
has control over its $5 billion payroll operations, which was lacking at the time of
our first audit. It has taken physical inventories of its equipment and is beginning
to get full control over these assets. IRS has ongoing efforts, including the use of
outside contractors, to resolve its cash reconciliation problems and to strengthen its

internal controls over payments.
Finally, although necessary systems changes to bring revenue accounting up to

reasonable expectations have not been completed, better estimates of collectible de-
linquent taxes are now being developed as part of the financial statement prepara-
tion process so that the Congress will have the information needed to better gauge
potential collectibility and to ask questions as to why amounts are not collectible.

For example, the audit for fiscal year 1992 disclosed that IRS had $65 billion in de-

' These testimonies are listed in attachment I.
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linquent taxes outstanding, not the $110 billion IRS reported and, of the $65 billion,

only $19 billion was estimated to be collectible. This type of data would provide a

more reliable basis than has been available in the past on the merits of adding col-

lection personnel.

The future holds even greater potential. First, IRS is beginning to address the

systems issues that will enable it to reliably show by type of tax how much has been
actually received and who pays the tax. For example, excise taxes, such as petro-

leum companies and chemical manufacturers, among others, pay to fund environ-

mental cleanup activities, are to be segregated by type and are used to achieve spe-

cific policy goals. But our financial audit showed that IRS's accounting system does

not have this capability. Consequently, whether it be the Superfund Trust Fund or

the Highway Trust Fund, a fund may be receiving more or less than it is due.

Social security taxes are somewhat different in concept but the problem is the

same. Under law, the Social Security Administration (SSA) receives social security

taxes based on wage information reported by employers to IRS even if the taxes are

ultimately not paid. This results in amounts going to the Social Security Fund from

other tax sources, and while the IRS knows that there is a discrepancy, it cannot

yet identify that amount so that decisionmakers will know the cost of this policy.

As a result of the financial audit, IRS is now working to address these problems.

Future systems changes should also result in extending the application of accrual

accounting to the tax revenue stream so that IRS and the Congress will have some-
what better information about the taxes IRS should be collecting. Further, because

the CFO Act calls for the development of better cost and performance data, IRS will

have an opportunity to better justify and manage tax compliance initiatives. For ex-

ample, over the years, questions have been raised over the amount of revenue to

be generated from adding revenue agents or initiating special compliance initiatives.

Such questions can only be conclusively answered by improving the basic reliability

of IRS's underlying data.

The U.S. Customs Service

Financial audits of the Customs Service, the government's second most important

revenue collector, revealed problems similar to those at IRS. These problems im-

paired Customs' ability to effectively ensure that carriers, importers, and their

agents complied with laws intended to ensure fair trade practices and protect the

American people from unsafe and illegal imported goods. Further, these audits

found that Customs did not

—adequately ensure that all goods imported into the United States were properly

identified and that the related duties, taxes, and fees on imports, reported to

be over $21 billion for fiscal year 1993, were properly assessed and collected;

—have adequate controls to detect and prevent excessive or duplicate refund pay-

ments;
—have adequate accountability over tons of illegal drugs and millions of dollars

of cash and property seized or used in its enforcement efforts; and
—have adequate controls over the use and reporting of its operating funds.

The Commissioner of Customs has expressed a strong commitment to resolve

these problems and recognizes that a significant and sustained effort by Customs'
management will be required. Acting on this commitment. Customs has developed

and tested nationwide, a new program to reliably measure the trade community's
compliance with trade laws. This program is expected to achieve better overall com-
pliance with trade laws and tighter controls to ensure that the government receives

all of the import taxes, duties, and fees to which it is entitled. This information will

also help Customs ensure that it is making the best use of its limited inspection

and audit resources.

Moreover, Customs has developed and applied methodologies for more accurately

reporting its collectible accounts receivable. It also reorganized its debt collection

unit, formalized its collection procedures, and aggressively pursued collection of old

receivables. According to Customs, this effort resulted in collections of over $35 mil-

lion. Customs also began conducting nationwide physical inventories of its seized as-

sets to improve the safeguards over this property and has taken steps, such as im-

plementing basic reconciliations of records, to ensure more adequate control over the

use and reporting of its operating funds.

Providing Accountability for National Defense Expenditures

The Department of Defense (DOD) must have accurate financial information and
internal controls to manage the Department's vast resources—over $1 trillion in as-

sets, 3 million military and civilian personnel, and a budget of over $250 billion for
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fiscal year 1995. Effective financial management is critical to assuring that these
resources are productively employed in meeting our nation's defense objectives.

Unfortunately, DOD does not have effective financial management operations and
the seriousness of its financial management problems caused us to add it to our
high-risk list. No single military service or major component has been able to with-
stand the scrutiny of a financial statement audit. This failure has serious implica-

tions. Good financial management runs deeper than the ability to develop accurate
financial records. It is being able to (1) provide managers with visibility and control

over inventories, (2) project material needs, and (3) effectively balance scarce re-

sources with critical needs.
The CFO Act audits have served as an important catalyst for identifying and fo-

cusing management attention on the full extent and scope of the financial problems
facing the Department. Since 1990, we and the DOD auditors have made over 350
recommendations to help resolve the financial management weaknesses identified

throughout the Department. These audits have consistently identified fundamental
deficiencies in DOD's financial operations. For example, these audit have served to

highlight that:

—As of August 1995, DOD problem disbursements—those for which the Depart-
ment can not match a disbursement with a related obligation—were reported
to be $28 billion—and DOD continues to make hundreds of millions of dollars

in overpayments to its contractors. As a result, DOD can not ensure that it does
not spend more than it is authorized-—a basic fund control responsibility.

—DOD does not have adequate records or controls over the multibillion dollar in-

vestment in government furnished property and equipment.
—DOD has failed to properly report billions of dollars in potential future liabil-

ities, such as environmental cleanup costs.

Further, beginning for fiscal year 1996, the Navy general fund operations will be
subject to audit. We reviewed the Navy's fiscal year 1994 financial reports as a

measure of the Navy's current ability to prepare reliable financial statements. In
our pending report, we conclude that, to an even greater extent than the other mili-

tary services, the Navy is plagued by troublesome financial management deficiencies

involving tens of billions of dollars.

DOD has recognized the seriousness of its financial management problems and
the need to take action. Secretary Perry and Comptroller Hamre have been candid
in their assessments of the status of current processes and practices. Further, the
Department's financial reform blueprint—presented in February 1995—offers a good
perspective of the corrective actions which must be taken. We believe this plan rep-

resents an important first step in committing DOD to real action.

As we testified earlier this year, however, very serious management challenges
face the Department as it moves to make the blueprint a reality.^ We recommended
that DOD determine what skills are required to ensure that the plan is developed
and implemented and to establish an independent, outside board of experts to pro-
vide counsel, oversight, and perspective to reform efforts.

We are also concerned about the pace of needed improvements at DOD. According
to a recent DOD IG report, DOD's development of new accounting systems will not
be completed until the end of fiscal year 1998 and, consequently, DOD's IG will not
be able to render audit opinions on any of the military services' general fund oper-
ations until March 2000 at the earliest.

As we testified last month, given the serious and pervasive nature of DOD's finan-
cial management problems, and the need for more immediate progress, the Depart-
ment needs to consider additional steps to (1) establish a skilled financial manage-
ment workforce, (2) ensure that financial management systems are capable of pro-
ducing accurate data, and (3) build an effective financial management organization
structure with clear accountability. ^ We will continue to review more detailed imple-
mentation plans intended to carry out DOD's blueprint—including assessments of
DOD's strategy and timing of proposed actions—and to work with DOD on imple-
menting recommended improvements.

Instituting Better Management of Federal Lending Programs
The federal government is the nation's largest single source of credit. It lends or

guarantees hundreds of billions of dollars of loans for a wide variety of programs.

^Financial Management: Challenges Confront DOD's Reform Initiatives (GAO/T-AIMD-95-
143, May 16, 1995) and Financial Management: Challenges Confront DOD's Reform Initiatives
(GAO/T-AIMD-95-146, May 23, 1995).
^Financial Management: Challenges Facing DOD in Meeting the Goals of the Chief Financial

Officers Act (GAO/T-AIMD-96-1, November 14, 1995).
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such as housing, farming, education, and small business. At September 30, 1994,
the government reported (1) $241 billion in nontax receivables, of which $49 billion,

or over 20 percent, was reported to be delinquent and (2) $694 billion in guarantees
of outstanding loans for which it was contingently liable. There are four principal

credit agencies; the Department of Agriculture, with 56 percent of the loans; the De-
partment of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), with 11 percent of the loans

and 55 percent of the guarantees; the Department of Education, with 7 percent of

the loans and 11 percent of the guarantees; and the Department of Veterans Affairs,

with 23 percent of the guarantees.
We have long been concerned about the quality and reliability of financial infor-

mation on credit programs. Our audits, as well as those by the IGs, have consist-

ently disclosed serious weaknesses in agency systems that account for and control

receivables, and three of the lending programs—(1) farm loans, (2) student financial

aid, and (3) housing guarantees—are on our high-risk list. Agency managers need
accurate and reliable information on a day-to-day basis to effectively manage multi-
billion dollar loan and loan guarantee portfolios and to determine the value and col-

lectibility of debts owed the government. For example, audits have disclosed weak-
nesses in agency approaches to estimating losses on these loans and, in some cases,

have resulted in significant adjustments to the recorded loss reserves.

—In response to problems identified in the Federal Housing Administration's
(FHA) fiscal year 1991 financial statement audit and to prepare for the fiscal

year 1992 audit, FHA's management initiated a special study to better estimate
loan loss reserves. As a result, in fiscal year 1992, FHA's loan loss reserves for

the multifamily General Insurance (GI) and the Special Risk Insurance (SRI)

funds increased by $6.4 billion. The GI reserve increased from $5.8 billion to

$10.6 billion and the SRI reserve increased from $156 million to almost $1.9 bil-

lion.

—Financial audits of the Federal Family Education Loan Program identified that
Education's estimates of the cost to the government of loan guarantees, esti-

mated at $15.2 billion as of September 30, 1994, were derived using unreliable

data. Education is now working more closely with the guaranty agencies to un-
derstand and resolve some of the student loan data errors.

As a result of these and other on-going financial audits, there now exists a clearer

picture of the government's performance and loss estimates for lending programs.
The loss estimates will become more accurate as agencies gain experience in imple-
menting the Credit Reform Act of 1990 and the related accounting standard for di-

rect loans and loan guarantees developed by the Federal Accounting Standards Ad-
visory Board (FASAB). These efforts and the ongoing audit process should result in

appropriate systems and methodologies being implemented to provide critical pro-

gram cost and budget information.

Bringing Other Key Federal Investments and Activities Under Financial Audit Scru-
tiny

The expansion of the CFG Act's financial statement preparation and audit re-

quirement will bring a significant amount of the federal budget under examination
for the first time. For example, the first full audit of almost $300 billion of Medicare
and Medicaid expenditures, or about 19 percent of the federal government's expendi-
tures, will be performed. This will be especially important, given the role of Medi-
care and Medicaid spending in driving the growth of federal expenditures in the

foreseeable future.

Moreover, some health care experts have estimated that as much as 10 percent
of national health care spending is lost to waste, fraud, and abuse. Also, we and
others have reported many prior problems with these programs, and limited finan-

cial audits to date have shown a lack of detailed supporting records. For example,
the Health Care Financing Administration's fiscal year 1994 balance sheet audit

disclosed inadequate or no documentation supporting over $100 million of Medicare
receivables under contractor supervision, making collectibility questionable.
A full financial audit of these expenditures will provide a much better under-

standing of the reliability of reported Medicare and Medicaid payments, control

weaknesses that permit waste, fraud, and abuse to occur and needed corrective ac-

tions, and the impact of noted problems on program operations.

Another significant area to be audited is the federal government's substantial en-

vironmental cleanup costs relating to federal facilities that were contaminated with
nuclear materials or other hazardous substances. 0MB estimated in October 1995
that the federal government's known environmental cleanup costs could range from
$200 billion to $400 billion in the years ahead. The agencies included in this esti-

mate are the Departments of Energy, Defense, Interior, and Agriculture and NASA.
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The full magnitude of the government's environmental cleanup liability is un-

known. For example, $200 billion to $350 billion of the above amount was estimated
for Energy alone; however, Energy's estimate excludes certain costs, such as costs

related to those items for which technological solutions do not currently exist, such
as most groundwater contamination.
The agencywide audits conducted under the expanded CFO Act requirements will

provide an indication of the reasonableness of current agency estimates. In addition,

financial statement disclosures will provide information on the nature, location, and
magnitude of the federal government's overall exposure for environmental cleanup.

In addition to these major investments, there are other key federal investments
that will come under scrutiny as well. We are concerned, however, that scrutiny for

some of these investments may not occur soon enough because a few agencies may
slip in meeting the CFO Act's time schedule. For example;

—The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), which in fiscal year 1992
through fiscal year 1994 made $7 billion in relief payments, will not be ready
to have its Disaster Relief Fund's financial records and reports audited within
the next year. The fund's accounting records contain inaccurate data that have
never been reconciled to supporting records, including unliquidated obligations

of over $4 billion for disasters that date back to FEMA's inception in 1979. To
prepare for the audit, FEMA has, with contractor help, begun the necessary rec-

onciliation. FEMA has stated that it plans to have agencywide audited financial

statements beginning with fiscal year 1998.

—The Department of Transportation (DOT) had over $47 billion in fiscal year
1994 gross budget authority and is accountable for important aspects of ensur-
ing the development and safety of the nation's highways, railroads, and air-

ways, including those administered by the Federal Highway Administration, the

Federal Aviation Administration, and the Coast Guard. DOT has not yet pre-

pared agencjrwide financial statements and does not plan to do so for fiscal year
1995. Based on DOT's progress to date, without additional impetus, it is uncer-

tain as to whether the Department will be ready to prepare reliable consoli-

dated agencywide financial statements within the statutory time frame.
—Under the requirements of the CFO Act, the Department of Justice (DOJ),
which does not have many trust or revolving funds or commercial functions and
was not part of the pilot program, was not required to audit many of its signifi-

cant operations. Of its $13.5 billion in gross budget authority, only 12 percent,

or $1.6 billion was subjected to audit. DOJ's major bureaus, such as the Federal
Bureau of Investigation, Drug Enforcement Administration, Immigration and
Naturalization Service, U.S. Attorneys Office, and Marshals Service have not
been audited, nor have financial statements been prepared for these entities.

DOJ is the only department that has requested a waiver from the preparation
and audit of departmentwide financial statements for fiscal year 1996 under the
expanded CFO Act requirements. The Department has cited as the basis for its

request the lack of experienced staff to prepare financial statements and the
lack of funds to contract for the audits. We believe DOJ needs to make a com-
mitment to the audited financial statement requirements and view this as a pri-

ority because of both technical and cultural challenges that must be overcome.

Addressing and Fixing Control Weaknesses

Financial audits are also continuing to find and propose corrective actions to re-

solve long-standing material internal control weaknesses at the agencies under
audit. These audits also continued to provide a much needed discipline in pinpoint-
ing operational inefficiencies and weaknesses, highlighting gaps in effectively safe-

guarding the government's assets, and preventing possible illegal acts.

Financial audits, for instance, identified information security weaknesses that in-

creased the risk that sensitive and critical computerized data and computer pro-
grams will be inappropriately modified, disclosed, or destroyed. For example:

—IRS continued to lack sufficient safeguards to prevent or detect unauthorized
browsing of confidential taxpayer records;

—student loan data maintained by Education could have been modified for fraud-
ulent purposes because users had the ability to override controls designed to
prevent such actions;

—FHA had continuing weaknesses in systems, including those that process sen-
sitive cash receipt and disbursement transactions;

—at the Customs Service, thousands of users had inappropriate access to criti-

cally sensitive programs and data files; and
—the Navy had significant weaknesses involving access to financial data and the
adequacy of computer center plans for recovery if service is interrupted.
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Further, financial statement audits have continued to identify potential and ac-

tual dollar savings. These savings include the recovery of millions of dollars in over-
payments to DOD contractors, the collection of receivables, the recoupment of pay-
ments incorrectly made to government intermediaries and employees, and reduc-
tions in the cost of operations that are excessive.

Further, financial audits are disclosing areas where the government may be pay-
ing more than it should or may not be collecting all that it should. For example:

—Education did not have systems or procedures in place to ensure that individual
billing reports submitted by guaranty agencies and lenders were reasonable.
For fiscal year 1994, these billings paid were estimated to be $2.5 billion.

—The Coast Guard could not provide detailed supporting records for almost $100
million of accounts receivable reported for the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund and
the associated $65 million estimate for uncollectible accounts.

Financial audits have also shown that agencies often do not follow rudimentary
bookkeeping practices, such as reconciling their accounting records with Treasury
accounts or their own subsidiary ledgers. These audits have identified hundreds of
billions of dollars of accounting errors—mistakes and omissions that can render in-

formation provided to managers and the Congress virtually useless. This situation
could be much improved if more rigor were applied in following existing policies and
procedures.

Preparing and Auditing Governmentwide Financial Statements

Beginning with those for fiscal year 1997, Treasury will prepare financial state-

ments for the executive branch as a whole, and we will audit these statements. For
the first time, the American public will have an annual report card on the results

of current operations and the financial condition of its national government. I am
most pleased that this requirement has finally become a reality. My hope is that
the requirement for audited financial statements would be extended to the legisla-

tive and judicial branches so that these could be included in audited government-
wide consolidated financial reports to the American taxpayers. I am also pleased
that the Federal Reserve has contracted for financial audits over the next 5 years.

My hope is that other independent agencies of the government would do likewise.

As the consolidated executive branch statements evolve and when the quality of
the underlying data can withstand the scrutiny of an independent audit, they will

not only be useful for decisionmakers but will help engender public confidence that
the federal government can be an effective financial steward, fully accountable for

the use of tax dollars. These statements should provide a clear picture of the finan-

cial demands and commitments of the federal government, the available resources,
the execution of the budget, and the results, both financial and performance, of cur-

rent operations.
We are working closely with 0MB, Treasury, the agency CFOs, and the IGs. We

have formed a series of task forces to address accounting and auditing issues and
are actively supporting the work of FASAB. This is a tremendous undertaking and
will require all parties to work together. For our part, we are going to

—focus on performing the IRS financial statement audit for the fourth year and
conducting the first-ever financial statement audit for the Bureau of Public
Debt, which accounts for more than $3.4 trillion of federal debt held by the pub-
lic and the related annual interest payments;

—undertake selective work at selected major agencies involving, for example,
SSA's 75-year actuarial projections, DOD's mission assets (valued at over $1
trillion), the almost $200 billion Medicare program, and the almost $100 billion

Medicaid program, and at these agencies, we will coordinate our efforts with the
IGs; and

—work cooperatively with the IGs at the 24 CFO Act agencies as they audit other
major key accounts.

This will be a major challenge. We are very much depending on the 24 CFO Act
agency IGs to do their individual audits, and are concerned about the extent to

which budget constraints may affect their ability to perform those audits properly
and timely. I am also concerned, that GAO's downsizing has left us short of the ac-
counting and financial systems expertise needed in 1997 to conduct the consolidated
executive branch financial statement audit. Even though I have reassigned person-
nel within GAO to the maximum extent possible, we are still short about 100 to

150 people who possess the technical skills we need to do the job. I expect this prob-
lem to be even further exacerbated as we experience additional attrition in these
areas throughout 1996. We plan to consult with the Congress about this problem
in the context of our fiscal year 1997 budget submission.
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Continuing to Build Effective Financial Management Organizations

The leadership envisioned by the CFO Act is beginning to take root. In general,

we have found that OMB's Deputy Director for Management and Controller and the

agency CFOs and Deputy CFOs meet the qualifications outlined by the CFO Act.

Also, the CFOs are active in their agencies and as a group through the CFO Coun-
cil, which the act created, to provide the leadership foundation necessary to effec-

tively carry out their responsibilities.

CFO Act agencies, however, need to ensure that CFOs possess all the necessary

authorities within their agencies to achieve change. For instance, because of the

interdependency of the budget and accounting functions, many agencies have in-

cluded both budget formulation and execution functions under the CFO's authority.

However, at a few agencies, such as the Department of Agriculture, HUD, and the

Agency for International Development, CFOs do not have a full range of budget re-

sponsibilities. HUD's CFO, for instance, maintains records of, and provides HDD's
budget office with, information on obligations and unexpended balances but is not

involved in formulating the budget or allocating and reallocating funds throughout

the year. At Education and Labor, CFOs have responsibility for budget execution

but not for budget formulation. We believe that each CFO Act agency should recog-

nize that both these functions can best be integrated with the agency's other finan-

cial activities by delegating responsibility for them to the CFO.
Also, at many CFO Act agencies, financial management responsibility rests with

the CFO but is carried out by the financial leaders at the agencies' components,
which can create problems. For instance, we recently reported that the Department
of Agriculture's CFO has neither the authority within the Department nor the

mechanism to enforce compliance with its financial standards. "^ To overcome this

kind of situation, we believe it is important for CFOs to have a strong role in and
authority over component financial management matters.

Additionally, some CFOs have responsibility for operational functions, such as

procurement and grants management, in addition to those directly related to agency
financial management. While functions such as these can provide opportunities for

much needed integration of different functional areas, they also have the potential

to distract the CFOs from concentrating on financial management issues throughout
the agencies.

Another serious problem the CFOs face in building an effective supporting struc-

ture is attracting and retaining well qualified financial management personnel and
working to upgrade staff skills in a constrained budget environment. Financial au-

dits have shown with greater clarity the extent and nature of the government's fi-

nancial management personnel shortages and the importance of overcoming them.
These audits have consistently disclosed agencies having extraordinary financial

management problems in even the fundamental areas of making reconciliations,

documenting adjustments, ensuring that inventories are taken, and making super-

visory reviews of accounts and transactions. Weaknesses such as these lead us to

believe that fundamental skill levels and training issues must be addressed quickly.

Moreover, implementing the CFO Act's objective of upgrading financial oper-

ations, such as developing performance measurement systems and integrating budg-
et and accounting data, will require significantly enhanced staff skills. Focusing on
these areas is difficult when agencies' basic financial and control weaknesses remain
unchecked. Top managers are, however, beginning to get a sense of the extraor-
dinary effort that will be needed to upgrade financial management organizations
and to fix known problems.

In this regard, OMB's July 1995 Federal Financial Management Status Report
and Fiue-Year Plan addresses the need to develop a quality financial management
workforce by implementing methods to assist agencies in recruiting and retaining
qualified financial management personnel. CFOs, though, have a significant chal-

lenge in building effective organizations to meet the CFO Act's challenges.
To help in this area, in June 1992, the Association of Government Accountants

made 30 recommendations covering all facets of the financial personnel challenge,
from recruiting talented staff to reducing turnover. The CFO Council's Human Re-
sources Committee is working to implement these strategies through such activities

as coordinating efforts to provide low-cost, effective financial management training

• USDA Financial Systems: Additional Actions Needed to Resolve Major Problems (GAO/
AIMD-95-222, September 29, 1995).
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and developing a plan for establishing core competencies and standards for all CFO-
related positions.

^

Investments must be made in training to ensure that financial management per-

sonnel increase their professional skills to keep pace with emerging technology and
developments in financial management. However, financial management training is

often a neglected aspect of ensuring high-quality financial operations. In our discus-

sions with the 24 CFO Act agencies, most said they had not established formal

training programs to enhance the skills and knowledge of financial management
staff
However, some agencies have acted. The Department of Energy, for example, has

established a training program for financial managers that all of its CFO offices are

required to implement and that is based on employees' individual development
plans. Also, the Department of Education requires its financial personnel to com-
plete 40 hours of continuing professional education annually.

We have called for financial management personnel to be required to participate

in a minimum amount of continuing professional education.^ Government auditors

are required to attend 80 hours of continuing professional education every 2 years,

and this requirement has helped enhance audit quality and professionalism.

We believe, though, that upgrading and training financial management staff re-

quires much greater short-term attention to identify more specifically the extent of

the skills gap and how it can be most effectively narrowed or closed. We plan to

study this area in more depth in the coming months and will report the results to

the Committee.
In this regard, the Committee can be of assistance by challenging the CFOs to

clearly identify financial management skill shortages in terms of personnel needs

to effectively achieve the CFO Act's financial management objectives. Further, the

Committee can encourage agencies to get the resources and financial management
talent needed to make the needed improvements.

Building Sound Financial Management Systems

Seriously inadequate financial management systems are currently the greatest

barrier to timely and meaningful financial reporting. Agency systems are old and
do not meet users' needs. In March 1995, 0MB reported that 39 percent of agency
systems were originally implemented over 10 years ago; 53 percent need to be re-

placed or upgraded within the next 5 years.

The CFO Council has designated financial management systems as its number
one priority. The need for this emphasis is underscored by the results of self-assess-

ments by the 24 CFO Act agencies, which showed that most agency systems are not

capable of readily producing annual financial statements and are not in compliance
with current system standards. Equally as important, as a result, managers do not

have reliable, timely financial data throughout the year to help manage effectively.

The poor condition of agency financial systems is a symptom of a much broader
issue—the federal government's overall inability to effectively manage investments
in information technology (IT). Many projects have been poorly managed, cost much
more than anticipated, and have not provided intended benefits.

There is a growing recognition that fundamental information technology manage-
ment problems need to be addressed, and a number of initiatives are underway to

do this. For example, our May 1994 executive guide '^ on the best information man-
agement practices of leading organizations has been enthusiastically received, and
several agencies are actively attempting to implement its tenets. We testified before

this Committee on the key practices outlined in this guide.

^

Also, we have developed several tools to assist agencies in taking a strategic view
of their information resource management practices and maximizing their IT invest-

ments. Our Strategic Information Management (SIM) Self-Assessment Toolkit,^ for

example, has been used by several agencies, including IRS and HUD, and has al-

ready resulted in several million dollars in savings. In August 1995, we issued an
exposure draft of our Business Process Reengineering Assessment Guide, which is

currently being pilot tested at several agencies. Additionally, we have worked with

^Framework for Core Competencies for Financial Management Personnel in the Federal Gov-

ernment (August 1995 (Draft)).

'^Financial Management Issues (GAO/OCG-93-4TR, December 1992).

'^Executive Guide: Improving Mission Performance Through Strategic Information Manage-
ment and Technology (GAO/AIMD-94-115, May 1994).

^Government Reform: Using Reengineering and Technology to Improve Government Perform-

ance (GAO/T-OC(3-95-2, February 2, 1995).

^Strategic Information Management (SIM) Self-Assessment Toolkit (Version 1.0, October 1994
Exposure Draft).



61

0MB in finalizing Evaluating Information Technology Investments: A Practical

Guide, which will provide agency managers a systematic and objective means of as-

sessing the risk and maximizing the return associated with planned IT investments.

Further, the Congress is taking steps to improve federal IT management. Earlier

this year, the Congress amended the Paperwork Reduction Act, which the President

signed into law on May 22, 1995. The amendments should improve the management
of IT resources and institute stronger controls over investments. Other legislative

proposals to strengthen leadership and accountability are being considered, includ-

ing establishing Chief Information Officers and changing system planning and ac-

quisition practices.

There are also improvement efforts underway specifically aimed at financial sys-

tems. For example, in January 1995, the Joint Financial Management Improvement
Program (JFMIP) published a model for establishing and maintaining integrated fi-

nancial management systems. This document, entitled Framework for Federal Fi-

nancial Management Systems, is an important step in providing needed guidance.

Additionally, OMB's July 1995 Federal Financial Management Status Report and
Fiue-Year Plan sets out broad objectives, tasks, and milestones to help improve sys-

tems. The plan, for example, addresses making better use of off-the-shelf technology,

cross servicing, and outsourcing. Overall, OMB's objectives have provided the right

emphasis and priority for financial systems improvements. 0MB and the CFO Act

agencies must now focus on specific implementing policies and strategies.

To help these efforts, we are preparing a methodology for reviewing financial

management systems. This methodology also could provide a starting point to help

agencies develop systems requirements for building integrated information systems

to support their missions, operations, and governmentwide reporting requirements.

We plan to work with OMB and the CFO Council to move in this direction and will

report the results to the Committee next spring.

Also, since the benefits of long-term efforts to improve agency systems often re-

quire years to realize, agencies need to make their existing systems work better in

the interim. An important aspect of this is to ensure the validity of existing data

and implement the routine controls needed to keep these data reliable, such as rec-

onciliations to identify and resolve discrepancies. Such efforts will improve data reli-

ability and help ensure that information transferred to new systems is accurate.

Efforts to Strengthen Accountability Reporting Will Greatly Aid
Decisionmakers

One of the CFO Act's primary goals is to enhance the reporting of reliable finan-

cial and performance data that are useful and understandable to program managers
and congressional decisionmakers. Prior to its enactment, despite good intentions

and past efforts to improve financial management systems, the government was not

using timely, reliable, and comprehensive financial information when making deci-

sions having a tremendous impact on the American public. The first important step

was taken with the CFO Act requirement for the preparation and audit of financial

reports to achieve basic data reliability. Now, at least we will know when data are

reliable and when they are not.

The next steps, which build on the foundation laid by the CFO Act, will further

enhance the usefulness of accountability reporting to decisionmakers by integrating

performance measures into the reports and developing reports more specifically tai-

lored to the government's needs. They include the efforts of the Federal Accounting
Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) to develop accounting standards and OMB's ef-

forts to implement the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) and to de-

velop streamlined Accountability Reports.

FASAB Efforts

As you may know, FASAB was established in October 1990 by the Secretary of

the Treasury, the Director of OMB, and myself to consider and recommend account-

ing principles for the federal government. The nine-member Board is comprised of

representatives from the three principals, the Congressional Budget Office, the De-
partment of Defense, one civilian agency (presently from Energy), and three rep-

resentatives from the private sector, including the Chairman, former Comptroller
General Elmer B. Staats. FASAB publishes recommended accounting standards
after considering the financial and budgetary information needs of the Congress, ex-

ecutive agencies, other users of federal financial information and comments from the
public. OMB, Treasury and GAO then decide whether to adopt the recommended
standards; if they do, the standard is published by GAO and OMB and becomes ef-

fective.
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Early next year, FASAB will complete the federal government's first set of com-
prehensive accounting standards developed under this consensus approach, which
has worked well. While the development of accounting standards as envisioned by
FASAB and its three principals is very important to strengthening accountability,
the benefits will come from their full implementation.

It is our understanding that Senator Brown plans to introduce legislation that
would establish in law the FASAB process, which at this time, is operating under
a memorandum of understanding. Among the purposes cited in the legislation is to

provide for uniform adoption and application of accounting standards across govern-
ment and the establishment of systems that meet the requirements of the CFO Act.

The legislation being considered calls for each federal agency to give priority to

funding and provide sufficient resources to implement the act.

Further, the proposed legislation would require an agency's CFO Act auditor to

report whether the agency's financial management system complies substantially
with the FASAB accounting standards and other financial management system re-

quirements. We understand that Senator Brown's proposal will also include mecha-
nisms to highlight an agency's compliance problem to the Congress and to work
with 0MB on remedial actions to bring the agency's financial management systems
into compliance.
We support the goals of Senator Brown's proposal, which make permanent the

work of FASAB and add additional emphasis on implementing the accounting
standards. We will be glad to work with the Committee as it considers this proposal.
Key to the FASAB approach was extensive consultation with users of financial

statements early in their deliberations to ensure that the standards will result in

statements that are relevant to both the budget allocation process as well as agen-
cies' accountability for resources. Users were interested in getting answers to ques-
tions on such topics as:

—Budgetary integrity: What legal authority was provided to finance government
activities and was it used correctly?—Operating performance: How much do programs cost and how were they fi-

nanced? What was achieved? What are the government's assets and are they
well managed? What are its liabilities and how will they be paid for?—Stewardship: Has the government's overall financial capacity to satisfy current
and future needs and costs improved or deteriorated? What are its future com-
mitments and are they being provided for? How will the government's programs
affect the future growth potential of the economy?—Systems and control: Does the government have sufficient controls over its pro-

grams so that it can detect and correct problems?

Standards and reports addressing these objectives are being phased in over time.

Since the enactment of the CFO Act, OMB's guidance on the form and content of

financial statements has stressed the use of narrative "Overview" sections preceding
the basic financial statements as the best way for agencies to relate mission goals

and program performance measures to financial resources. Each financial statement
includes an Overview describing the agency, its mission, activities, accomplish-
ments, and overall financial results and condition. The Overview also should discuss
what, if anything, needs to be done to improve either program or financial perform-
ance, including an identification of programs or activities that may need significant

future funding.
Agencies are beginning to produce reports that do this. For example, SSA's fiscal

year 1994 financial statement Overview presented a number of performance meas-
ures dealing with the adequacy of the trust fund, service satisfaction, promptness
in issuing earnings statements and processing claims, and the adequacy of employee
training.

Linking the costs of achieving these performance levels is the next challenge. In

this regard, FASAB's cost accounting standards—the first set of standards to ac-

count for costs of federal government programs—will require agencies to develop
measures of the full costs of carrying out a mission or producing products or serv-

ices. Thus, decisionmakers would have information on the costs of all resources used
and the cost of support services provided by others to support activities or pro-

grams—and could compare these costs to various program performance.

GPRA Implementation

GPRA sets forth the major steps federal agencies need to take towards a results-

oriented management approach. They are to (1) develop a strategic plan, (2) estab-
lish performance measures to monitor progress in meeting strategic goals, and (3)

link performance information to resource requirements through the budget. GPRA
requires up to five performance budgeting pilots for fiscal years 1998 and 1999.
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0MB will report the results of these pilots in 2001 and recommend whether per-

formance budgets should be legislatively required.

Cultural changes in federal agencies are beginning as agency pilots develop stra-

tegic plans and performance measures. 0MB also has prompted progress by giving

special emphasis in the fiscal year 1996 Circular A-11, Preparation and Submission

of Budget Estimates, to increasing the use of information on program performance
in budget justifications. Moreover, 0MB Director Rivlin instructed her agency to use
performance information in making budget recommendations. In preparation for the

fiscal year 1997 budget cycle, 0MB held performance reviews in May with agencies
on performance measures and recently issued guidance on preparing and submitting
strategic plans. Further progress in implementing GPRA will occur as performance
measures become more widespread and agencies begin to use audited financial in-

formation in the budget process to validate and assess agency performance.
0MB is also making efforts to design new financial reports based on FASAB's rec-

ommended standards that contain performance measures and budget data to pro-

vide a much needed, additional perspective on the government's actual performance
and its long-term financial prospects. While there are a myriad of legislatively man-
dated reporting requirements which could be presented in separate reports, I think
that decisionmakers would find that a single report relating performance measures,
costs, and the budget would be most useful. This reporting approach is consistent

with the CFO Council's proposal for an Accountability Report, which 0MB is pursu-
ing.

The Government Management Reform Act of 1994 authorized 0MB, upon proper
notification to the Congress, to consolidate and simplify statutory financial manage-
ment reports. The CFO Council has proposed two annual reports, a Planning and
Budgeting Report and an Accountability Report. The two consolidated reports would
be used to present a comprehensive picture of an agency's future plans and perform-
ance by addressing (1) how well the agency performed (accountability) and (2) the

road map for its future actions (planning and budgeting).
The consolidation of current reports into the Accountability Report would elimi-

nate the separate requirements under various separate laws—such as GPRA, the
Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act, the CFO Act, and the Prompt Payment
Act. The Planning and Budget Report is intended to provide a comprehensive pic-

ture of an agency's program and resource utilization plans within its strategic vi-

sion. It is supposed to link resources requested with planned actions.

0MB is undertaking to have six agencies ^^ produce, on a pilot basis. Accountabil-
ity Reports providing a comprehensive picture of each agency's performance pursu-
ant to its stated goals and objectives. We agree with the overall streamlined report-

ing concept and believe that, to be most useful, the Accountability Report must in-

clude an agency's financial statements and the related audit reports. The ultimate
usefulness of the Accountability Report will hinge on its specific content and the re-

liability of information presented. In this regard, 0MB and the CFO Council will

be more fully defining the information to be included in the Accountability Reports
during the pilot phase. We will work with 0MB and agencies throughout the pilot

program. The pilot concept has worked well in the past under the CFO Act and
GPRA.

Performance, Costs, and the Budget

Of course, the ultimate goal of more reliable and relevant financial data is to pro-

mote more informed decision-making. This requires that financial data produced be
understood and used by program managers and budget decisionmakers. The
changes underway to financial reporting have been undertaken with a goal of mak-
ing financial data more accessible to budget decisionmakers. The budget commu-
nity's involvement in the FASAB standard-setting process and OMB's accountability
proposal have contributed to this. The future challenge is to further integrate finan-
cial reports with the budget to enhance the quality and richness of the data consid-
ered in budget deliberations. As I will discuss below, improving the linkages be-
tween accounting and budgeting also call for considering certain changes in budget-
ing such as realigned account structures and the selective use of accrual concepts.
Perhaps the chief benefit of improving this linkage will be the increased reliability

of the data on which we base our management and budgetary decisions. From an
agency perspective, having audited information on the value of assets and liabilities,

as well as the full costs of program outputs, will permit more informed judgments
in strategic planning and program priority setting. Coupled with internal control as-

i°The six pilot agencies are the Departments of the Treasury and Veterans Affairs; the Gen-
eral Services, Social Security, and National Aeronautics and Space Administrations; and the Nu-
clear Regulatory Commission.
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sessments, such information will also enable agencies to better target areas requir-

ing greater management attention or reform. For example, as I discussed earlier,

the IRS financial audit revealed that the accounts receivable inventory was largely

uncollectible—important information that permits IRS to better target its collection

resources and permits more informed appropriations decisions on the level of re-

sources necessary to collect these funds.

From a budgetary decision-making perspective, the new financial reports will im-
prove the reliability of the budget numbers undergirding decisions. Budgeting is a

forward-looking enterprise, but it can clearly benefit from better information on ac-

tual expenditures and revenue collection. Numbers from the budget will be included
in basic financial statements and thus will be audited for the first time.

Having these numbers audited was one of the foremost desires of budget
decisionmakers consulted in FASAB's user needs study and stems from their sus-

picion—well warranted I might add—that the unaudited numbers may not always
be correct. For example, decisionmakers rely on data based on IRS systems on the

amounts of revenue collected for each type of tax. However, as highlighted earlier,

our audit revealed that the IRS's reported revenue of $1.3 trillion for fiscal year
1994 could not be verified or reconciled to accounting records maintained for individ-

ual taxpayers in the aggregate and amounts reported for various types of taxes col-

lected could not be substantiated. This means that the amount credited to the Social

Security Trust Fund is different than the amount of social security taxes actually

collected.

Financial audit reports have also revealed important information on the actual

costs of credit programs which can inform future budgetary decisions. Specifically,

the fiscal year 1994 financial audit reports of the Farmers Home Administration,
the Federal Housing Administration, the Federal Family Education Loan Program,
and the Small Business Administration revealed that agencies' estimates of the sub-
sidy costs of their credit programs reflected in the budget are not accurate. Based
on these audits, budget decisionmakers know that they have reason to question the
amount of future budget requests for these programs.
The new financial reports will also offer new perspectives and data on the full

costs of program outputs and agency operations that is currently not reported in our
cash-based budget. Information on full costs generated pursuant to the new FASAB
standards would provide decisionmakers a more complete picture of actual past pro-

gram costs and performance when they are considering the appropriate level of fu-

ture funding. For example, the costs of providing Medicare are spread among at

least three budget accounts—the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund, the Fed-
eral Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund, and the Program Management
account. Financial reports would pull all relevant costs together.

The different account structures that are used for budget and financial reporting
are a continuing obstacle to using these reports together and may prevent
decisionmakers from fully benefiting from the information in financial statements.
Unlike financial reporting, which is striving to apply the full cost concept when re-

porting costs, the budget account structure is not based on a single unifying theme
or concept. As we reported recently, the current budget account structure evolved
over time in response to specific needs. ^^

The budget contains over 1,300 accounts, with nearly 80 percent of the govern-
ment's resources clustered in less than 5 percent of the accounts. Some accounts are
organized by the type of spending (such as personnel compensation or equipment)
while others are organized by programs. Accounts also vary in their coverage of cost,

with some including both program and operating spending while others separate
salaries and expenses from program subsidies. Or, a given account may include mul-
tiple programs and activities.

When budget account structures are not aligned with the structures used in finan-

cial reporting, additional analyses or crosswalks would be needed so that the finan-
cial data could be considered in making budget decisions. If the Congress and the
executive branch reexamine the budget account structure, the question of trying to

achieve a better congruence between budget accounts and the accounting system
structure should be considered.

In addition to providing a new, full cost perspective for programs and activities,

financial reporting has prompted improved ways of thinking about costs in the
budget. For the most part, the budget uses the cash basis, which recognizes trans-

actions when cash is paid or received. Financial reporting uses the accrual basis,

which recognizes transactions when commitments are made, regardless of when the
cash flows.

^^ Budget Account Structure: A Descriptive Overview (GAO/AIMD-95-179, September 1995)
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Cash-based budgeting is generally the best measure to reflect the short-term eco-

nomic impact of fiscal policy as well as the current borrowing needs of the federal

government. And for many transactions, such as salaries, costs recorded on a cash

basis do not differ appreciably from accrual.

However, for a select number of programs, cash-based budgeting does not ade-

quately reflect the future costs of the government's commitments or provide appro-

priate signals on emerging problems. For these programs, accrual-based reporting

may improve budgetary decision-making. The accrual approach records the full cost

to the government of a decision—whether to be paid now or in the future. As a re-

sult, it prompts decisionmakers to recognize the cost consequences of commitments
made today.

The credit arena is a good example of how financial reporting has informed budg-

et decision-making. Beginning in fiscal year 1992, accrual budgeting principles were

applied to loans and loan guarantee programs with the implementation of credit re-

form. Cash treatment of these programs sent misleading signals by recording costs

only when cash flowed in and out of the federal Treasury. Under this approach, loan

guarantees, for example, were recorded as having no costs in the year in which pro-

gram commitments were authorized, regardless of future costs flowing from this

commitment. By contrast, under credit reform, the budget reflects the present value

of subsidy costs to be incurred over time up front at the time when commitments
are made.

It may be appropriate to extend the use of accrual budgeting to other programs,

such as federal insurance programs—an issue we are currently studying at the re-

quest of the Chairman, House Budget Committee. For example, the cash position

of the nation's deposit insurance system proved to be a lagging indicator of the un-

derlying troubles faced by thrifts in the 1980s. An accrual approach, should it prove

workable, would offer better information on the financial condition of various federal

insurance programs.

Putting It All Together

Mr. Chairman, thanks in large part to the legislative impetus of the CFO and
GPRA Acts—efforts led by this Committee—decisionmakers will ultimately have
available unprecedented, reliable information on both the financial condition of pro-

grams and operations as well as the performance and costs of these activities. While
these initiatives carry great potential, they require continued support by the agen-

cies and the Congress. Consequently, this Committee's continued leadership and
oversight will be important to sustain these initiatives and ensure their ultimate

success.

Generating new kinds of information, however valuable, can be a difficult, inten-

sive process calling for new skills and redeployment of resources. This is a particu-

larly challenging task in our current budgetary environment. Fiscal constraints may
make it difficult for agencies to allocate sufficient resources to information gathering

and analysis while facing cuts in basic services. However, such information is vital

to the downsizing process itself and can help us sort out the kinds of services and
operations that government should be engaged in.

Finding the most effective reporting and analytical approaches will require a

great deal of collaboration and communication. Appropriations, budget, and author-

izing committees need to be full partners in supporting the implementation of these

initiatives. This Committee could be instrumental in fostering a constructive dia-

logue and gaining their support, which is vital to obtaining the resources and invest-

ment needed to carry out these efforts.

This type of partnership is needed to better link financial and performance data
to the budget and program decision-making. The development of new information
may for a time outpace the capacity of the process to fully utilize it. Just as federal

accounting standards are being tailored to better address the unique needs of fed-

eral policymakers, the cost concepts used in budgeting, as well as the budget presen-
tations themselves, may warrant reconsideration. This calls for a concerted congres-

sional effort to rethink how the budget should be structured and presented to best
take advantage of this new information. Again, the Committee could be instrumen-
tal in bringing together key congressional stakeholders to consider appropriate
changes.

Finally, the Committee can continue to support evolutionary refinements to re-

porting approaches. For example, the new financial reports can be even more useful

when they are streamlined, rather than the present approach of generating separate
reports. I have been stressing an approach in which performance measures and
costs are reported together and linked to budget data within a single report. This
approach is consistent with the CFO Council's proposal for an Accountability Re-
port, which we support.
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Improving Single Audit Legislation

Mr. Chairman, in addition to strengthening financial management at the federal

level this committee is also considering legislation to improve the effectiveness of

accountability for federal payments to the state and local levels through the single
audit process. Single audits are important accountability tools over the hundreds of

billions of dollars that the federal government provides to state and local govern-
ments and nonprofit organizations.

In June 1994, we reported ^^ to the Committee on the Single Audit Act's impor-
tant role. It has helped institutionalize fundamental elements of good financial man-
agement in state and local governments, such as preparing financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, obtaining annual inde-

pendent comprehensive audits, assessing internal controls and compliance with laws
and regulations, monitoring subrecipients, tracking federal funds, and resolving
audit findings.

In addition, the single audit process is an effective way of promoting accountabil-
ity over federal assistance because it provides a structured approach to achieve
audit coverage over the thousands of state and local governments and nonprofit or-

ganizations that receive federal financial assistance. Moreover, particularly in the
case of block grants—where the federal financial role diminishes and management
and outcomes of federal assistance programs depend heavily on the overall state or

local government controls—the single audit process provides accountability by focus-

ing the auditor on the controls affecting the integrated federal and state funding
streams.
Mr. Chairman, let me emphasize that block grants need not mean the absence

of federal accountability provisions. Our extensive studies of the block grant experi-

ence in the 1980s led us to conclude that reasonable financial and program account-
ability provisions can help sustain block grants as a stable source of intergovern-
mental aid. Of course the definition of what is reasonable can be controversial.

Overly-intrusive accountability provisions can threaten to overturn the efficiencies

gained from flexible funding, while overly-limited provisions can undermine contin-

ued congressional support for the programs by depriving the Congress of informa-
tion on how the funds are used and what results are achieved.

Clearly, block grants call for a careful balancing of state and federal concerns. It

is in this context that the Single Audit Act can play an especially helpful role in

promoting financial accountability for the proper stewardship of federal funds. The
act's focus on overall state controls applied to state entities supported with federal

and state funding is very consistent with the block grant approach where states are
encouraged to manage federal and state funds on an integrated basis to support
state priorities. It also gives state officials an annual report card on the financial

management of their own entities.

While strongly supporting the single audit concept, we have identified opportuni-
ties to strengthen the single audit process while at the same time reducing the bur-

den on state and local governments and nonprofit organizations. The legislation this

committee is considering to amend the Single Audit Act would strengthen the single

audit process in several key areas.

First, the bill would expand the Single Audit Act to include nonprofit organiza-
tions. The act currently applies only to state and local governments while nonprofit
entities are administratively covered under an 0MB Circular. Expanding the Single
Audit Act to include nonprofit organizations establishes uniform single audit re-

quirements for state and local governments and nonprofit organizations, which
would accomplish what this committee contemplated when the act was debated.

Second, the dollar threshold that establishes which nonfederal entities must have
audits under the act would be raised. Raising the minimum threshold from $25,000
to $300,000 would exempt thousands of entities from federally mandated audits
while still covering 95 percent of federal assistance to state and local governments.

Third, programs would be selected for testing based on risk. Currently, the act

requires auditors to select and test programs based solely on the amount of federal

financial assistance the programs receive. Adopting a risk-based approach would in-

crease the effectiveness of the single audit process.

Fourth, the single audit reports would be more useful. Program managers we con-

tacted did not find current reporting to be user friendly, principally because of the
number of auditor's reports. Single audit reports often include seven separate re-

ports from the auditor. The proposed legislation would require auditors to include
a summary of the results of the work. 0MB adopted this approach several years
ago at the federal level by including in financial statement audit reports under the

i2Smg/e Audit: Refinements Can Improve Usefulness (GAO/AIMD-94-133, June 21, 1994).
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CFO Act a new Overview section highlighting key results. We found that it was ex-

tremely helpful in providing insights to report users.

Fifth, reducing the reporting time frame from the currently allowed 13 months
to 9 months would significantly improve the timeliness of the reports. Timeliness

alone does not determine the value of a report. But, the lack of timeliness can seri-

ously degrade the value of a report. We understand that some auditors have con-

cerns about meeting a shorter time frame. However, we believe that oversight of the

hundreds of billions of federal dollars covered by the single audit process is de-

graded by reports that are issued more than a year after the end of the period au-

dited. Over time, I hope that it will be the rule, rather than the exception, for the

audit reports to be submitted in less than 9 months.
Sixth, the legislative proposal would provide greater flexibility than the current

act allows in carrying out this important oversight activity. The proposed legislation

does so by providing the 0MB Director authority to adjust some aspects of the sin-

gle audit process to mesh with changing circumstances. For example, the 0MB Di-

rector could authorize pilot projects to test alternative ways of achieving the goals

of the legislation. The authorities provided the Director should not increase the bur-

den on nonfederal entities. Rather, it is designed to make the Single Audit Act proc-

ess adaptable to changing circumstances while continuing to promote sound finan-

cial management and provide effective oversight over federal resources.

The 10 years of experience under the Single Audit Act has shown that the single

audit process is a highly effective way to provide accountability for federal awards
to state and local governments. The proposed amendments would strengthen this

important accountability tool and reduce the burden on thousands of entities. We
fully support their enactment.
Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I would be happy to now respond to

any questions.
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Recent GAO Testimony on the Benefits on Preparing and Auditing
Agencywide Financial Statements

Financial Management: Momentum Must Be Sustained to Achieve the Reform
Goals of the Chief Financial Officers Act (GAO/T-AIMD-95-204, July 25, 1995).

Financial Management: CFO Act Is Achieving Meaningful Progress (GAO/T-
AIMD-94-149, June 21, 1994).

Improving Government: GAO's Views on H.R. 3400 Management Initiatives (GAO/
T-AIMD/GGD-94-97, February 23, 1994).

Improving Government: Actions Needed to Sustain and Enhance Management Re-

forms (GAO/T-OCG-94-1, January 27, 1994).

PREPARED STATEMENT OF G. EDWARD DESEVE

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee, I am pleased to be here today to pro-

vide an overview of the state of financial management in the Federal Government.
In my testimony, I will draw heavily from the July 1995 report entitled, "Federal
Financial Management Status Report and Five-Year Plan." This annual report, re-

quired by the Chief Financial Officers (CFOs) Act, reflects an overview of the status
of Federal financial management and plans for improvement. This report was jointly

prepared by the Chief Financial Officers Council and the Office of Management and
Budget (0MB).

First, let me thank this Committee for the work it has done to support the CFOs
Act, improve Federal management, and restore the public's confidence and trust in

Government. The CFOs Act is only one of several pieces of legislation that this Com-
mittee has sponsored, all of which build a firm foundation for better management
of Federal resources. The CFOs Act and its subsequent modification by the Govern-
ment Management Reform Act (GMRA) of 1994, the Government Performance and
Results Act (GPRA) of 1993, as well as earlier legislation such as the Federal Man-
agers' Financial Integrity Act and the Inspector Greneral Act together establish a
framework for improved accountability, and better information for decision-making
by the Congress and the President. These Acts, taken as a whole, will lead to a Gov-
ernment that can provide accurate and timely information to its citizens and for its

leaders, and permit decisionmaking based on sound information. These laws to-

gether provide us with the framework and the tools to improve the management of
the Federal Government and to restore the public's trust in its government.
Throughout my testimony, I will emphasize the ways in which these statutes work
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together and build upon each other to achieve our mutual goal of improved Federal
accountability.

Also, I would like to draw special attention to the work of the Chief Financial Of-
ficers Council. The CFO Council is composed of all of the CFOs and Deputy CFOs
in the 24 agencies subject to the CFOs Act, as well as officials from 0MB and the
Department of the Treasury. Since May 1994, this Council has taken a significant

leadership role in setting government-wide priorities for financial management. The
Financial Management Status Report and Five-Year Plan as noted above was jointly

drafted by 0MB and the CFO Council for the first time this past year. The CFO
Council set priorities and developed objectives and work plans to achieve these pri-

orities. The three top priorities set by the Council are: improving financial systems,
implementing the Government Performance and Results Act, and issuing accounting
standards and financial statements.
The Chairman has asked that I address the status of CFOs Act, GMRA, and

GPRA implementation; the role of Congress in assisting in implementation of these
statutes; OMB's proposal for consolidating certain financial reports into an Account-
ability Report; proposed amendments to the Single Audit Act; and Senator Brown's
proposed "Accounting Standardization Act." My testimony will cover these matters
and other priorities of 0MB and the agency Chief Financial Officers.

Chief Financial Officers Act Implementation

Organization

The CFOs Act establishes a series of requirements for each of now 24 agencies.

(Originally, the CFOs Act listed 23 agencies; with the establishment of the inde-

pendent Social Security Administration (SSA) in March, 1995, there are now 24
agencies subject to the CFOs Act.) Along with establishing a Chief Financial Officer

(Presidential appointment with Senate confirmation for 16 of the 24 agencies subject

to the Act), and a career Deputy CFO in each of the 24 agencies, the Act requires

that agencies develop integrated financial systems; have the ability to record finan-

cial transactions in a proper, accurate, and timely manner; and that certain pilot

organizations and all commercial, trust and revolving accounts prepare and have
audited financial statements. This latter requirement was expanded in the GMRA
to require that all agencies subject to the CFOs Act prepare and have audited, orga-

nization-wide financial statements for fiscal year 1996 and that there be a govern-
ment-wide financial statement prepared and audited for fiscal year 1997.

With respect to organization and personnel, there are well-qualified individuals

holding CFO and Deputy CFO positions in all 24 agencies. The CFO Council pub-
lished a paper, "The CFO's Role in Strengthening Financial Management" in 1994,

and is currently reviewing OMB's 1993 guidance on CFO Qualifications and CFO
Organizations. We expect that the Council will be proposing some minor modifica-

tions to these documents within the next few months. Discussions are on-going with
a few agencies regarding changes to their CFO organization and as these are final-

ized, the 0MB Director will, as required by the Act, review and approve any nec-

essary changes.

Financial Systems

Agencies are working towards the goal of integrated financial systems, the CFO
Council's number one priority. Over the past 2 years, from 1992 to 1994, we have
seen the number of agency financial management systems in operation decrease by
62. The CFO Council Financial Systems Committee, in conjunction with 0MB, has
just published the Fiscal Year 1994 Financial Management Systems Status Report.
The report's primary objective is to be a tool for sharing information about federal

financial management systems among agency managers who must gauge progress
against guidelines contained in 0MB Circular A-127 and make system decisions for

their agencies.

The Joint Financial Management Improvement Program (JFMIP), a joint venture
between 0MB, GAO, Treasury and 0PM, has published a series of documents to

help agencies improve financial systems. These include the "Framework for Federal
Financial Management Systems," and most recently, in September 1995, a revision

to the "Core Financial System Requirements."
During September and October of this year, 0MB met with all 24 CFOs Act agen-

cies to discuss their progress and plans for improving financial management sys-

tems. All of the meetings were productive with good dialogue and exchange of ideas
between the agencies and 0MB. These meetings have helped to frame the future
themes which 0MB will pursue in improving financial management. As a result of

these meetings, we have current information on the status of agency systems efforts

to meet CFOs Act requirements.
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The importance of commitment to financial management from the highest execu-

tive levels came through clearly in the system meetings. Agencies with top execu-

tives who are personally promoting sound financial management are improving fi-

nancial systems and financial management practices most successfully. Some agen-

cies have set up councils or boards to provide coordination and support throughout
the agency which have been very effective. Many have internal CFO Councils which
include CFOs from the bureaus as well as the departmental CFO. Others have an
Information Resources Management Board, including the CFO, Senior IRM Official,

and program officials, which oversees information technology projects, including fi-

nancial systems, and make investment priority decisions.

Some agencies have shifted their financial management systems development
strategy from a "big bang" approach to a more modular, incremental approach,

which is consistent with the approach taken recently in some of the procurement
reform and information technology management reform efforts. CFO offices are also

changing from an internal CFO organization focus to a more agency-wide customer
focus. Strategic planning processes are being developed with a strong customer serv-

ice orientation.

Many agencies are using the concepts of business process reengineering to im-
prove the processes they are using in addition to implementing new systems, seeing

this as critical to coping with the cost and personnel reductions required. Other
agencies could do more of this. Several agencies said that standardizing data defini-

tions and usage across the agency, particularly data for financial and administrative

purposes, has been a critical success factor in financial system improvement
projects.

Many agencies are embracing off-the-shelf software and cross-servicing to meet
their financial management system needs. However, we also heard many concerns
about the quality of software available and the support provided by the vendors.

The CFO Council and 0MB have a task force addressing this and other strategic

issues.

Audited Financial Statements

Another critical requirement of the CFOs Act is that agencies prepare and audit
financial statements for certain pilot organizations and for all commercial, trust and
revolving accounts. Audited financial statements increase the accountability of Fed-
eral managers, and, by fostering improvements in the underlying systems that
produce the financial data, ultimately provide timely and accurate information for

decisionmaking. By mid-1995, almost 60 percent of the 100 entities preparing au-
dited financial statements required by the CFOs Act had received unqualified opin-

ions, comparing favorably to 1991, when only 35 percent of the 55 entities audited
earned unqualified opinions.

We have seen a marked improvement in agency acceptance of the rigors of finan-
cial statement preparation and audit since passage of the CFOs Act. This has been,
perhaps, the most difficult transition for Federal financial managers and auditors
to make. With GAO's strong support, the Federal Grovernment has moved from skep-
ticism about the usefulness of financial statements to growing support for their con-
tribution to improved financial data. Acknowledging the value of audited financial
statements, the Congress expanded the requirement in the Government Manage-
ment Reform Act in 1994.

Government Management Reform Act Implementation

In 1994, GMRA expanded the requirement for audited financial statements to all

of the activities of the 24 CFOs Act agencies, essentially making the statements or-

ganization-wide. GMRA also requires that a government-wide financial statement
be prepared and audited for fiscal year 1997. 0MB, GAO and the Treasury Depart-
ment are working with the agencies to assure that both of these requirements are
met.

In a manner similar to the financial systems meetings discussed above, GAO,
0MB and Treasury are in the midst of a series of meetings with each of the agency
CFOs and Inspectors General (IGs) to discuss their plans for the preparation and
audit of organization-wide financial statements, and to determine if there are any
obstacles which may prevent them from meeting this requirement. GAO joins us in
these meetings to emphasize our shared goal, as well as the interrelationship of the
agency-wide statements and audits and the government-wide statement and audit.
The IGs play an important role in CFOs Act and GMRA implementation. The IGs

noted their support for the CFOs Act in a recent survey conducted for the Associa-
tion of Government Accountants by Coopers and Lybrand (C&L). Eighty-four per-
cent of the IGs stated that the benefit of financial statements justify the implemen-
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tation costs. All of the IGs indicated that internal controls had improved under the
CFOs Act. Conducting financial statement audits has required some IGs to re-

prioritize their work, so this statement of "value-added" is an important finding by
the C&L survey.
IGs are finding different ways to conduct the financial statement audits. Some are

forming effective partnerships with Certified Public Accounting firms and GAO. As
a result, the IGs are gaining valuable experience in auditing agency financial state-

ments and are maximizing the use of scarce IG contract and audit resources. For
example, in 1993 the Inspector General of the Department of the Treasury worked
closely with GAO in the audit of the U.S. Customs Service. The experience gained
allowed the Treasury IG to conduct the 1994 audit entirely with Treasury IG staff

The Office of Inspector General of the Department of Energy provides another ex-

ample of an effective partnership. Planning an audit of the financial statements of

an organization as complex as the Department of Energy is a major undertaking.

The IG of DOE has contracted with a Certified Public Accounting firm to assist

them in planning the audit of DOE's financial statements and in conducting certain

aspects of the audit.

In addition, IGs are increasing their capability to perform financial statement au-

dits through participation with GAO, 0MB, Treasury, and agency CFO staff in a

series of task forces established to develop solutions to complex crosscutting ac-

counting and auditing issues that are critical to the successful completion of the

agency-wide and government-wide audits required by GMRA.

Federal Accounting Standards

Underlying both the CFOs Act and GMRA is the need for a comprehensive set

of Federal accounting standards and principles. The Federal Accounting Standards
Advisory Board (FASAB) was established on October 10, 1990, by Memorandum of

Understanding among the three principal agency heads (the Secretary of the Treas-

ury, the Director of the Office of Management and Budget, and the Comptroller
General) concerned with overall financial management in the Federal Government.
At that time, the Federal Government did not have a comprehensive set of account-

ing standards. However, it was recognized that a comprehensive set of accounting
standards was needed, and that compliance with these standards must be measured
on a regular basis in order to ensure the integrity of the financial information re-

ported to the American taxpayers, managers, elected officials, and policy makers.
By early spring, FASAB will have recommended a comprehensive framework for

Federal financial reporting and the basic standards needed to carry it out. To date,

FASAB has completed work on the following basic concept statements, accounting
standards, and cost standards and they have been adopted by the three principals

(0MB, GAO and Treasury):

• "Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting"
• "Entity and Display"
• "Managerial Cost Accounting"
• "Accounting for Selected Assets and Liabilities"

• "Accounting for Direct Loans and Loan Guarantees"
• "Accounting for Inventory and Related Property"
• "Accounting for Property, Plant and Equipment"

The following standard has been recommended by FASAB, and is under consider-

ation by the three principals:

• "Accounting for Liabilities"

Finally, the following two standards are substantially complete and FASAB ex-

pects to make its recommendations to the three principals by early spring:

• "Accounting for Revenue and Other Financing Sources"
• "Supplementary Stewardship Reporting"

Once issued by 0MB, these standards become GAAP—Generally Accepted Ac-

counting Principles—for Executive Branch agencies. After issuing the standards,

0MB will fulfill its responsibility to prescribe the form and content of agency finan-

cial statements by modifying its existing "Form and Content of Financial State-

ments" guidance to incorporate the new standards. The revised "Form and Content"
guidance is expected to be completed by late next summer.
With respect to Senator Brown's proposed legislation, "Accounting Standardiza-

tion Act," we believe that the process for establishing accounting standards as envi-

sioned by the agreement between GAO, 0MB and Treasury is working, as reflected

in the above status report. We share with Senator Brown the goal that all govern-
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ment entities account for similar activities consistently and in the same manner
from one fiscal year to the next. We believe that the Memorandum of Understanding
signed by GAO, 0MB and Treasury, and the related financial statement preparation

and auditing requirements of the CFOs Act and GMRA achieve for us the same end
without further legislation. We would be happy to continue to have a dialogue with

this committee and Senator Brown to further explore the ramifications of the Sen-

ator's proposed legislation.

Government Performance and Results Act Implementation

GPRA is intended to transform fundamentally how government programs and op-

erations are managed. GPRA requires that: (i) Federal agencies prepare strategic

plans, with an initial plan to be submitted to 0MB and the Congress by September
30, 1997; (ii) Federal agencies prepare annual performance plans, setting out spe-

cific performance goals for a fiscal year, starting with fiscal year 1999; (iii) 0MB
prepare a government-wide performance plan based on agency plans with the level

of program performance to be achieved corresponding to the finding level in the

President's Budget, starting with the fiscal year 1999 budget; (iv) Federal agencies

submit an annual report to the President and Congress which compares actual per-

formance with the goals that were previously set in the performance plan, with the

first report 6 months after the end of fiscal year 1999; and (v) the Act includes pro-

visions giving managers greater flexibility by allowing the waiver of various admin-
istrative controls and limitations; in return managers are expected to be more ac-

countable for the performance of their programs and operations.

We are in the mid-point of this 4 year period for changing government processes,

systems, and practices before the law takes full effect in 1997. Recognizing the com-
prehensive nature of GPRA, the CFO Council made GPRA implementations its sec-

ond highest priority.

In the CFO Council's May 1995 report, "Implementation of the Government Per-

formance and Results Act," the Council stated that: "Existing planning, budgeting,

program evaluation and fiscal accountability processes should be integrated with
GPRA requirements to ensure consistency and reduce duplication of effort. In addi-

tion, other management improvement efforts, such as implementation of the CFO
Act and FMFIA, customer service initiatives, reengineering, TQM, etc. should be in-

corporated into the GPRA framework to capitalize on the synergy and availability

of key information and to improve responsiveness to customers and other stakehold-

ers."

Prior to GPRA coming into full effect, the law provides for several sets of pilot

projects to test and demonstrate whether performance plans and performance re-

ports will work as intended. Activities in 27 departments and agencies have been
designated as performance measurement pilots, with over 70 individual pilot

projects. The pilot projects range from the very large—the entirety of the Social Se-

curity Administration and the Internal Revenue Service—to the very small. Nearly
450,000 civilian and military employees are covered by these pilot projects. Depend-
ing on when they were designated, the pilot projects have submitted up to three sep-

arate annual performance plans. With the final set of plans submitted in the Spring
of 1995, assessments are now being done on both the agency experience and the
overall quality of these plans.

Anticipating the requirement for strategic plans, OMB issued two important docu-
ments in September 1995—a memorandum from Director Alice Rivlin to agency
heads entitled, "Strategic Plans, Budget Formulation and Execution" and a new
Part 2 to OMB Circular A-11 (Preparation and Submission of Annual Budget Esti-
mates) providing instructions on the preparation and submission of agency strategic
plans. In the memorandum, the Director stated that the OMB A-11 revision is "the
first step in a larger effort to link various GPRA requirements to the budget proc-
ess."

To better prepare for GPRA implementation, OMB conducted Spring Performance
Reviews in 1995 of all departments and major agencies. These reviews examined the
availability, current and prospective, of performance information for use in the fiscal

year 1997 and future-year budgets.
OMB is also in the midst of an effort to demonstrate the feasibility of consolidat-

ing various planning and reporting requirements, and more closely integrating these
with budget formulation and execution. The objective of this work is to connect re-

sources to results so that the Government will be able to answer the question:
"What are we getting for what we are spending?"



72

Accountability Reports

The CFO Council, in a January 1995 report entitled "Streamlining Government-
wide Statutory Reports" proposed that there be two annual reports—a Planning and
Budget Report and an Accountability Report. The Planning and Budget Report, con-

sistent with OMB's revision of Circular A-11, addresses the integration of GPRA
with other current requirements. The Accountability Report proposes to consolidate
information obtained under the FMFIA and CFOs Act, and other statutes into a sin-

gle Report. As agencies implement GPRA, performance information will be included
in the Accountability Report.
The rationale for these consolidated reports is that they will present a comprehen-

sive picture of agency performance, will report essential and relevant information,

will link program performance with how well an agency is managed, and provide
some flexibility in reporting format. These reports will provide Congress and the
public with comprehensive, clear and concise financial anci performance information.

GMRA section 404 permits the Director of 0MB to consolidate or adjust the fre-

quency and due dates of any statutorily required report for which 0MB has finan-

cial management responsibility between January 1, 1995 and September 30, 1997,

after consultation with the Congress. Under this authority, 0MB has proposed to

the Congress that we pilot test an Accountability Report in six agencies (Treasury,
Veterans Affairs, General Services Administration, National Aeronautics and Space
Administration, Nuclear Regulatory Commission, and Social Security Administra-
tion). The Accountability Report would consolidate the FMFIA report, the audited
financial statement, and GPRA information, as available, into a single document to

provide the Congress and the President with information in one place on how well

an agency is managed and how well it is performing its mission.
FMFIA requires that an agency report in December of each year on the status

of its internal controls, and identify any material weaknesses and the schedule for

correcting these weaknesses. The CFOs Act requires that the audited financial

statement include a report by the auditor on agency compliance with law and regu-

lation, and an auditor's report on internal controls. The CFOs Act also requires that

agency financial statements include program performance information. An agency
Accountability Report would consolidate these very similar requirements into a sin-

gle Accountability Report.
The CFO Council also proposed that agencies include performance information in

their Accountability Report in advance of GPRA deadlines, and that certain other
financial reporting, such as that required by the Prompt Payment Act, be included
in the Accountability Report.
There is already good reason to believe that an Accountability Report is possible.

The Social Security Administration, in its fiscal year 1994 Financial Statement,
opens with an agency overview, and then states the SSA Mission, followed by ten

pages of Key Goals and Performance Measures. The financial statements themselves
follow, with supplemental information, and the auditor's report completes the pack-
age. With some modification, this SSA Financial Statement can become the agency's

Accountability Report, including FMFIA assurances and identification of material

weaknesses. Since SSA plans to produce this consolidated report in December 1995
covering its fiscal year 1995 activities, it will meet all the submission dates for the

associated statutes, thus meeting all mandated deadlines. Of the other agencies in

the Accountability pilot, only GSA expects to report by December.
The remaining four agencies that have volunteered to pilot test an Accountability

Report for fiscal year 1995, will not be able to meet the earliest statutory deadline
(December). Therefore, we need the Congress' acknowledgment that the Accountabil-

ity Report pilot is a worthwhile demonstration project.

The concept of an Accountability Report is, we believe, consistent with Senator
Roth and Senator Glenn's December 8, 1994 letter to Comptroller General Bowsher
that a "practical management framework" is needed to coordinate the management
reforms that have been enacted over the past 15 years.

Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1995

Finally, I would like to discuss two important items on our legislative agenda. The
first, the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1995 (H.R. 2234 and S. 1234) has
strong bipartisan support. The CFO Act charges agency Chief Financial Officers

with implementing agency asset management systems for credit management and
debt collection (Section 902). The CFO Council has been extremely active in the de-

velopment of the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1995 (H.R. 2234 and S. 1234).

This bill presents an opportunity for the Congress and the Administration to create

a new Government-wide debt management program. As we reported in the "F'ederal

Financial Management Status Report and Five-Year Plan," the current trends in de-
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linquencies indicate that we need to improve debt collection through the use of mod-

ern techniques, enhanced systems and well-trained staff. Once the proposed Debt

Collection Act of 1995 is enacted, it gives CFOs and program managers the tools

and the incentives to take a fair and consistent, businesslike approach to debt col-

lection. This bill can save billions ($2 billion over 5 years) by improving the annual

collection of delinquent debt, preventing delinquencies, and lowering the deficit.

This bill has strong bipartisan support, and 0MB and the CFO Council look forward

to working with you on its passage.

Single Audit Act

The other legislative item I would like to mention is the Single Audit Act (SAA)

of 1984. One of the primary objectives of the SAA was to improve financial manage-

ment of State and local governments that administer Federal awards. Studies show

that the single audit process is working well to achieve its intended objective. How-

ever, our experience and these same studies indicate that improvements are needed

to make this process more effective and cost-beneficial. Future amendments to the

Act should provide legislative and regulatory relief to recipients of Federal awards

(i.e., cut some of the red tape attached to Federal awards) while maintaining an ap-

propriate level of accountability over these awards.

0MB is working closely with many organizations directly affected by single audits

including GAO, Federal funding agencies (program managers and IGs), State gov-

ernments (program managers and State auditors), other Federal award recipients,

and public accounting professionals to develop proposals to improve the single audit

process.

One of the most significant recommendations for improvement to the Act is the

proposal to increase the threshold amount which triggers a single audit requirement

from $25,000 to $300,000 in Federal awards per year. It is estimated that with the

current threshold of $25,000, over 99 percent of Federal awards to governments are

covered under single audits. If the threshold were raised to $300,000, it is estimated

that over 95 percent of Federal awards would continue to be covered, yet thousands

of recipients would no longer have a single audit requirement because they receive

less than $300,000 in Federal awards. There is widespread support among organiza-

tions affected by single audits for increasing the threshold. 0MB believes this in-

crease would provide substantial relief to recipients without increasing the Federal

Government's risk.

Another issue under consideration would involve a risk-based approach to deter-

mining major programs—that is, those programs that get most audit attention or

focus during a single audit. Currently, major programs are determined using a for-

mula which results in the largest programs administered by a recipient being au-

dited as major programs year after year, regardless of whether problems were iden-

tified. Under a risk-based approach, 0MB would prescribe criteria for risk, in addi-

tion to the monetary value of the program, which should be considered when deter-

mining which programs to audit as major. The advantage of a risk-based approach

is that it would be designed to better align audit resources with audit risk.

Several other issues under consideration involve providing greater flexibility in

implementing the Act. Experience has shown that some flexibility is needed to im-

prove the single audit process in the future as conditions, risks, and the grant ad-

ministration function evolve. This is particularly evident with respect to the audit

threshold of $25,000 described above, which was established in the Act. As a result,

changing the current threshold requires a statutory amendment. Flexibility would
be increased by having the Act call for a biennial assessment of the adequacy of the

threshold and authorize 0MB to increase the threshold further in future years, as

considered necessary. Such a provision would add greater flexibility to the Act and
would permit more timely increases in the threshold, as warranted.

It has also been suggested that the Single Audit Act could have a significant im-

pact on the ability of certain Federal agencies (particularly those agencies in which
a large portion of their activities and services are delivered through Federal awards)
to comply with the requirements of the Government Management Reform Act of

1994 and the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993. Increased flexibility

provided in SAA could allow for using the single audit mechanism in the fixture to

provide information about how well Federal programs are meeting their intended
missions, goals, and objectives and may provide information to be included in agen-
cy-wide and government-wide financial statements.

This concludes my remarks. I will be happy to respond to any questions.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF WILLIAM R. PHILLIPS

Thank you Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, for the opportunity to

represent Coopers & Lybrand in today's hearing. I am WilUam Philhps, a partner
of Coopers & Lybrand Consulting, in our Government Consulting Practice, a group
of over 500 management, finance, and information technology consultants
headquartered in the metropolitan Washington, D.C. area. Many of our clients are
federal agencies. Our work includes assisting them to implement the requirements
of the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 (CFO Act) and other associated legisla-

tion such as the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 (GPRA) and the
Government Management and Reform Act of 1994 (GMRA), the subjects for today's
hearings.
My testimony presents the results of a survey of federal agencies about progress

and issues with the CFO Act and related legislation. The results show strong sup-
port for and progress in implementing the Act. The Committee and Congress should
be proud of helping to make this legislation a force for fiscal and program effective-

ness. However, the survey reveals some issues that Congress must address in order
to ensure continued progress.

Background

During the summer of 1995, the Association of Government Accountants and Coo-
pers & Lybrand L.L.P. surveyed nearly 100 Federal agencies to assess the status
of their implementation of the Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act of 1990 and other
companion legislation. Surveys were sent to senior financial managers, inspectors
general (IG) and selected program managers at each of the agencies charged with
implementing the Act.
The results of this survey illuminate key concerns agency personnel share as they

work to implement the Act in their agencies. The survey employs some common
questions for financial managers, inspectors general and program managers, and
these common questions reveal how the groups concur on some issues and differ on
others. Combined, the results of the survey confirm the value of the CFO Act and
provide insights into the challenges facing the Federal financial community as the
March 1, 1997, implementation deadline approaches.
This was a mailed survey. The chart below displays the response rates for each

part of the survey.
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valuable than the actual statements themselves. By this, they mean the process of

working toward a full understanding of what government costs are, and what drives

those costs.

Progress toward Implementing the CFO Act and the GPRA. To gauge each agen-

cy's progress toward implementation, we reviewed the responses from the most sen-

ior financial manager at each of the 71 participating agencies and the responses

from the 26 Offices of the Inspector General. Regarding progress toward some of the

reporting requirements of this legislation, the majority of financial managers (70-

80%) reported that they currently prepare most of the reports and documents re-

quired by the CFO Act and GPRA. Although much work remains in the area of per-

formance measures, most agencies (86%) reported at least partial progress. Progress

was reported on integrating financial statement information into the budget process

by nearly half of the respondents; however, about one third (34%) did not feel that

they were making progress toward that end.

(Numbers in Percent)
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protected from excessive downsizing cuts. Clearly, investing a few million now to

fully implement the CFO Act can yield billions of dollars in savings and cost avoid-

ance in the future.

Congress should capitalize on the progress to date with implementing CFO Act
requirements by encouraging agencies to share best practices and innovative ap-

proaches to tough issues. Also, agencies that have made significant improvements
should be recognized for their achievements. Supporting the CFO Act is smart busi-

ness and we applaud this Committee's efforts toward that end. Mr. Chairman and
members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to appear before you
today.

Mr. Phillips can be reached at Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P., 1751 Pinnacle Drive,

McLean, VA 22102-3811, phone 703-918-3630, fax 703-918-3764. Coopers &
Lybrand will be pleased to provide more information on the survey; please contact

Mr. Andrew West at the address or fax above, or by calling him at 703-918-3614.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF KURT R. SJOBERG

Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee. I am Kurt Sjoberg,

the State Auditor of California.

It is a pleasure to speak to you this morning on federal financial management,
especially as it relates to the Single Audit Act of 1984, and the proposed legislation

to amend it. I am currently chairman of the National State Auditors Association's

Single Audit Committee, and in my capacity as California's State Auditor, my office

is responsible for performing the largest Single Audit in the nation. As such, I will

wear two hats today and share the views of State Auditors in general, and my own
as the independent auditor of a large State.

First, let me say that the Single Audit Act is an important cornerstone in the

state/federal partnership over the financial accountability and oversight of federal

grant and program funds. My state audit colleagues and I believe that the act has
been a success and has fully met the objectives it was intended to achieve. We also

believe, however, that after 10 years there are improvements to the act that are

needed to address changes in the auditing profession and in federal. State and local

government financial management. We would also like to commend the Committee's
staff, the Office of Management and Budget and the General Accounting Office for

their willingness to obtain the views the National State Auditors Association, its

members and other professional groups on how the act should be amended. This
open and constructive dialog goes a long way towards ensuring positive federal/state

relations.

Federal IState Audits Prior to the Single Audit Act of 1984

Prior to the implementation of the Single Audit Act and OMB's Circular A-102,
Attachment P, audits by the State and federal government were uncoordinated and
often ill-timed. It was not uncommon for a subrecipient agency to have several fed-

eral and State auditors reviewing their activities at the same time. Not only was
this burdensome, but often the auditors would examine the same records to test

compliance with regulations or appropriateness of expenditures. Further, since each
auditor had their own "unique" interests (e.g., a federal grant or a State contract)

and due to limits on accessing the workpapers of another auditor, we did not rely

on the work of others. Federal and State audit resources and dollars were certainly
not being maximized. Due to this situation, federal. State and local government
auditors and program officials joined forces in sponsoring and supporting the Single
Audit Act of 1984 to alleviate this unneeded duplication and maximize the use of
limited audit resources—whether at the federal. State or local levels.

Initial Implementation of the Act was Difficult

The Single Audit Act was premised on the concept that the recipient government
would obtain a financial and compliance audit from a CPA or independent govern-
ment auditor and the federal government would rely on this work. If the federal pro-
gram agency or inspector general believed more in-depth auditing was needed on
one of their programs, they would "build upon" the Single Audit, and thus, not du-
plicate audit work already performed.
While this idea was embraced by the federal community as the bill was being de-

liberated, after it passed, there were disagreements that caused some implementa-
tion problems. These disagreements centered around the federal Inspector Generals
expecting that State auditors would do more audit work for them, and that they,
in some way, could direct or mandate the work to be done. As one of the first States
to embark on a statewide Single Audit, California was at the forefront of the nego-
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tiations that ensued with the Inspector Generals and 0MB. Ultimately, because the
act was well drafted, the state-federal audit partnership was resolved to the satis-

faction of all State auditors.

After Ten Years There is a Need for Change

The Single Audit Act of 1984 has served us well, but over the past decade changes
in the auditing profession, and in State and federal financial management, dictate
that the act be amended. While there are several good reasons to amend the act,

the following two are particularly noteworthy:

• Current thresholds are too low: Under the proposed amendments to the Act,
many smaller local governments will be relieved of unreasonable audit man-
dates. The proposed minimum threshold to perform a single audit would be
increased from $100,000 to $300,000 in federal receipts. This will generate
savings to these local governments in reduced audit costs. Similarly, raising
the maximum for large entities like California from the current $20 million
to $30 million will reduce audit costs in larger States while only minimally
reducing audit coverage of federal program expenditures.

• Allow a risk-based audit approach: Allowing the federal government and
State and local auditors the discretion to focus audit resources where the po-
tential for return is greatest makes good economic sense. Rather than being
mandated to audit a particular grant year after year even when the potential

for loss is low, using a risk-based approach allows the auditor to concentrate
on programs that have been identified as "high-risk." This will certainly gen-
erate more corrective action and recoveries with the same audit investment.

Draft Legislation Addresses Most of the State Auditors' Concerns

As I mentioned at the outset, my colleagues and I have had several opportunities
to provide input on the proposed legislation and find that almost all of our concerns
have been addressed. We also believe that the draft legislation does not overly bur-
den State auditors nor does it confer unreasonable powers with the 0MB or other
federal agencies. The National State Auditors Association has not had an oppor-
tunity to meet as a full group since the most recent draft legislation was presented
to us. However, based on conversations I have had with a number of my colleagues,

I am confident that NSAA will fully support the proposed legislation with only a
few suggestions to improve or clarify the bill. These improvements relate to the defi-

nition of internal controls, clarification on the application of the 50 percent rule, and
making copies of workpapers for the federal government. I have shared these issues
with 0MB and GAO staff, and the State auditors stand ready to assist in any way
we can help to finalize the bill and facilitate its passage.
Thank you, that concludes my statement. I will be happy to answer any questions

the Committee may have.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF TED SHERIDAN

Good morning. My name is Ted Sheridan. I am President of Sheridan Manage-
ment Corp. and Chairman of the Financial Executive Institute's Committee on Gov-
ernment Liaison. Financial Executives Institute (FED is a professional association
of 14,000 chief financial officers, treasurers and controllers from some 8,000 compa-
nies throughout the United States and Canada. The Committee on Government Li-

aison (CGL) formulates positions on economic and regulatory issues of concern to

American business and offers private sector perspective and advice as a resource to

those concerned with improvement of financial management of the U.S. Govern-
ment.

It is a great privilege to present the views of CGL before the Committee on Gov-
ernmental Affairs of the U.S. Senate shortly after the fifth anniversary of the sign-
ing of the Chief Financial Offers Act of 1990 (CFO Act or the Act). My association
with the Act began well over a decade ago when, as CFO of a major industrial cor-

poration, AMF, I began working with private and public sector organizations on a
Grace Commission recommendation to create a Chief Financial Officer of the United
States. This included testimony before the (then) House Government Operations
Committee and twice before this Committee chaired by Senators Roth and Glenn
respectively. At this juncture, it is appropriate to reflect on how far the CFO Act
has advanced federal financial management improvement and what mid-course cor-

rections are indicated to achieve the Act's intended purposes by the millennium in

the year 2000.
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A Scorecard of Progress

Impressive ground has been covered. The tentative pilot undertaking of the 1990
Act was buttressed by the Government Management Reform Act definitively extend-

ing CFO Act coverage to the 24 most important federal entities. This was further

strengthened by the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) which dic-

tates strategic planning, stated objectives and the means by which to measure
progress towards those goals. Thus, we now have the legislative framework to man-
date improved financial management.
The Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) has come a long

way in creating the conceptual structure required to permit application of Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles to the specific and often conflicting conditions sur-

rounding federal financial activity. FASAB has done highly creative thinking to es-

tablish innovative standards for complicated issues such as stewardship accounting
for weapons systems and the ownership of trusts, public lands and monuments.
FASAB has almost completed its work and we now have in place the standards re-

quired to audit federal government financial statements.
Similarly, the Office of Management and Budget (0MB) has taken a leadership

role in the promulgation of guidance for compliance with the provision of a host of

Acts and Regulations. Deputy Director John Koskinen and Comptroller Ed DeSeve
have provided direction to the Chief Financial Officers Council formed under provi-

sion of the Act to address common interests of the CFOs. The composition of that

Council is testimony to the quality of financial managers now holding these impor-

tant posts. I am also pleased to mention the work of the U.S. Postal Service CFO,
Mike Riley, a member of my FEI committee, who was recently cited in the pres-

tigious CFO Magazine for his innovative Economic Value Added work there.

It is worth pointing out that many of these CFO's, and the Inspectors General
and program managers of their organizations were interviewed for a survey recently

released by the Association of Government Accountants and Coopers & Lybrand. A
partner of Coopers & Lybrand, Mr. Bill Phillips, is here today on this panel. The
survey shows overwhelmingly that these individuals support the Act and attest to

its value in the improvement of management in the organizations. I think that the
results of the survey represent a high tribute to the wisdom and foresight of this

Committee and all who have supported the CFO Act.

The General Accounting Office (GAO) has exerted an extraordinary effort in fact-

finding and analysis of systems and procedures needed to support compliance with
the CFO Act and companion legislation. They have also provided advice and counsel
to concerned departments and have reported on progress towards financial manage-
ment improvement to the Congress. In particular, I would like to commend this

Committee (and the House Committee on Government Reform and Oversight) for

the leadership shown in maintaining momentum in pursuit of the goals of the Act.

Thus, with the outstanding work of these organizations, a firm foundation has
been established to support the financial management improvements envisioned by
the 1990 Act. Beyond that, we sense the resolve of department and agency leader-

ships for major advances. With this has come a heightened concern by the Congress
and a spirit of cooperation by those charged with measuring the progress of the ef-

fort.

A Milestone Hearing

A particularly noteworthy event in this regard was a hearing this spring of the
Subcommittee on Readiness of the Senate Committee on Armed Services where
Comptroller General Chuck Bowsher commented favorably on Defense Secretary
Perry's blueprint for achieving substantive improvement in financial management.
He also suggested a four point program for the Department of Defense (DOD) to

achieve the Secretary's objective. FEI shares his view on what must be done to go
forward and that what remains to be accomplished is daunting. Nevertheless, we
should not lose sight of the fact that much has been done to identify problems and
to prepare the groundwork for moving forward to master these formidable obstacles.
At that same hearing, the CFO of DOD, Undersecretary John Hamre, provided

a frank assessment of the myriad, unharmonized financial systems currently in

place and the difficulties involved in providing appropriate financial management
support. He also set forth steps already taken to shrink and streamline DOD's De-
fense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) and the reduction in size and com-
plexity of DOD's once massive set of rules and regulations. Less tangible, but equal-
ly important as these measures was the evident sincerity of DOD's CFO in pursuit
of financial management improvement and the shared support of the component
service organizations. Also highly significant was the fact that this important mili-

tary oversight committee expressed its concern for consistent progress towards im-
proved financial management and offered its unqualified assistance. FEI believes
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this was a milestone Clearing that witnessed a cooperative commitment to meet an
unprecedented challenge in financial management.

FBI's Experience

FEI can attest to the involvement of the federal CFO community in efforts to ad-

vance financial management goals through its periodic meetings with individual

CFO's as well as directly supporting the objectives of the CFO Council. In addition,

FEI was approached by Air Force Assistant Secretary for Financial Management,
Bob Hale, for assistance in complying with requirements arising from audits of their

financial statements. This has led to active participation with his staff to study re-

porting for contingent liabilities and the development of guidelines for operations ef-

ficiency measurement. This work enabled us to reconfigure a program already in use

by Air Combat Command to measure the potential financial obligations from envi-

ronmental conditions at U.S. Air Force bases. As a consequence, the Air Force will

adapt this study to comply with an important contingent liability issue confronting

the service. In FEI's view, this approach could be used as a model for the other serv-

ices and any other entity with similar problems. This work has given FEI a good
look at the level of effort undertaken by the Air Force and the strides they have
made. We are highly impressed at the support for the undertaking from the highest

levels and the dedication of the financial management teams.
These observations about the ongoing financial management programs across the

government hopefully reflect the appreciation FEI has for the progress made as a

result of the enactment of the CFO Act. Nevertheless, at this juncture, it is impor-
tant to have a clear view of what the desired condition should be in the year 2000
and what it will take to get there. Much has been written and said about the prob-

lems that continue to exist and how difficult the road to financial management im-
provement will be. As there are those much more qualified to comment on these

matters, FEI will not presume to add to the list despite the concern we share. We
feel it more appropriate to offer some perspective from private sector experience and
a few concrete proposals for consideration. These will relate to the second and third

Purposes set forth in the Act, the first being organizational and largely accom-
plished. These latter two relate to the systems and procedures required for the "pro-

duction of complete, reliable, timely and consistent financial information for use by
the executive branch of the Government and the Congress in the financing, manage-
ment, and evaluation of federal programs"—"and to deter fraud, waste and abuse
of Grovernment resources."

Annual Reports

First, let us examine our recommendations on improvement in the usage of re-

ports required by the Act. We believe Annual Reports with audited financial state-

ments should be prepared that include a clear statement of the mission and objec-

tives of the organization, the plan to achieve them and the financial resources re-

quired to support the undertaking. The Annual Report would, in effect, be the com-
bined end product of both the CFO Act and GPRA. We believe that Annual Reports,

as in the case of private sector corporations, should be the most important first im-

pression given to the outside community and a lasting record of progress towards
efficient, cost effective performance of stated mission objectives. These reports and
accompanying audit findings and comments should be provided to concerned over-

sight and appropriations committees of the Congress as well as the House Commit-
tee on Government Reform and Oversight and this Committee of the Senate. This
would provide these committees with critical insight as to the stewardship of the

organizations under their purview. Hopefully, the Committees would, in the course
of hearings and deliberations, examine critically the history of financial manage-
ment before proceeding with the authorization and appropriation process during the

budgetary cycle. This would forge the critical linkage among strategic planning,
budgeting and financial reporting of actual results. This would also provide a func-

tion widely adopted in the private sector of financial and audit reports reviewed by
corporate Boards of Directors on behalf of stockholders. In the case of the proposed
review by Congress, it would be representing America's taxpayers.

Further, we would recommend that, until an entity has received an unqualified

opinion on its financial statements, it accompany its Annual Report with 5 year
Strategic and current year Tactical Financial Management Plans, indicating specifi-

cally the steps being undertaken to achieve a clean report. Beyond that, we would
urge that a firm time limit of no more than 5 years be established for the achieve-

ment of an unqualified opinion. Lastly, we feel that sufficient resources in terms of

qualified personnel and the funding of systems and procedures improvements must
be provided to accelerate the pace of progress. In a slight twist of the old saying,

"It takes money to save money." With a mere 5 percent reduction through savings
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and efficiency in federal outlays and assets employed, much of the agonizing policy

decisions involved in balancing the budget could be eliminated because the govern-
ment would be operated at a surplus with the current level of activity and invest-

ment or, alternatively, the federal debt could be reduced.

Steps to Achieve Clean Audits

First, break down massive, complex organizations into smaller, discrete, func-

tional entities that individually work to achieve unqualified audits. This is per-

mitted and encouraged by the FASAB guidance on Entities. This would allow de-

partments and agencies to plan a program that shows progress, entity by entity, to-

wards the ultimate goal of a consolidated statement receiving a clean opinion. This
process has already begun in organizations such as the Department of Housing and
Urban Development. To hold off examination of a major department such as DOD
until auditability of all components has been achieved means that a decade or more
will pass before even an attempt can be made for audited statements of the entire

U.S. Government—an unacceptable state of affairs. By auditing functional entities

on a prescribed, prioritized schedule, it will be possible to record systematic progress
towards the goal of audited consolidated statements.

In the institution of a progressive program, two elements are important in deter-

mining priorities, timetables and allocation of resources. These are the significance

of the entity to the basic mission of the organization and the current level of compli-
ance with auditing standards. Thus, a functional organization on the leading edge
of essential service delivery that possessed satisfactory financial management at-

tributes would be designated an early candidate to pursue an unqualified opinion.

Those entities, mission critical but lacking required financial systems and proce-

dures, would receive focused attention and adequate resources to bring them into

compliance at an early date.

Many entities supporting mission important functions such as procurement agen-
cies and financial asset pools are currently unauditable—principally because the
original cost of assets was never established or the value of contingent or intangible
liabilities is difficult to ascertain. If entity systems and procedures are adequate to

track future asset and liability values, then it is suggested that a Board of Valu-
ation be appointed to establish entry point values using prescribed guidelines and
their collective best judgement. Assets remote from the delivery of essential services
and of questionable or unknown value could be segregated into fully reserved, off

balance sheet accounts so as not to contaminate the financial statements of main
line activities until valuation can be determined. Clearly, the Congress and the gen-
eral public would like to know that an Air Combat Command fighter wing has its

financial house in order rather than endure debate over the value of ancient ammu-
nition stored in a desert depot.
A root cause of difficulty in providing clean audits is the lack of standard, double

entry, transition-driven general ledgers, the heart of an accounting system. This is

exacerbated by the lack of data entry integrity and the multiplicity of non-inte-
grated feeder systems, not specifically designed for financial reporting purposes.
Many of these have severe design deficiencies and antiquated technology. This leads
to lack of accountability, lost audit trails and summary level reports containing inac-
curate and meaningless data.
The problem could be materially alleviated by leading edge technology that inte-

grates image and electronic based data entry using Distributed Process Architecture.
These would link with Multi-dimensional, Relational Databases through advanced
telecommunications techniques. While this sounds complicated, in fact such systems
are in place for financial and management control in the private sector and the core
capability is resident in several operational military systems.
Such an approach can bring together disparate components enabling them to

"talk" to each other. It also provides for "Electronic Commerce" and accurate image
entry through scanning devices which eliminate human error. While the databases
are open for access to those with appropriate requirements, they still provide suffi-

cient connectivity to ensure secure audit trails. They also offer feedback loops to
local operational levels to assure accountability and useful management informa-
tion. Such a system also provides the foundation for the use of Commercial Off the
Shelf (COTS) application programs used in private sector businesses. These would
speed the introduction of necessary systems at a fraction of the cost of custom de-
signed programs.
At this point, we feel the need for a word of cautionary advice relating to systems.

They simply are not a panacea that will cure all ills. Waiting for a massive systems
rework in the hopes that it will magically produce clean audits is counter-produc-
tive, expensive, wishful thinking. Lamentably, there appear to be instances of large,
highly expensive centralized systems that may not serve customer needs and even-
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tually may be abandoned. It is far better to pay attention to the fundamentals of

good financial management and to correct deficiencies at the base level than to build

monolithic, electronic monuments that serve only to speed the compilation of mean-
ingless data.

Having said that, I will return to the theme that a building block approach of

proving out and certifying functional and feeder systems linked by modern tech-

nology is a workable approach. That, coupled with sequential audits of discrete enti-

ties, could provide the basis for achieving an unqualified audit for the consolidated

federal government by the turn of the century.

Utility of CFO Reports

Having a clean audit is only the first step. It does not guarantee good financial

performance. It only means that systems and procedures are adequate to present
statements that reasonably describe the financial condition of the entity. To achieve

true value, the reports must be meaningful and provide useful information to assist

all levels of management in decision making and improvement of business practices.

While the CFO Survey mentioned earlier praised the utility of the improvement
process to produce auditable statements, there was some ambiguity about the use-

fulness of the reports themselves at the operational level. FEI suggests that a

means to enhance utility could be achieved through linking the output of the CFO
Act with that of the Government Performance and Results Act. GPRA is operation

and mission oriented, the key elements of which can be precisely defined through
Metrics techniques. The CFO Act through its measurement requirements can pro-

vide the assets and costs required to deliver the GPRA desired outcomes through
Activity Based Costing. Using the dollars required to provide a matrix of desired

services as a yardstick, the budgeted financial requirements set in CFO format
would indicate the resources required.

It should be noted here that we strongly believe that this effort should include

a capital budgeting element distinct from other periodic expense items to give it

proper visibility and accountability. Testimony to this effect was presented on
March 3, 1995 before the House Subcommittee on Management, Information and
Technology of the Committee on Government Reform and Oversight. We would ask
that it be included in this testimony by reference. We also believe that the entire

federal budgetary process is a good candidate for Reengineering. Understanding its

evolution as part of the political process, the facts are that key budgetary provisions

and the sheer size and complexity of the undertaking are root causes of downstream
financial management problems.
By describing and measuring performance elements through Metrics and Activity

Based Accounting, the groundwork is laid for the employment of a host of advanced
management techniques. This would include Benchmarking and Best Practices

wherein operations are compared across like activities in other organizations. FEI
would urge not only comparison with other government entities, but with the pri-

vate sector as well, where valuable experience has accumulated in the wake of re-

structuring and downsizing in recent years. These tools can be used to determine
the true Value Added by a service from the perspectives of the customer. Similarly,

it is then possible to define and measure those elements of activity known as Value
or Cost Drivers that are most influential in determining operational efficiency and
associated costs.

Having identified and examined those elements it would be possible to engage in

systematic Business Process Engineering to determine the most efficient and cost ef-

fective means to deliver the required service. A long look should be taken at the

way the private sector delivers similar services. How does FedEx run its complex
multi-modal collection and distribution system? How does Morgan Stanley manage
funds? How does Travelers process insurance claims? How does American Airlines

maintain their aircraft? These are services almost identical to those provided by the

federal government. Gaining this type of perspective and the relative cost would be

a good start to the Change Management Process for internal improvement or as the

rational justification for outsourcing. In particular, we urge that this be undertaken
in business-like activities such as DOD's Defense Business Operating Funds
(DBOF), financial asset management and the delivery of financial services.

Through this systematic approach, the CFO financial reports become an integral

part of a management improvement effort and act as the scorecard on achieving op-

erating objectives in the most efficient and cost effective manner. In this way, the

CFO reports emerge as more than a static picture of financial position, but are
transformed into a dynamic focusing agent bringing together strategic planning,

budgeting, operations management and accountability. This will yield enhanced
Congressional oversight, more effective authorization and appropriation in the budg-
et cycle and more visibility on the workings of government for constituent taxpayers.



83

Continuing Guidance

To sustain the progress in financial management improvement, we at FEI would
encourage the continuing support and guidance of the various organizations and
committees that are responsible for the oversight and direction of financially ori-

ented functions of the federal government including this Committee at the forefront.

While the department and agency CFOs are on the firing line, much can be done
to assist them in their ongoing effort.

Without detracting from the outstanding effort to provide direction, we would en-

courage expansion of interpretation of the accounting and audit standards that are

the underpinnings of financial management. Some of the conceptual issues raised

by FASAB require increased guidance for the benefit of the practitioners in the de-

partments and agencies. As we found in struggling to help the Air Force with their

contingent liabilities problem, there is a paucity of detailed direction available. We
are also aware that standards and guidelines for Valuation and Materiality issues

are also in order. We would encourage the CFO Council to poll its constituents as

to areas where additional guidance is indicated. FEI would be pleased to assist in

applying private sector perspective to this effort to the degree possible.

We would also encourage the CFO Council to continue its effort to propose
streamlining and integrating the myriad laws and regulations that pertain to finan-

cial management. Our impression from CFO's and other senior financial managers
is that an overhaul and consolidation is very much in order. It must be emphasized
that we are not calling for a rollback on providing direction, but are suggesting a

long look at the overall picture from the perspective of the cost and workload impact
on practitioners in the field. We would also advise that the end users of the informa-
tion requested by the regulations be identified and their endorsement of the neces-

sity to continuing provision of such information be obtained. We, in the private sec-

tor, are all too familiar with stories of the perpetuation of forms and reports that

are no longer relevant and where those who originally requested them are long

gone. We hope that this Committee would support such an effort.

An observation is perhaps now in order on the direction of the massive audit proc-

ess leading to consolidated financial statement for the entire federal governments.
In the past, the work of federal auditors was in large measure oriented to operations
audits as distinct from financial audits. Thus, we are confronted not only with an
audit process of unprecedented size and complexity, but one conducted by auditors

who, in some instances, are confronting new challenges. No insult is intended here.

We of the private sector have been through first audits before and know just how
difficult it can be both for CFOs and auditors. We are only suggesting that the task
is large and complicated and that some additional assistance is in order. We would
recommend to this Committee that consideration be given to augmenting the inter-

nal audit effort with that of independent accountants from the private sector with
experience in these critical areas at least during the early "ramp-up" portion of the
process. We suggest a teaming effort where government auditors work side by side

with private sector counterparts to speed the transfer of technology and experience.
We recognize that this is a difficult time to propose additional funding, but strongly
believe that the future savings will more than justify the investment.
Our final recommendation would be for each department and agency to reach out

to the private sector for advice and counsel. Many of us in the commercial world
have experienced downsizing, reengineering, reorganizing and the introduction of

new financial management technology. The size, scope, complexity and pace of

change which have accompanied the CFO Act and the major realignment of funding
priorities have created demands for intellectual, procedural and systems resources
that have not been resident inside the Beltway simply because there was no prior
need.
Now, both practitioners and overseers are struggling with an unprecedented task

on an extraordinary time table. We would propose that the private sector assist in

this endeavor through establishment of a Financial Management Advisory Board
(FMAB) for each of the 24 CFO Act departments and agencies. This would be an
independent outside board of senior, private sector financial officers to provide coun-
sel, oversight and perspective to financial management reform efforts. It would offer

the department or agency Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers a fresh, un-
biased perspective and the benefit of their extensive experience.

Their first task would be to review the 5 year Strategic and annual Tactical Fi-

nancial Management Plans we propose as well as Financial Reports and Audits. The
initial objective would be to assist in creation of a specific program to achieve an
unqualified audit opinion within the prescribed timeframe along with all of the sup-
porting systems and procedures. Additionally, it would offer counsel on the prepara-
tion of reports and presentations as well as general relations with key stakeholders.
The FMAB would also serve as an Audit Committee to review reports and manage-
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ment responses. Where appropriate, they would offer advice on industry best prac-
tices. The FMAB would serve as a sounding board for top executives on all matters
of financial management. FEI would be pleased to assist departments and agencies
to create and coordinate such Financial Management Advisory Boards which could
be recruited from FEI's membership as well as other private sector organizations
We are prepared to move ahead on this initiative immediately and hope this Com-
mittee would encourage departments and agencies to avail themselves of this re-
source.

Conclusion

Looking back on the 5 years since the signing of the CFO Act, there is evidence
of great progress. Laws, regulations and guidance for compliance are in place along
with skilled individuals to implement them. There is full recognition of the mag-
nitude of the problem, but also high resolve to master the situation. With all this
we have a strong foundation and building momentum, yet to achieve the objectives
of the Act by the year 2000 will require more than steady, evolutionary progress.
What IS needed is a quantum leap over traditional approaches and technology to

accomplish major break-throughs in the management of our government. While urg-
ing caution against overreliance on expensive, monolithic megasystems as a singular
solution, we feel confident that existing capability in modular, scalable, distributed
processing and data base management supported by strict attention to fundamental
tenets of good financial management can yield prompt, secure progress toward
achieving the objectives of the Act.

Finally, we would urge those tasked with managing our government to reach out
to the private sector which has learned many painful lessons over the last decade
and which is prepared to share its experiences. In particular, we at FEI are ready
to provide perspective and advice from the ranks of our top financial professionals
and look forward to being of service to our government.

I would be pleased to address any questions you might have at this time.
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